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Registered Office and Principal Place of Business
in the PRC

No. 18 Andre Avenue
Muping Economic Development Zone
Yantai City, Shandong Province, the PRC

Investors Relationship & Principal Place of

Business in Hong Kong

Unit 2805, 28/F

The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

Telephone : (852) 2511-6988
Facsimile : (852) 2587-9166

Email address : andrehk@biznetvigator.com

Company Homepage/Website

www.andre.com.cn

Stock Code
2218

(The H shares of the Company were transferred and listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2218) on
19 January 2011 and were de-listed from the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8259) on the same

date)

4 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. R&tFZERRTROERAT

o e il
FEMREER EEERME
FRILRERE™
P EFEREEE

ZRMAH 185

REEMEREFEE R

BAERAKEFR 9%

IR0 28122805 F

TEaE 1 (852) 2511-6988

{EH : (852) 2587-9166

EFHAE : andrehk@biznetvigator.com

NCECEZE

www.andre.com.cn

BRI SR
2218

(ARABHBE=-Z——F— A+ NLAEHE
REBIAERES (RO 2218) 1
A S FTRIZEARRR A2 (B U5 - 8259))



Results 348

Turnover
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Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of
the Company
Minority interests
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Assets and Liabilities

Total Assets
Total Liabilities
Total equity attributable to
equity shareholders
of the Company
Minority interests

Total Equity Attributable to Equity Shareholders of the Company

Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
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| am pleased to submit to the shareholders the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Group”)
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011.

Annual Results and Review

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately
RMB1,375,705,000 for the year ended 31 December 2011
as compared to approximately RMB1,098,701,000 last vyear,
representing an increase of approximately 25%. The gross
profit margin was approximately 22% for the year ended 31
December 2011. The gross profit margin was approximately 14%
for the last year. The profit attributable to equity shareholders
was approximately RMB207,168,000 for the year under review,
representing an increase of approximately 321% over the previous
year. Basic earnings per share was approximately RMB0.0486.

The increase in the turmnover of the Group was mainly due to the
consumption of past inventory and the global economic recovery
on China’s apple juice concentrate industry. In 2011, the supply of
apple juice concentrate could not meet the demand of the market,
causing significant increase in the selling price of the apple juice
concentrate. The increase in gross profit margin was attributable to
the rise in the selling price.

Under the trend of steady appreciation of Renminbi against US dollar,
the Group has enhanced its cooperation with international renowned
financial institutions and entered into term loan agreements with
certain financial institutions to appropriately adjust the proportion
of Renminbi and US dollar loans. The directors of the Company
(“Directors”) believe that maintaining an appropriate proportion of US
dollar loans can reduce the Group’s exchange rate risk and finance
costs, and can facilitate better business development. In expanding
the domestic market sales, the Group continued to maintain close
and stable business relationships with certain renowned beverage
manufacturers in China and has developed new good customers
with broadened sales channels. Its market share in terms of sales
volume in the domestic market also increased significantly from
the previous year. For research and development, the Group
undertook and completed the research project on “Comprehensive
Technology Development for Apples with Different Maturity Degree
and Tank Farms Sterilized Storage” in the National Spark Program;
continued the “Research and Development for Stable Clear Apple
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Juice Concentrate Processing Technology Using Multi-varieties
and Immature Apples” in the International Cooperation Projects of
Shandong Province and the “Research and Development for Stable
Clear Apple Juice Concentrate Processing Technology Using Mullti-
varieties and Immature Apples” in the Yantai Municipal Science and
Technology Development Plan; filed and undertook the “Research
and Development of Processing Technology and Equipment for
Natural Liquid Apple Aroma Concentrate under Low Temperature”
in the International Cooperation Projects of Yantai City; completed
the industrialization research for stable clear apple juice concentrate
using immature apples and the processing technology research
for the production of liquid apple aroma concentrate under low
temperature; applied for two national invention patents and obtained
one national invention patent authorization; completed two provincial
achievement accreditations for attaining national advanced levels;
formulated and implemented three company standards; won the
Prize of the Outstanding Team for Implementation of National Science
and Technology Program of the “11th Five-Year Plan”; awarded a
Shandong Province Progress in Science and Technology Prize and a
Prize on Patent of Shandong Province.

Analysis of Industry and Our Market Share

In 2011, the total volume of China’s apple juice concentrate
exports was approximately 608,500 tonnes, representing a
decrease of 22.4% as compared to 784,150 tonnes in 2010.
Although the Chinese apple juice concentrate industry has only
begun mass production since the late 90’s of last century, the
industry grew at a tremendous rate and has claimed a world
market share of over 50% within just a decade, owing to the
abundant apple supplies in the PRC. In 2008, the global financial
crisis had led the export-oriented Chinese juice concentrate
industry into recession. From the fourth quarter of 2009, as the
global apple juice consumption gradually recovered, sales market
also started to recover. In 2010, after the gradual recovery of
the global economy, the demand for China’s apple juice further
increased, and the sales market continuously improved and
gradually consumed the excess inventory piled up in previous
years. Since the fourth quarter of 2010, the demand for the apple
juice resumed to the pre-economic crisis normal level. In 2011,
the supply of apple juice concentrate in China could not meet the
demand of the market, causing significant increase in the average
selling price of the apple juice concentrate of the Group.

Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. W& dtHZ@FRTRDERAT

TRASER I TAZE R AR B T B A i 5 59
] RRAAAERE T EERERHRAFEE
[ RAER T BRICBR IR EERM LR
W SER T TRREREE T
RERMEBTMER T ERERRELE
EFRCBAMT - Bm 2 ABEKERERN
BRI EEAEN IR TRERETK
R2ME  FKEZFDEKEE  SIET3
AEEFEWEGER: B[ +— « A E
REZETEIMITESEEE  BLURER
POEF A ARIIREENEAIR -

IRMELXRNTHHES H

“E—FFE hEREERTEOE
/608,500 HB-_T—TFFEHAS
784,150 ME fH tE T P& 7 22.4% - o BR 48
BERITTERRBEERBN LT
FRES EHERTEEELZENHERE
B BERAETHEAN  E+FLARRE
BTHFBREHERTTSBIRBE50%M M
B T N\FHFE  RIREBEEKEH
AR AENFBIREERTITERNLE
BETAERNER - A _ZETNFFENZE
Ftg - - RBERTIHBEMISHAEIRE -
EMSthEETE  —_S—TFFE - B
ERREENZHEE  HREFEER
FTRKEBBEFA - HEMISIFETE -
A FERNEFECBRRERE TR - 8=
T-TFENEE - RANFERELIRE
EREFKATNESKE  E-F——F
FETBRERERATNHEESRT WS
MER FEAEEEAFEFHHER
BERAFREHER T REH LA -



Since apple juice itself is nutritious, people’s increasing pursuit
for green and healthy food, is bound to bring more rooms for
development for the apple juice market. Currently, 80% of the
world’s apple juice consumer market is concentrated in the
developed countries with solid demands and steady growth. In these
major consumer countries, we already have relatively fixed market
shares and customer base. Meanwhile, we believe that the dense
population in the developing countries and people’s increasing
attention on dietary nutrition, natural apple juice will undoubtedly be
one of the best options. This gradually maturing consumer market
will surely become a take-off area of future apple juice consumption.
In the long run, healthy and pure juice will become more and more
popular.

Being a leader in the Chinese apple juice concentrate industry and
through our proactive and visionary leadership, we have gradually
expanded the market shares of our products and will seek to
secure our leading position in the industry for more rapid and better
development.

Prospects and Outlook

With the rising demand brought by the global economic recovery
and the gradual consumption of inventories in China’s apple
juice concentrate industry, we expect both the export volume
and export price of apple juice will steadily stabilise at a rational
and normal level. In addition, with the gradual implementation of
specific measures favourable to the agricultural industry under the
PRC government’s macroeconomic policies as well as the gradual
improvement of various relevant PRC laws and regulations, the
Group will enjoy better development and financing opportunities.
Aiming at enlarging its business scale, the Group will strive to
further enlarge its market, enhance productivity, diversify products,
expand sales, disperse markets and to develop financing channels,
etc.
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In terms of juice production capacity, volatility in the industry will
force some of the small and medium domestic enterprises out of
the market. Moderate reshuffling in the industry will favour industry
consolidation and improve industry competition. The Group aims
to further increase its annual juice concentrate production capacity
and to strengthen its leading position in the industry by targeting
small and medium enterprises in the industry, both domestic and
abroad, through merger and acquisitions and to rationally adjust
the Group’s existing production capacities according to changes
in the sources of raw materials. On domestic market sales, as the
domestic consumer market for apple juice concentrate gradually
expands, the Group will continue to maintain good business
relationships with existing customers in the coming year while
actively exploring new customers through our prime product
quality and comprehensive services, with a view to opening
a new page in our domestic market sales. On research and
development of new products, in 2012 the Company will undertake
the research of aseptic filling technology under low temperature
for apple juice concentrate and processing technology for ultra-
high multiple apple puree; to complete the commercialization of
the production technology for liquid apple aroma concentrate
under low temperature and the technology for stable clear
apple juice concentrate using multi-varieties and immature
apples. Also in 2012, the Group acting as the main bidder, will
undertake the research project under the National Science and
Technology Support Program of the “12th Five-Year Plan” on
the “Demonstration on the Research and Industrialization of Key
Technologies on Apple Comprehensive Processing”.

At present, the Group has a sound financial base. The Group
is also well positioned to take advantage of the State’s policy
on development of new villages and agriculture with a view
to developing rural villages, enriching farmers and expanding
domestic demands. The board of Directors (the “Board”) and
| have full confidence in the Group’s future development. Our
employees will continue to support the Group and to contribute to
the Group’s continuous and steady development.
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Dividend

The Board proposes a final dividend of approximately RMB0.005
per share for the financial year 2011 in the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

Appreciation

During the reporting period, although there was a significant
slow down in the pace of the global economic recovery, the
consumption of past inventory in China’s apple juice concentrate
industry and the increasing demand for healthy and pure juice
has boosted up the average selling prices of the products of the
whole industry. The significant increase in selling price has caused
a visible increase in the Group’s turnover. The Directors strongly
believe that the Company will have even more development
opportunities in 2012, given that some small and medium domestic
enterprises have been forced out of the market and the whole
industry is gradually recovering. On behalf of the Board, | would like
1o express my sincere gratitude to all the investors, loyal customers
and suppliers for their appreciation and unfailing support to the
Group.

Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*
Wang An

Chairman

29 March 2012

* For identification purpose only
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Financial Review

Results

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group’s turnover
increased to approximately RMB1,375,705,000 as compared
to approximately RMB1,098,701,000 in 2010, representing a
significant increase of approximately RMB277,004,000 or 25%.
The Group’s turnover was principally derived from the manufacture
and sale of apple juice concentrate, pear juice concentrate,
apple essence, feedstuff and related products. The increase in
the turnover of the Group was mainly due to the consumption of
past inventory and the impact of the global economic recovery on
China’s apple juice concentrate industry. In 2011, the supply of
apple juice concentrate could not meet the market demand, thus
causing significant increase in the selling price of the apple juice
concentrate.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group’s gross profit
was approximately RMB302,001,000 and the gross profit margin
was approximately 22%. For the corresponding period in 2010, the
gross profit was approximately RMB150,493,000 and gross profit
margin was approximately 14%.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group’s net profit
(i.e. the profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company) increased to approximately RMB207,168,000 as
compared to approximately RMB49,215,000 for the corresponding
period in 2010, representing an increase of approximately
RMB157,953,000 or 321%. The increase in net profit was mainly
attributable to the significant increase in selling price caused by the
recovery of the apple juice sales market.

Other Income

For the year ended 31 December 2011, other income of the
Group was approximately RMB9,001,000, as compared to
approximately RMB42,924,000 for the corresponding period last
year, representing a decrease of approximately RMB33,923,000.
The decrease in other income was mainly due to the decrease in
grants from the PRC government.

12 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. #R&AILH REFIRTRHERDF

M35 O R

B
BHE-_ZE——F+-_A=+—BIL#F
E AEEMNRALAZEHDARKE
1,375,705,0007C - HZFE—-—TFHAR
#1,008,701,000 L fH EE + 3B I A) A R ¥
277,004,000 703 25% ° ANEBEMIMA FE
RELERBERBERT  BHEET
BRER EYAHKBEBEER - ANEE
EEEEMFEZEEHNPRRERTITE
MEETF I RERELEEHOTET -
E-T——FFERFEBERANHEESR
TEMHBOFR  BEERTHIHEEER
RIBIRFFTER

BE_Z——F+-A=1t—HILFE "
& B EF 4 A A K ¥ 302,001,000 7T
FERRGB2% c —Z—ZFREANHEF
#45 ANR#150,493,0007T © EF XN A
14% o

BE-_ZE—F+-A=+—HILEFE"
RNEBZFE (AR B REREENEE R
) 4 AR ¥ 207,168,000 7T @ BT —
THERBL A AR 49,215,000 TR L -
EFHHABANREA157,953,000 703 321% °
FAEENEERHRRTHEEBRKARE
FEFTE -

Htl A
BHE-_Z——F+-A=+—HILEE "
REBEAMKALAARE 9,001,000
HAFREL A AR A42,924,0007T
b R H A AR 33,923,000t © HA
W B A 2 B2 R AR B R AT R B AR A
@5( o



Distribution Costs and Administrative Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group incurred
distribution costs of approximately RMB80,647,000, as compared
to approximately RMB76,609,000 in 2010,
increase of approximately RMB4,038,000 or 5%. The Group’'s
distribution costs mainly included transport, export inspection and
marketing expenses. Such increase was mainly attributable to the

representing an

increase in ocean freight expenses caused by the decrease in the
proportion of sales in FOB terms.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group incurred
administrative expenses of approximately RMB58,150,000 as
compared to approximately RMB29,299,000 in 2010, representing
an increase of approximately RMB28,851,000 or 98%. Such
increase was mainly attributable to the rise in the staff salary and
other administrative expenses caused by inflation in the PRC.

Net Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the net finance costs of
the Group were approximately RMB35,826,000, as compared to
approximately RMB38,384,000 for the corresponding period in
2010, representing a decrease of approximately RMB2,558,000 or
7%. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in average loan
balance and bank charges during the year.

Investment Income

For the year ended 31 December 2011, investment income
recognised by the Group was approximately RMB69,070,000. In
2011, the Company disposed its 50% equity interest in Xianyang
Andre Juice Co., Ltd. (“Xianyang Andre”) to AGRANA Juice Holding
GmbH (“AGRANA”") for a total consideration of EUR11,500,000.
The investment income derived from the disposal amounted
to approximately RMB69,302,000, representing the difference
between the consideration received and the carrying amount of the
interests disposed of.
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Share of Profit from Associates

For the year ended 31 December 2011, share of profit from
associates of the Group was approximately RMB10,154,000, as
compared to approximately RMB4,043,000 in 2010, representing
an increase of approximately RMB6,111,000 or 151%. Such
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in profit from
Yantai Andre Pectin Co., Ltd. (“Andre Pectin”) due to the significant
increase in sales volume and turnover of pectin.

Income Tax

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the income tax
expense of the Group was approximately RMB4,830,000. For
the corresponding period in 2010, the income tax expense
was approximately RMB6,665,000. During the year ended 31
December 2011, the production of condensed juice and bio-
feedstuff by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries was
recognized as primary processing of agricultural produce under the
Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC and therefore was exempt
from the PRC income tax.

Business Review

Stabilising Market Coverage

During 2011, by adapting to the market demand and leveraging on
its advanced production technology, superb product quality and
comprehensive customer services, the Group maintained steady
growth in markets sales. With years of continuous efforts, the
Group has already expanded its sales network to major countries
and regions in the world, including the US, Japan, Europe, Oceania
and African countries and PRC market.

Expanding Domestic Sales Market

The Group continued to maintain close and stable business
relationships with certain renowned beverage manufacturers in the
PRC and has developed new good customers with broadened
sales channels. In 2011, domestic sales of apple juice, pear juice
and essence all increased as compared with the previous year; its
market share in terms of sales volume in the domestic market also
increased as compared to that of the previous year.
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Optimisation of Customer Base

While expanding its market places and market share, the Group
also leveraged on the prime quality of its products to optimise its
profile of customer base continuously. Currently, the customer
base of the Group mainly comprises renowned beverage
manufacturers of the world.

Acquisition of 50% Equity Interest in Yongji Andre and
Disposal of 50% Equity Interest in Xianyang Andre

On 26 April 2011, (1) the Company and Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
(“Andre BVI"),
entered into a share transfer agreement (“Yongji Share Transfer
Agreement”) with  AGRANA for the purchase by the Company

a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,

and Andre BVI of an aggregate of 50% equity interest held by
AGRANA in Yongiji Andre Juice Co., Ltd. (“Yongji Andre”) for a
total consideration of EUR6,000,000; and (2) the Company also
entered into a share transfer agreement (“Xianyang Share Transfer
Agreement”) with AGRANA for the sale to AGRANA of the 50%
equity interest held by the Company in Xianyang Andre for the
consideration of EUR11,500,000. As at the date of signing the
above agreements, the equity interest of each of Yongji Andre
and Xianyang Andre was held as to 50% by AGRANA and as to
50% by the Company. Upon completions of the share transfers
in August 2011, Yongji Andre is owned as to 100% by the Group
and the Group has no more interest in Xianyang Andre. The above
transfers were made for improving the management efficiency and
for expansion of the sales markets of each of Yongji Andre and
Xianyang Andre. After fair negotiations, the Company and AGRANA
agreed on the above share transfers.

Sale of 70% Equity Interest in Qingdao Nannan

On 283 November 2011, the Company and Yantai Anlin Fruit
Industry Co., Ltd (& LMEREBRAF]), an independent third
party, entered into a share transfer agreement for the sale by the
Company of 70% equity interest in Qingdao Nannan Beverage
Co., Ltd. (“Qingdao Nannan”), a subsidiary of the Company, for a
total consideration of USD2,200,000. After the share transfer, the
Company has no more equity interest in Qingdao Nannan. Qingdao
Nannan is located in Laixi city in Qingdao and had a production
line with capacity of 10 tonnes/hour. In recent years, as the apple
resources there reduced significantly and the Company has
subsidiary factories in Yantai and Longkou city, which are very close
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to Laixi city, and to avoid internal keen competition in the purchase
of raw materials and to protect the interest of the shareholders of the
Company, the Group has relocated the production line of Qingdao
Nannan to the subsidiary in Yongji. Before the transfer, Qingdao
Nannan mainly has remaining land and property left.

Buyback 75% Equity Interest of 3 Residue Companies

To expand the sales of the fruit residue of the Group and to avoid
material machinery and equipment investment, on 7 December
2011, the Group entered into three separate share transfer
agreements with Andre Pectin: (1) Yantai Longkou Andre Juice
Co., Ltd. (“Longkou Andre Juice”) (as purchaser) entered into
the Longkou Bio-feedstuff Equity Transfer Agreement with Andre
Pectin (as vendor) whereby Andre Pectin agreed to transfer to
Longkou Andre Juice its 75% equity interest in Longkou Andre Bio-
feedstuff Co., Ltd.*(BEOZEFEMEILIERATF) (“Longkou
Andre Bio-feedstuff”) at a total consideration of RMB2,864,016.19;
(2) Baishui Andre Juice Co., Ltd. (“Baishui Andre Juice”) (as
purchaser) entered into the Baishui Bio-feedstuff Equity Transfer
Agreement with Andre Pectin (as vendor) whereby Andre Pectin
agreed to transfer to Baishui Andre Juice, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, its 75% equity interest in Baishui Andre
Bio-feedstuff Co., Ltd.* (HKZEFEYEEIERAF) (‘Baishui
Bio-feedstuff’) at a total consideration of RMB3,425,988.68;
and (8) Xuzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd. (“Xuzhou Andre Juice”)
(as purchaser) entered into the Xuzhou Pomace Equity Transfer
Agreement with Andre Pectin (as vendor) whereby Andre Pectin
agreed to transfer to Xuzhou Andre Juice, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, its 75% equity interest in Xuzhou Andre
Pomace Products Co., Ltd.* (ML EFRERRARAR)
(“Xuzhou Pomace”) at a total consideration of RMB3,018,784.46.
The total consideration payable by the Group to Andre Pectin
was RMB9,308,789.33. As at 31 December 2011, the above
three transactions had been completed and Longkou Andre Bio-
feedstuff, Baishui Bio-feedstuff and Xuzhou Pomace became all
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

* For identification purpose only
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Research and Development

The Group undertook and completed the research project on
“Comprehensive Technology Development for Apples with Different
Maturity and Tank Farms Sterilized Storage” in the National
Spark Program; continued the “Research and Development for
Stable Clear Apple Juice Concentrate Processing Technology
Using Multi-varieties and Immature Apples” in the International
Cooperation Projects of Shandong Province and the “Research
and Development for Stable Clear Apple Juice Concentrate
Processing Technology Using Multi-varieties and Immature Apples”
in the Yantai Municipal Science and Technology Development
Plan; filed and undertook the “Research and Development of
Processing Technology and Equipment of Natural Liquid Apple
Aroma Concentrate under Low Temperature” in the International
Cooperation Projects of Yantai city; completed the industrialization
research for stable clear apple juice concentrate using immature
apples and the processing technology research for the production
of liquid apple aroma concentrate under low temperature;
applied for two national invention patents and obtained one
national invention patent authorization; completed two provincial
achievement accreditations for attaining national advanced
levels; formulated and implemented three company standards;
won the Prize of the Outstanding Team for Implementation of
National Science and Technology Program of the “11th Five-Year
Plan”; awarded a Shandong Province Progress in Science and
Technology Prize and a Prize on Patent of Shandong Province.

Future Prospects

Market Expansion and Product Diversification

Currently the Group has established relatively stable market
penetration and customers groups in major consumer markets of
apple juice concentrate in the world, namely the US, European,
Oceania, African countries and Japan. The Company will put more
efforts in the development of various emerging markets, with a
view to breaking through these markets. On the other hand, the
Company has in recent years explored the market opportunities for
its new products and niche products as well as the development
of new customer groups. This will satisfy both the needs of the
market and our customers, as well as fulfill our target of product
mix expansion.
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Further Exploitation of the Domestic Market

As the domestic consumer market for apple juice concentrate
further expands, the Group will continue to maintain good business
relationships with existing customers in the coming year while
actively exploring new customers through our prime product quality
and comprehensive services, with a view to opening a new page in
our domestic market sales.

Continue the Development of Traceability and Farm
Management Improvement Linkages Project

In the coming year, the Group will more strictly implement the
GLOBALGAP standardisation in the regulation and development of
existing and newly established recognition bases. Improvements
will be made in the areas of production, management, storage and
sales, etc. to generate more revenue from the GLOBALGAP bases,
with a view to building up the modelling status so that surrounding
fruityards will follow the GLOBALGAP standardisation.

Develop Financing Channels

The Group will closely monitor the trend of Renminbi exchange
rate against US dollar and adjust the proportion of Renminbi and
US dollar loans. The Group will continue to actively engage in
cooperation with domestic and international financial institutions to
diversify its financing channels and increase the variety of financing
products, in order to reduce the Group’s exchange rate risk and
finance cost, improve capital structure and facilitate better business
development.

Research and Development
For apple juice concentrate, the Group will strive for the following
research and development:

1. Complete the commercialization of the technology for
production of liquid apple aroma concentrate under low
temperature;

2. Complete the commercialization of the processing
technology for stable clear apple juice concentrate using
multi-varieties and immature apples;

3. Research on the key technologies for aseptic filing under low
temperature for apple juice concentrate;

4. Research on the industrialization of the processing
technology of ultra-high multiple apple puree;
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5. Acting as the main bidder, undertake the research project
under the National Science and Technology Support
Program of the “12th Five-Year Plan” on the “Demonstration
on Research and Industrialization of Key Technologies on
Apple Comprehensive Processing”.

Term Facility Agreement with Certain Financial
Institutions

On 27 May 2009, the Company as a borrower entered into the
Term Facility Agreement with certain financial institutions whereby
the lenders have agreed to make available to the Company a term
facility in an aggregate amount of US$45,000,000 (approximately
HK$349,000,000 upon drawdown) for a term of 36 months
commencing from the date of the Term Facility Agreement, subject
1o early repayment or extension of the final maturity date (to the date
faling 60 months from the date of the Term Facility Agreement) as
requested by the Company in compliance with the provisions of the
Term Facility Agreement.

Under the Term Facility Agreement, each of the following wil
constitute an event of default upon which the facility will, among
others, become immediately due and payable:

(i) Mr. Wang An ceases to have or ceases to be entitled to
exercise, directly or through his controlled corporations,
management control over each of the Company and
the material subsidiaries (as defined in the Term Facility
Agreement) of the Company; or

(i) the aggregate shareholding in the Company that is
beneficially owned by Mr. Wang An, whether directly or
through his controlled corporations, ceases to be larger than
the aggregate shareholding (whether direct or indirect) in the
Company of and/or held to the order of any other person
and/or persons acting in concert with such other person; or

(i)  the Company ceases to have or ceases to be entitled to
exercise management control over each of its material
subsidiaries, or the aggregate shareholding in each of
its material subsidiaries that is beneficially owned by the
Company, whether directly or indirectly, ceases to be larger
than the aggregate shareholding (whether direct or indirect) in
each such material subsidiary of and/ or held to the order of
any other person and/or persons acting in concert with such
other person.
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As at 31 December 2011, Mr. Wang An, whether directly or through
his controlled corporations, held approximately 28.25% of the total
issued share capital of the Company and was the single largest
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wang An is an executive Director of
the Company.

Charge of Assets

As at 31 December 2011, no assets of the Company were
pledged.

Contingent Liabilities

Except as disclosed in Note 40 to the Financial Statements, the
Group has no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2011.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The operating revenue of the Group is partly denominated in US
dollars. It is the practice of the Group to convert its operating
revenue denominated in US dollars to Renminbi to finance its
operating expenses and capital requirements. However, the results
of operations and the financial position of the Group may be
affected by any changes in the exchange rates.

On the other hand, the conversion of Renminbi denominated
balances into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.

Capital Commitment

For the capital commitment of the Group, please refer to note 39 to
the Financial Statements.
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Capital Structure

The H shares of the Company were listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM”) on 22 April 2003. On 19
January 2011, the H shares of the Company were transferred and
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (the “Main Board”)
and de-listed from GEM. The capital of the Company comprises
only ordinary shares (comprising domestic shares and H shares).
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 36
to the Financial Statements.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group generally financed its operations and investing activities
by internally generated financial resources and loans from banks.
As at 31 December 2011, the Group had outstanding short-term
and long-term bank loans of approximately RMB524,681,000
and RMB120,000,000 respectively. As at 31 December 2011,
the short-term bank loans of RMB363,220,000 bore interest at
rates ranging from 4.96% to 7.63% per annum and the short-
term bank loans of RMB31,505,000 bore floating interest rate of
the lender’s cost of fund +4% per annum. Short-term bank loans
of RMB129,956,000 bore floating interest rate of LIBOR +3.2%
per annum. The long-term bank loans bore annual interest rate of
6.65%, with maturity in 2013. In the year 2011, the Group repaid
on time the loans due for repayment. The Directors consider that
the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its ongoing
operation requirements.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB96,641,000. The Group’s
gearing ratio as at 31 December 2011 was approximately 38%
(2010: approximately 49%) which is calculated by dividing the
Group’s total liabilities of approximately RMB846,820,000 (2010:
RMB1,141,302,000) by the Group’s total assets of approximately
RMB2,233,192,000 (2010: RMB2,340,447,000).
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Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang An (E%), aged 49, is Chairman of the Board and
an executive Director. Mr. Wang has been a Director since 26
June 2001. Mr. Wang is a well known entrepreneur in the PRC.
Mr. Wang has received the following awards/recognitions: one
of the top ten Outstanding Youths Entrepreneurs in Shandong
Province, the medal of “Labor Model of the Nation”, an Advanced
Individual of the United Front (Fi8; Z# 5 E A ), an Outstanding
Contributor to the Development of Socialism with Chinese
Characteristics in Shandong Province (IIER&EFTEHEGHE
THEEEREKLE), a Top Ten Outstanding and Influential Individual
in the Agricultural Industry of Shandong Province (1L & E%E
¥emAEFE N+ REHAY), a Star of Hope in the 30 Years’
of Reform and Opening in Yantai (AAKRERBR=TF [FL2
£1]), an Influential and Outstanding Private Entrepreneur in Yantai
to Commemorate the 60th Anniversary of the Establishment of the
People’s Republic of China (#2&® Bl 60BFZEREEF
RENMZER), one of the Top Ten Influential Persons of the Time
Among the Top 60 Advanced Individuals in the Development of
Socialism in Yantai of Shandong Province (ILE (A& )1t & X &
BANTEREAY Z TEEEREAY), and is a representative
of Shandong Province to the National People’s Congress (AKX
R F). Mr. Wang graduated from the Institute of the PRC Central
Communist Party (FP 2t RER K ERT) in June 1994. He was
the general manager of Yangma Resort (&5 &E M) for four
years before joining the Group. Mr. Wang has the following social
services appointments: member of China Business Advisory
Council (FBEIITHIEEESEE), member of the 1st Session of the
Council of Yantai Charity Federation (A& TMESRSE—[E1EE
ZIEE). Mr. Wang An is a director of China Pingan Investment
Holdings Limited and Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd.* (ILZ
ZiEFE@ARAT), which are substantial shareholders of the
Company. He joined the Company in March 1996 and has since
been involved in the concentrated juice production industry. Mr.
Wang is responsible for the overall management of the Group.

Mr. Zhang Hui (58#8), aged 39, is an executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Zhang has been a
Director since 26 June 2001. He was Deputy General Manager of
Muping Foodstuff Industrial Company Limited (& mITEAR
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Ad]) and Muping material (£¥#1%& ) before joining the Group.
Mr. Zhang joined the Company in December 1998 and has been
involving in the concentrated juice production industry since then.
Mr. Zhang has been Supervisor of the Production Department,
General Manager of a subsidiary of the Company and Executive
President of the Company. Mr. Zhang has received the following
awards: Outstanding Member of the Communist Party ({55 HE
EE) of Muping District, The 9th Session Top Ten Outstanding
Youth Entrepreneurs of Yantai city (BNEMEET +AGELEE
%%R) and the “May 1st Labor Award” of Yantai city. In March
2007, he was appointed as a member of the standing committee
of the Fruit and Vegetable Processing Division (R#H NI HE) of
the Chinese Institute of Food Science and Technology. During his
tenure as General Manager of Baishui Andre Juice Co., Ltd.* (F7K
ZERRFTEMR AT, he was appointed as a representative of
the Communist Party in Weinan city (Ff 38 HENKEK) and was
a standing member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Committee of Baishui County. Currently, Mr. Zhang assists Mr.
Wang An in the overall management of the Group. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Shandong Agriculture University with a Bachelor’s
degree in Economics and Management (majoring in corporate
management) in July 1997. Mr. Zhang is an engineer.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Wu-Chung, aged 60, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lin
has been as a non-executive Director of the Company since 22
June 2009. Mr. Lin is the Vice President of the General Manager
Office of Uni-President Enterprises Corp.. He joined the Uni-
President Group in January 1978 and has over 30 years of
experience in beverage and instant noodle businesses. He was
Head of Uni-President Enterprises Corp.’s beverages department
from 1991 to July 1995. Mr. Lin joined the Uni-President China
Group in August 1995 and is primarily responsible for its business
management. He has been a general manager and a director of
President Enterprises (China) Investment Co., Ltd. since 2005. He
was also appointed as a director of Uni-president China Holding
Ltd. and the general manager of Tong Ren Corp. Limited in 2007.
He formerly was a director of each of Uni-President China Group’s
PRC subsidiaries except for Nanchang President Enterprises Co.,
Ltd., Mr. Lin graduated from Tamkang University with a Bachelor’s
degree in International Trade in 1975.
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Mr. Liu Tsung-Yi (2|5RH), aged 45, is a non-executive Director.
He has been a non-executive Director of the Company since 22
June 2009. Mr. Liu is the vice president of the Business Integration
Division of Uni-President Enterprises Corp., a company listed on
the Taiwan Stock Exchange. He joined Uni-President Enterprises
Corp. in July 1996, and was subsequently appointed as the head
of its Investment Analysis Section. In 2000, he was transferred
to President International Development Corporation, and was
responsible for its investments. He has also been the manager
of the Treasury Division of Uni-President Enterprises Corp. since
2004. Currently, Mr. Liu is also the president/director/supervisor
of 14 member companies of Uni-President Enterprises Corp.,
amongst which Tait Marketing and Distribution Co., Ltd. is a
company listed on the Taiwan Gretai Securities Market. Mr. Liu
has over 19 years of experience in banking, corporate finance and
investment. Before joining Uni-President Enterprises Corp., he was
the head of the Credit and Loan Unit of Taipei branch of Cosmos
Commercial Bank. Mr. Liu obtained a Bachelor of Law degree
(majoring in Economics) from National Chengchi University in 1989,
and a Master of Business Administration degree from National
Taiwan University in 1991.

Mr. Jiang Hong Qi (Z3£%5), aged 45, is a non-executive Director.
He was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 28
May 2007 and was subsequently redesignated as a non-executive
Director on 30 June 2010. Mr. Jiang obtained a Master’'s degree
in Economics from Hangzhou Institute of Electronic Technology
(MNEFIEER) in 1997 and is a certified public accountant
in the PRC. He formerly served as a business manager and
senior manager of Shandong International Trust and Investment
Corporation (IIREBBFEEIRENQF]) before joining the
Company in 2002 as a deputy chief Accountant.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Shou Neng (815F4E), aged 57, is an independent non-
executive Director. Ms. Yu has been an independent non-executive
Director since 11 June 2004. Ms. Yu obtained a Master’s degree
in Agricultural Extension (B¥3¥#E) from China Agricultural
University in 2004. She is a representative of Shandong Province to
the National People’s Congress and is also Professor and Head of
Shandong Agricultural University Yantai Research Institute (11132

KIRaHFhe) .

Ms. Qu Wen (#152), aged 44, is an independent non-executive
Director. Ms. Qu has been a non-executive Director since 28 May
2007. Ms. Qu is a professional lawyer in the PRC, an arbitrator of
Yantai Arbitration Committee, a member of the 12th Session of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Committee and acted
previously as Supervisor of Yantai People’s Procuratorate. Ms.
Qu has received an Individual Third Class Merit (1B A=%11)
granted by the Yantai Municipal Bureau of Justice and the following
awards/recognitions: a Woman Pace-Setter (= /\4L/EF), one
of the Top Ten Woman Officers of the Judicial Administration in
Yantai (&M HESNETHRZHE), an Outstanding Lawyeress
of Shandong Province (ILER&EFHZLEAM), one of the Top Ten
Legalists of Yantai Television Broadcast (A& ERE THEEA
#1), one of the Top Ten Outstanding Young Lawyers in Shandong
Province (ILUERA T AREEHFFEAM), an Outstanding Contributor
to the Development of Socialism with Chinese Characteristics
in Shandong Province (ILREEFFESEEMHEEIRIHEER
%), an Advanced Individual of 2010 in the Judicial Administration
System of Shandong Province (20104 WA G /AT AT
fELA) . Ms. Qu graduated from Peking University and obtained her
Bachelor’s degree in Law in 1989. From 1989 to 1992, Ms. Qu
worked for the Legal Advisory Office of Muping, Yantai, Shandong
Province and the Bureau of Justice of Muping, Yantai city. From
1992 to 2002, Ms. Qu was a lawyer and the head of the Economic
Division of the Shandong Qianwei Law Firm. Since October 2002,
she has been a lawyer of Shandong Xinshiming Law Firm, and
since March 2004, she has been the executive officer-in-charge of
Shandong Xinshiming Law Firm.
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Mr. Gong Fan (B21.), aged 47, is an independent non-executive
Director since 18 January 2011. Mr. Gong graduated from Xi’an
Jiaotong University (FE%Z323BAE2) in July 1987 with a Bachelor’s
degree in Industrial Management Engineering (TEEE TH2). Mr.
Gong has over 20 years of experience in finance and is a certified
public accountant and a certified appraiser in the PRC. Mr. Gong
worked in the Beihai Finance Bureau in Guangxi Province (EPEdt
BTEIEE) from 1987 to 1992; and Beihai Accounting Firm (1t
JSEEIESFT) and Zhong He Accounting Firm (FRAI& &Rl %
T%FT) from 1993 to 2000 as a registered accountant. Mr. Gong
was Chief Finance Officer of the Company and Secretary of the
Board from 2001 to 20083, a director and Chief Financial Officer of
Henan Ping Gao Electric Co., Ltd.* B FeERREBERAT)
from 2003 to 2004. He has been Chief Investment Officer of Creat
Tian Cheng Investment Holding Co., Ltd.* (RBmKIEE =B R
A7]) since 2005.

Mr. Chow Kam Hung (E#8%), aged 52, is an independent
non-executive Director since 18 January 2011. Mr. Chow
graduated from St. Cloud State University, U.S.A. in May 1986
with a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering, and Newport
University, U.S.A. in December 1998 with a Master of Business
Administration degree. Mr. Chow has over 16 years of experience
in both overseas and PRC investments. Mr. Chow has been
General Manager of the Hong Kong office of Creat Group, a China
based investment company which has investments in finance,
manufacturing, real estate and resource sectors, since 1996.
He is also Chief Operation Officer of Creat Resources Holdings
Limited, an Australia based resources investment and development
company listed on the AIM of the London Stock Exchange, since
July 2010.
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Supervisors

Mr. Li Ye Sheng (Z#W) aged 57, is Party Secretary of the
Company. Mr. Li has been a Supervisor since 30 June 2010.
Mr. Li was the squad leader and captain of a warship under the
North Sea Marine from December 1973 to 1990, a supervisor of
the Agricultural Bank of Muping, Yantai, Shandong Province from
November 1990 to October 1995, and Deputy Manager of Land
Development Service Company of Muping, Yantai, Shandong
Province from November 1995 to January 1997. Mr. Li joined
the Company in 1997 and once served as a general manager for
several subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wang Chun Tang (£%&%), aged 58, is an independent
representative in the Supervisory Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wang has been a Supervisor since 28 May 2007. Mr. Wang
was an officer of the Communications Bureau of Muping, Yantai,
Shandong Province from May 1973 to December 1987. He studied
Economics and Management in the Communist Party School of
Shandong Province from September 1995 to December 1997
and obtained the graduation certificate issued by the Communist
Party School of Shandong Province on 30 December 1997.
From January 1988 to January 2006, Mr. Wang was Supervisor,
Deputy Chief and Managing Deputy Chief of the Publishing Office
of Muping, Yantai, Shandong Province. From January 2006
to January 2009, Mr. Wang was a member of the Executive
Committee of the Yantai Muping National People’s Congress.

Mr. Li Kun Gui (Z318 ), aged 57, is a member of the Communist
Party. Mr. Li has been a Supervisor since 30 June 2010. Mr. Li
served at the logistic department of Kunming Air Force Base
in December 1974 and worked at the general office of the
Government of Muping County and the Muping County Committee
of the Communist Party of China. Mr. Li is General Manager of
China North Industries Corporation Yangma Resort (FR B4 75 T 3
NAIEFHERN).
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Senior Management

Mr. Wang An (T %), aged 49, is Chairman of the Board and an
executive Director. Please refer to his biography under the sub-
section headed “Directors”.

Mr. Zhang Hui (35#%) , aged 39, is an executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. Please refer to his biography
under the sub-section headed “Directors”.

Mr. Wang Yan Hui (T%3#), aged 35, is a postgraduate and a
certified public accountant in the PRC. Mr. Wang formerly worked
as an accountant in Yantai Yangma North Hotel (\AEESFS
b5 AREJE). Mr. Wang joined the Company in February 2001
and worked as accountant, chief accountant, deputy manager,
manager in various subsidiaries of the Company. Currently, Mr.
Wang is the Financial Controller of the Group.

Mr. Yang Tao (#%), aged 41, a college graduate, is a vice
president of the Company. Mr. Yang joined the Company in March
1996 and formerly worked as production line leader, workshop
supervisor and general manager of a subsidiary of the Company.
He previously served as member of the 12th Session of the
CPPCC of Longkou City and has been awarded: Outstanding
Communist Party Member of Yantai City and Outstanding Party
Worker of Longkou New and Hi-Tech Zone. Mr. Yang currently
assists the chief executive officer in supervising the production of
the Group.

Ms. Zhao Jing (&), aged 46, is a vice-president of the
Company. Ms. Zhao graduated from Shandong Worker’s
University of International Business and Economics and obtained a
Bachelor’s degree in Foreign Business Management in July 1990.
She worked in the Foreign Trade Investment Center of the Foreign
Economics and Trade Commission of Muping from January 1992
to February 1992; Canadian Naisen (Tianjin) Steel Products Co.,
Ltd. from 1992 to 1997; and in the Company as a vice-president
responsible for sales and market promotion from 1997 to August
2003; and Shandong Freda Biopharm Co., Ltd. from September
2003 to December 2010. Ms. Zhao rejoined the Company in
January 2011 and is currently responsible for both domestic and
overseas sales of the Group.
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Mr. Qu Kun Sheng (BiIE4), aged 43, a university graduate with
a Bachelor’s degree in Agriculture, is a vice president and the chief
engineer of the Company. Mr. Qu joined the Company in 1997 to
engage in manufacturing technologies development, quality control

and on-going supervision of production activities. He was the two-
time winner of the 3rd Class Award of Science Advancement of
Shandong Province (ILRARHGENN=542), the winner of the
1st Class Award of Science Advancement in Yantai City (/& %}
R H—%4) and the winner of the 3rd Class Award of Science
Advancement in Yantai City (MR&THEHL#EF =548) . Currently,
he is responsible for the technology, research and development of
the Group.

Ms. Wang Ning (%), aged 37, a college graduate, is the
secretary to the Board of the Company. She had previously
worked with Jiangsu Pizhou Daily and Yantai Runda Futures Co.,
Ltd. (AEEEHERRAR) and Yantai Muping Electronic
Equipment Co., Ltd. (&M AFREFEMBRAA]). Ms. Wang
joined the Company in August 2003 as an executive secretary.
Currently, Ms. Wang is mainly responsible for preparation and
documentation of shareholders’ meetings and board meetings
of the Company, management of shareholders’ information and
information disclosures, etc.

Company Secretary

Ms. Ng Man Yee ({h&8018), aged 40, is the Company Secretary
of the Company. Ms. Ng graduated from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong and obtained her Bachelor's degree in Business
Administration in 1994. She is a fellow Certified Public Accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a Chartered Accountant of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. Ms. Ng has over 15 years of experience in
the field of auditing and accounting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Articles of Association, the Terms of Reference of the Audit
Committee, the Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee,
the Terms of Reference of the Remuneration Committee and the
Terms of Reference of the Supervisory Committee of the Company
form the framework for the code of corporate governance practice
of the Company.

The Board has reviewed its corporate governance documents
and is of the view that such documents have incorporated all of
the principles and code provisions in the “Code on Corporate
Governance Practices” (the “CG Code”) of The Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The followings are the major aspects
in which the Company’s own corporate governance code exceed
the code provisions in the CG Code:

- the Company has established a nomination committee in
accordance with the recommended best practices of the CG
Code; and

- the Board held 6 meetings during 2011.

The Board will constantly monitor and, if necessary, revise the
corporate governance documents of the Company, and assess the
effectiveness of the Company’s corporate governance practices
in order to adapt to changes in the environment and requirements
under the CG Code, so as to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance documents and practices are in line with the
expectations and interests of the shareholders and comply with the
CG Code.

The Company has complied with all the code provisions set out in
the CG Code during the period under review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is managed by a Board of Directors, which has the
responsibility for providing leadership and control of the Company.
Through the Board, the Directors are collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Directors

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised a total
of nine Directors, including two executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Wang An (Chairman) and Mr. Zhang Hui (Chief Executive Officer);
three non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lin Wu-Chung, Mr.
Liu Tsung-Yi and Mr. Jiang Hong Qi; and four independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Yu Shou Neng, Ms. Qu Wen, Mr.
Gong Fan and Mr. Chow Kam Hung.

Except for Mr. Gong Fan and Mr. Chow Kam Hung, each of the
Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for
a term of three years. Each of Mr. Gong Fan and Mr. Chow Kam
Hung has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term commencing from 18 January 2011 until the conclusion of the
Company’s annual general meeting to be held in the year of 2013.
All Directors are appointed by the shareholders at the shareholders’
meeting with formal letters of appointment setting out the key
terms and conditions relative to their appointments.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors possesses a wide
range of skills and experience. They serve the important function
of providing adequate monitoring and balances for safeguarding
the interests of the shareholders and the Company as a whole.
The Board considers that they can make independent judgment
effectively and fulfill the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 22 to
26 of this report.
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Responsibilities of the Board

The Board reviews the performance of the operating divisions
against their agreed budgets and business objectives on a regular
basis and also exercises a number of reserved powers which
include:

- convening shareholders’ meetings and reporting on their
work at shareholders’ meetings;

- implementation of resolutions passed at shareholders’
meetings;

- formulating the Company’s business plans and investment
proposals;

- preparing the Company’s annual financial budget and final
accounts;

- formulating proposals for profit distribution and for setting off
of accumulated losses of the Company;

- formulating proposals for increase or reduction in registered
capital and the issuance of debt securities of the Company;

- formulating proposals for merger, demerger, or dissolution of
the Company;

- formulating the internal management structure of the
Company;

- appointment or dismissal of the chief executive officer of
the Company and appointment or dismissal of the deputy
general manager, financial controller and other senior
management at the recommendation of the chief executive
officer of the Company and determination of matters relating
to their remuneration;

- formulating the basic management system of the Company;
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- formulating proposals for amendments to the articles of
association; and

- carrying out other powers conferred by shareholders’
meetings.

The Board is also responsible for the integrity of financial information
and the effectiveness of the Company’s systems of internal control
and risk management processes. The Board is also responsible for
preparing the financial accounts of the Company. The day-to-day
management of the Company’s business is delegated to the chief
executive officer and the management. The functions of the Board
and the powers delegated to the chief executive officer are reviewed
periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate.

To ensure a balance of power and authority, the role of the
chairman is separate from that of the chief executive officer.
The chairman of the Company is Mr. Wang An. The chairman
is responsible for convening and holding general meetings and
Board meetings, tracking the progress of implementation of the
resolutions passed by the Board, signing the securities issued
by the Company and carrying out other powers conferred by
the Board. Mr. Zhang Hui is the chief executive officer of the
Company. The chief executive officer and the management are
responsible for the production, operation and management of
the Company, implementation of the resolutions passed by the
Board, implementation of annual business plans and investment
proposals, formulation of the internal management structure, the
basic management system and the specific governance of the
Company. In particular the chief executive officer is responsible
for proposing to the Board for appointment or dismissal of deputy
general manager, financial controller and other senior management
of the Company, appointment or dismissal of other management
staff whose appointment and dismissal does not require approval
from the Board and carrying out other powers conferred by the
Board and the Articles of Association.
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Board Meetings

The chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board,
ensuring the effectiveness of the Board in all aspects of its role,
setting agenda for board meetings, and taking into account any
matters proposed by other Directors for inclusion in the agenda.
Agenda and accompanying board papers are circulated where
possible at least 3 days before the time of a board or committee
meeting. The chairman is also responsible for making sure all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings.
The chairman ensures that the Directors receive accurate, timely
and clear information. Directors are encouraged to update their
skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Company through their
initial induction, ongoing participation at board and committee
meetings, and through meeting key people at head office and in
the divisions.

All Directors have access to the services of the company secretary
who regularly updates the Board on governance and regulatory
matters. Any Director, who wishes to do so in the furtherance
of his or her duties, may seek independent professional advice
through the chairman at the Company’s expense. The availability of
professional advice extends to the Audit, Remuneration and other
Committees.

Minutes of Board meetings are taken by the company secretary
or the secretary to the Board and, together with any supporting
Board papers, are available to all Board members. Board meetings
are structured to encourage open and frank discussions to
ensure the non-executive Directors provide effective enquiries to
each executive Director. When necessary, the independent non-
executive Directors meet privately to discuss matters which are
relevant to their specific responsibility.

In furtherance of good corporate governance, the Board has
established three committees: Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee. All committees have
terms of reference which fulfill the principles set out in the CG
Code. The secretary of the Board takes minutes of the meetings of
these committees and the work of these committees is reported to
the Board.
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The Board held six meetings during 2011. The financial controller

also attended most of the Board meetings to advise on corporate

governance, risk management, statutory compliance, mergers and

acquisitions and accounting and financial matters. The attendance

(other than attending by authorised representatives) of individual
Directors at the Board meetings and the other committees in 2011

is set out in the table below.

Board Meeting

Date (YY/MM/DD) Chair person

BEI(FE/A/8) *E WA
2011/02/03 WA v
2011/03/25 WA v
2011/04/26 WA v
2011/08/05 WA v
2011/11/21 WA v
2011/11/30 WA v

Audit Committee Meeting

Date (YY/MM/DD) Chair person
BEI(FE/B/8) xFE
2011/03/24 GF
2011/08/04 GF

Nomination Committee Meeting

Date (YY/MM/DD) Chair person
BEI(£/A/8) E:
2011/11/18 WA

Remuneration Committee Meeting

Date (YY/MM/DD) Chair person
BEI(FE/A/8) ES:
2011/03/18 Qw

ZH

AN N N NN

JHQ

AN N N NN

LwWC

AN N N NN

e il

EEEeR T —FERATANREHE Y
BRENFETREHESESH  LHD
XER RREE - BTEHR  AHI
B e MMBEERHEER - TRET
BREEN_T——FRALEGREEEME
ERALRE ) EEERIEZE R 2

I

Exges
LTY YSN QW GF** CKH** XGZ*
v v v v v NA
v v v v v NA
v v v v v NA
v v v v v NA
v v v v v N/A
v v v v v NA
EREES
YSN Qw GF** CKH** XGZ*
v v v v NA
v v v v NA
REEREE
WA YSN Qw
v v v
FHEES
Qw YSN
v v
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Note:

WA  Wang An

ZH  Zhang Hui

JHQ Jiang Hong Qi
LWC Lin Wu-Chung
LTY  Liu Tsung-Yi

YSN  Yu Shou Neng
QW  Qu Wen

XGZ Xu Guang Zhou*
GF  Gong Fan**

CKH Chow Kam Hung**

Symbols:

“v'" means attended the meeting
“—" means not attended the meeting
“N/A" means not applicable

*

Mr. Xu Guang Zhou resigned on 18 January 2011.

*k

Mr. Gong Fan and Mr. Chow Kam Hung were appointed on 18
January 2011.

Directors’ Interest

All Directors disclosed to the Board on their first appointment
their interests as a director or otherwise in other companies or
organisations and such declarations of interests are updated
annually. When the Board considers any proposal or transaction in
which a Director has conflict of interest, the Director has to declare
his interest and is required to abstain from voting and withdraw from
the meetings as appropriate. The Company seeks confirmation from
the Directors annually in respect of any transactions of the Company
or its subsidiaries which are related to Directors or their associates.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Prior to the transfer and listing of the H shares of the Company on
the Main Board on 19 January 2011, the Company had adopted
a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions (the
“Securities Code”) pursuant to The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) on terms no
less exacting than the required standard of dealings contained in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the Securities Code is
sent to each Director upon his appointment and thereafter twice
annually, that is one month before the date of the Board meetings
to approve the Company’s interim results and two months before
the date of the Board meetings to approve the Company’s annual
results, with a reminder that the Director cannot deal in the securities
and derivatives of the Company until after such results have been
published.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of
dealings and the requirements in the Securities Code during 2011.

Specific employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information of the Company are also
subject to compliance with the Securities Code. No incident of
non-compliance was noted by the Company in 2011.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee of the Company comprises three
members of which two are recommended by shareholders and
one is an employee representative elected by the employees.
The Supervisory Committee is responsible for supervision of the
Board, members of the Board and senior management, to prevent
authority abuse, shareholders’ interest infringement and to protect
legal interest of the Company and its employees. During 2011,
the Supervisory Committee held one meeting, during which the
committee members reviewed the Company’s financial position,
legal compliance of the Company’s operations and diligence of the
senior management.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

Internal control system

The Board has the overall responsibility for setting and reviewing
the Company’s system of internal control. The Audit Committee
will also review the effectiveness of such system periodically.
Procedures applied by the Audit Committee for reviewing the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control system include:
discussion with the management on the risky areas arising from
auditing and/or raised by the management, reviewing the internal
and external audit plan of the Company, reviewing material issues
arising from internal or external audit report and reviewing material
matters identified by internal auditors and risk assessment manager
of the Group. The internal control system of the Company plays
an effective role in risk management which is a very important
factor for ensuring the achievement of operational goal. The
establishment of internal control system is for safeguarding assets
against unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining proper
accounting records; and for the reliability of financial information
used within the business or for publication. However, the
procedures provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material errors, losses or fraud. Procedures for the Company’s
internal control system have been designed in accordance with the
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

A review of the Company’s internal control system covering financial,
operational, compliance and risk management is conducted annually.
In particular, the Board has considered the adequacy of resources,
qualification and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training programmes and budget.
The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s
system of internal control. The result has been reported to the Board.

The Board confirms that systems and procedures are in place to
identify, control and report on significant risks involved in achieving
the Company’s strategic objectives. Exposures to these risks are
monitored by the Board with the support of various committees
and senior management. For the year under review, the Board
considered that the Company’s internal control system was
adequate and the Company had complied with the code provisions
on internal control under the CG Code.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The Internal Audit Department provides an independent review
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system.
The department is headed by a manager who is familiar with the
Company’s operation. Its scope of work mainly includes auditing of
financial and operational systems, observance of relevant policies
and regulations, regular and special auditing, auditing of production
effectiveness, etc. The audit plan, which is prepared based on risk
assessment methodology, is discussed and agreed every year by
the Audit Committee. In addition to its agreed annual schedule of
work, the Internal Audit Department conducts other special reviews
as required.

The primary reporting line of the Internal Audit Department is to the
chairman of the Board but there is also direct access to the Audit
Committee. Internal audit reports are sent to the chief executive
officer, the financial controller, external auditors and the relevant
management of the departments under audit. A summary of major
audit findings is reported to the Audit Committee. The Board and
the Audit Committee actively monitor the number and seriousness
of findings raised by the Internal Audit Department and also the
corrective actions taken by relevant departments.

Detailed control guidelines have been set and made available to all
employees of the Company regarding handling and dissemination
of corporate data which is price sensitive.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is concerned with the identification and effective
management of business risks, including safety and security, legal,
environmental and reputational risks.

Risk Management Committee

The Company has established a Risk Management Committee
which coordinates the proper application of operational risk
management procedures throughout the Company. The
Committee assists the Board to fulfill its oversight role over the
Company and its subsidiaries in, among others, the following
areas:

- establishment of the risk approach and risk management
strategy of the Company to formulate its risk profile;
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- identification, assessment and management of the material
risks faced by the various business units of the Company;

- reviewing and assessment of the adequacy of the
Company’s risk management process, system and internal
control; and

- reviewing and monitoring the Company’s risk management
process, system and internal control, including whether the
development of the Company’s business is prudent and in
compliance with the legal requirements.

The terms of reference of the Committee do not include financial
risk management and the coordination of the Company’s policy
on environmental issues. The Committee is chaired by the financial
controller of the Company and includes senior representatives from
each division as well as the human resources manager and the
head of Internal Audit Department. The Committee reports to the
Audit Committee on a regular basis.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the Group’s
financial reporting, internal controls and corporate governance
issues and making relevant recommendations to the Board. All of
its members are independent non-executive Directors (namely Ms.
Qu Wen, Ms. Yu Shou Neng, Mr. Xu Guang Zhou (resigned on
18 January 2011), Mr. Gong Fan (appointed on 18 January 2011,
and Mr. Chow Kam Hung (appointed on 18 January 2011)) and its
current chairman is Mr. Gong Fan.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are based on the
guidelines recommended by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

The Audit Committee met twice in 2011. During 2011, it met to
review the internal and external audit findings, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, internal control
and listing rules and statutory compliance, and to discuss auditing,
internal controls, risk management and financial reporting matters.
The interim and annual accounts for 2011 were recommended to
the Board for approval after discussion of the Audit Committee.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

In 2011, the total remuneration paid to the external auditors
amounted to approximately RMB1,480,000, which was all for the
audit services provided by the external auditors. The audit fee and
other service fees have been approved by the Audit Committee
and endorsed by the Board.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out on pages 70 to 71 of this annual report.

The Audit Committee has resolved the re-appointment of KPMG
for the audit work of the Company for the financial year 2012. This
resolution has been endorsed by the Board and is subject to final
approval and authorisation by the shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises Ms. Qu Wen and Ms.
Yu Shou Neng as members with Ms. Qu Wen as the chairperson.
Both of them are independent non-executive Directors. The
Committee’s responsibilities are as follows:

- to recommend the remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and senior executives under transparent and legal
procedures to the Board;

- to approve the remuneration policy and structure (comprising
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments
including compensation for loss or termination of office or
appointment) for all Directors and senior executives with the
Board’s approval;

- to recommend the remuneration of non-executive Directors
to the Board;

- to formulate, review and approve remuneration with reference
to the performance and the Company’s objectives laid down
by the Board at irregularly interval;

- to review and approve the compensation paid to executive
Directors and senior management for loss or termination of
office or appointment and to ensure such compensation is
determined in accordance with the relevant terms of service;
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- to set compensation paid to executive Directors and senior
management for loss or termination of office or appointment
under the principle of fairness, reasonableness and not to
create undue burden to the Company if such compensation
cannot be determined in accordance with the relevant terms
of service;

- to review and approve compensation for termination/
dismissal of appointment of Directors due to misconduct and
to ensure that such arrangement is in compliance with the
relevant terms of service;

- to set compensation for termination/dismissal of appointment
of Directors due to misconduct under reasonable and
appropriate basis if such compensation cannot be
determined in accordance with the relevant terms of service;
and

- to ensure remuneration of any Director or any associated
person cannot be set by themselves.

Factors to be considered by the Remuneration Committee for
formulation of remuneration package including the remuneration
paid by other similar companies, time devoted by a director,
director’s responsibilities, employment terms of other positions in
the Group, director’s performance, etc.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee met once in 2011 to review and
approve the Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
for 2011. At that meeting, the Committee approved the individual
remuneration packages for Directors and senior management to be
paid for 2011.
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Remuneration Policy for Directors

Remuneration of Directors is subject to annual assessment and
recommendation by the Remuneration Committee to the Board for
further review and approval, which subsequently requires approval
by the shareholders at annual general meeting. The primary goal of
the remuneration policy on remuneration packages is to enable the
Company to retain and motivate executive Directors by linking their
compensation with performance as measured against corporate
objectives. Under the policy, a Director is not allowed to approve
his own remuneration.

The elements of the Company’s executive remuneration
package include basic compensation (comprising of director
fee) and discretionary bonus without capping. In determining
guidelines for each compensating element, the Company refers
to remuneration surveys conducted by independent external
consultants on companies operating in similar businesses.

Basic Compensation

The Remuneration Committee annually reviews and approves
the basic compensation of each Director in accordance with the
Company’s remuneration policy. In accordance with the service
contracts entered into by the Company and each of the Directors,
all Directors have the right to receive fixed basic compensation.

Discretionary Bonus

Under the service contracts between the Company and each of the
Directors, the Directors are entitled to a discretionary bonus based
on the Company’s results and the degree of responsibilities of each
of the Directors. During the year ended 31 December 2011, the
Directors did not receive any discretionary bonus.

The amounts paid to each Director of the Company for 2010 and
2011 are disclosed in note 12 to the Financial Statements. Messrs
Lin Wu-Chung and Liu Tsung-Yi, two non-executive Directors,
have waived their director's emoluments with effect from 1 April
2010.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Wang An, an
executive Director, and comprises Ms. Qu Wen and Ms. Yu
Shou Neng as members. The role of the Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors,
evaluation of Board composition and the management of Board
succession with reference to certain guidelines as endorsed by
the Nomination Committee. These guidelines include appropriate
professional knowledge and industry experience, personal ethnics,
integrity and personal skills, and time commitments of members.
The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting
and recommending candidates for directorship including the
consideration of referrals and engagement of external recruitment
professional when necessary. The Nomination Committee met
once in 2011 to discuss the Board structure, size and composition
and to evaluate the independence status of the independent non-
executive Directors.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to fair disclosure and comprehensive,
transparent reporting. The chairman of the Company is ultimately
responsible for ensuring that there is effective communication with
investors and that the Board understands the views of the major
shareholders. The chairman therefore makes himself available
to meet with the shareholders for this purpose. On a day-to-day
basis, the Board’s primary contact with the major shareholders is
through the chief executive officer and financial controller of the
Company.

To enhance the Company’s system of information disclosure,
and to ensure the accuracy, completeness and timeliness of the
Company’s public disclosures, an Information Disclosure Review
Committee, led by the financial controller was established. The
Information Disclosure Review Committee is responsible for
the establishment of procedures to compile, verify and report
the Company’s financial and operational statistics and other
information as well as to supervise the drafting and publication of
periodic reports.
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Printed copies of the interim and annual reports are sent to all
shareholders. The most recent annual general meeting was held
on 28 June 2011 at 2nd Floor, No. 18 Andre Avenue, Muping
Economic Development Zone, Yantai City, Shandong Province,
the PRC. The meeting was open to all shareholders and members
of the press and was attended by all substantial shareholders
personally present or by proxy.

As part of a regular programme of investor relations, senior
management holds briefings and attends conferences with
institutional investors and financial analysts to engage in a two-way
communication on the Company’s performance and objectives.
A wide range of information on the Group’s business activities is
made available to investors and the public through the corporate
website and the website of the Stock Exchange. Webcasts of
the meetings announcing the interim and annual results are also
available on the corporate website and the website of the Stock
Exchange.

In 2011, the Company held 20 meetings with analysts and
investors at its Yantai and Hong Kong offices, including two
Company visits by analysts and one investor conference. These
activities allowed them to have good opportunities to directly
communicate with and understand the senior management,
operating management and general staff of the Company, as well
as to visit different places of business of the Group.

According to the information publicly available to the Company
and within the best knowledge of the Directors, at least 40% of
the Company’s total issued share capital is held by the public at
all times. As at 26 March 2012, being the latest practicable date,
there were over 650 holders of H shares on the Company’s register
of shareholders.

Enquiries to the Board may be made by contacting the company
secretary through the shareholders’ hotline or email, or directly by
questions at an annual general meeting or special Shareholders’
meeting of the Company. Questions on the procedures for
convening of or putting forward proposals at an annual general
meeting or a special shareholders’ meeting of the Company may
also be made to the Company by the same means.
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The Directors are pleased to present and submit the annual report
together with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2011.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and sale of
apple juice concentrate, pear juice concentrate, apple essence,
feedstuff and related products. The principal activities of the
Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to the Financial
Statements.

Subsidiaries and Jointly Controlled Entities

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company and its interest in
jointly controlled entities as at 31 December 2011 are set out in
notes 19 and 21 to the Financial Statements respectively.

Results

The results and financial status of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2011 are set out in pages 72 to 172 of this annual
report.

Five-Year Financial Highlights

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 5 to 6 of
this annual report.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the reporting period, the Group mainly exported products to
the US market, Japanese market and European market, and was
expanding its market to other countries. The sales attributable to
the top five customers of the Group accounted for about 46.58%
of the Group’s total turnover and sales to the largest customer
included therein amounted to about 12.84%.
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Purchases from the Group’s top five largest suppliers accounted
for about 5.09% of total purchases for the year. The largest
supplier accounted for about 2.07% of the total purchases of the
Group for the year.

None of the Directors, Supervisors, their respective associates or
any shareholders which, to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any
interest in the top five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

Dividends

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend of
approximately RMB21,328,000 (inclusive of tax), or RMBO0.005
per share for 2011. This proposed dividend will be distributed first
from the balance of the profit of the Group for distribution to the
shareholders of the Company generated in or before 2007. Any
insufficiency will be distributed from the profit for distribution to
the shareholders of the Company generated in or after 2008. The
proposal to declare and pay this final dividend will be submitted to
the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to be held on 26 June 2012. Final dividend for Domestic
Shares will be distributed and paid in Renminbi whereas dividend
for H Shares will be declared in Renminbi and paid in Hong Kong
dollars. The final dividend will be paid to those shareholders whose
names appear on the Companys’ register of members at the close
of business on 10 July 2012 (the “Record Date”). To determine the
identity of the shareholders entitled to receive the final dividend,
the register of holders of H Shares of the Company will be closed
from 5 July 2012 to 10 July 2012 (both days inclusive) during
which no transfer of H Shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for entitement to the proposed final dividend, all transfers of H
Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer
forms must be lodged with the Company’s H Share Registrar,
Tricor Tengis Limited at 26/F., Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on 4 July 2012. The final dividend will be distributed within
one month from the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC and its
implementing regulations (collectively referred to as the “Corporate
Income Tax Law”) which took effect on 1 January 2008, the tax rate
of the corporate income tax applicable to the income of non-resident
enterprise deriving from PRC is 10%. Pursuant to the Corporate
Income Tax Law, any Chinese domestic enterprise (including
our Company) which pays dividend to a non-resident enterprise
shareholder shall withhold corporate income tax at 10% for and pay
by the Company on behalf of such shareholder. At the same time,
pursuant to the provisions of the Preferential Policy on Profit Earned by
Foreign Investors from Foreign Investment Enterprises in the Circular
of the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation
Concerning Several Preferential Policies Relevant to Corporate Income
Tax, any profit accumulated and not yet distributed before 1 January
2008 by foreign investment enterprise when distributed to non-
resident enterprise in or after 2008, will be exempted from corporate
income tax. Any dividend distributed to non-resident enterprises from
profit accumulated since 2008 will be subject to corporate income tax.

Pursuant to the Notice on Issues Concerning Individual Income Tax
Collection and Management after the Repeal of Guo Shui Fa [1993]
No. 45 (No. 348, Guo Shui Han [2011]), where the non-resident
individual shareholders obtain dividend and bonuses from domestic
non-foreign-invested enterprise which issued shares in Hong Kong,
individual income tax shall be withheld by the withholding agent
according to the domain of “interest, dividends and bonuses”.
The non-resident individual shareholders of domestic non-foreign-
invested enterprise which issued shares in Hong Kong, shall enjoy
the taxation preferences in accordance with the agreements
between countries of their origins and China and the regulation
on taxation arrangement between the Mainland and Hong Kong
(Macau). The related tax rate of dividend as provided by taxation
agreement is generally at a rate of 10%. In order to simplify the
collection and management of taxation, the individual income
tax with a rate of 10% in general will be withheld when dividend
is paid by the domestic non-foreign-invested enterprise which
issued shares in Hong Kong without making applications. Where
the dividend tax rate is not 10%, it will be handled according to
the following requirements: (1) for residents of countries which
have entered into an agreement with China in respect of a tax rate
lower than 10%, the withholding agent may apply for the relevant
entittements hereunder on their behalf. Upon examination and
approval by the competent tax authorities, the additional amount
of tax withheld will be refunded; (2) for residents of countries
which have entered into an agreement with China in respect of a
tax rate of 10% or more but less than 20%, the withholding agent
shall withhold individual income tax at the agreed tax rate when
distributing dividends or bonuses, and no application for approval
is needed; (3) for residents of a country or which has not entered
into any tax treaties with the PRC and in any other circumstances,
the withholding agent shall withhold individual income tax at the tax
rate of 20% when distributing dividends and bonuses.
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Pursuant to the Notice of Withholding and Payment of Enterprise
Income Tax Regarding China Resident Enterprise Paying Dividend
to Non-Resident Enterprise Holders of Overseas H-Share (No.
897, Guo Shui Han[2008]) issued by the State Administration of
Taxation, any domestic enterprise of PRC which pays dividends to
non-resident enterprise shareholders (as defined in the Tax Law)
for the year of 2008 and subsequent years shall withhold and pay
enterprise income tax at the tax rate of 10%.

For this purpose, any H Shares registered under the name of
non-natural persons in the H Share register of members of
the Company on 24 May 2012 (Thursday), including HKSCC
Nominees Limited, other nominees, trustees or other groups
and organizations, will be treated as non-resident enterprise
shareholders.

The Company anticipates that all the proposed dividend will
be distributed from the balance of the profit of the Group for
distribution to the shareholders of the Company generated in or
before 2007. Pursuant to the preferential policy of the Corporate
Income Tax Law, the Company currently proposes not to withhold
10% corporate income tax and to distribute the final dividend
to such non-resident enterprise shareholders at gross amount
before corporate income tax. This arrangement is conditional
upon obtaining the final approval from the relevant tax authority.
If the Company cannot obtain final approval from the relevant tax
authorities regarding the exemption of corporate income tax for
non-resident enterprise shareholders as mentioned above, the
Company will distribute the final dividend to such non-resident
enterprise shareholders after withholding corporate income tax of
10% as required by the Corporate Income Tax Law. The Company
will issue a separate announcement regarding the withholding of
10% corporate income tax issue after consultation with the relevant
tax authority.

The Company will have no liability in respect of any claims arising

from any delay in, or inaccurate determination of the status of the
shareholders or any disputes over the mechanism of withholding.

Share Capital

The change(s) in share capital of the Company is set out in note 36
to the Financial Statements.
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Reserves

The change(s) in reserves of the Company in the year is set out
in the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the
Company in the Financial Statements.

The distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2011 amounted to approximately RMB362,684,000 (2010:
approximately RMB327,345,000).

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year, the Group incurred approximately
RMB40,359,000, mainly for the construction of new production line
and acquiring plant and equipment.

The change(s) of property, plant and equipment of the Group is set
out in note 17 to the Financial Statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the Company Law of the PRC
which oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
o existing shareholders.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

For the year ended 31 December 2011, neither the Company
nor its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

Directors’ and Supervisors’ Rights to Acquire
Shares or Debentures

None of the Directors or Supervisors of the Company or their
respective associates was granted by the Company or its
subsidiaries any right to acquire shares or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such
right as at 31 December 2011.
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals During the
Year

The Group had the following material acquisitions and disposals
during the year:

On 12 April 2011, Andre Pectin (as purchaser) entered
into the Longkou Share Transfer Agreement with Longkou
Andre Juice (as vendor) and Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff
whereby Andre Pectin agreed to purchase from Longkou
Andre Juice, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
75% equity interest in Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff at a cash
consideration of RMB3,201,873.19. The Longkou Share
Transfer Agreement was completed on 30 April 2011. After
the completion of the Longkou Share Transfer Agreement
and before the Longkou Bio-feedstuff Equity Transfer
Agreement as stated in Il below, Longkou Andre Bio-
feedstuff was owned as to 75% by Andre Pectin and 25% by
the Group and was accounted for as an associated company
of the Company.

On 7 December 2011, (1) Longkou Andre Juice (as
purchaser) entered into the Longkou Bio-feedstuff Equity
Transfer Agreement with Andre Pectin (as vendor) whereby
Andre Pectin agreed to transfer to Longkou Andre Juice
its 75% equity interest in Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff
at a total consideration of RMB2,864,016.19; (2) Baishui
Andre Juice (as purchaser) entered into the Baishui Bio-
feedstuff Equity Transfer Agreement with Andre Pectin (as
vendor) whereby Andre Pectin agreed to transfer to Baishui
Andre Juice, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
its 75% equity interest in Baishui Bio-feedstuff at a total
consideration of RMB3,425,988.68; and (3) Xuzhou Andre
Juice (as purchaser) entered into the Xuzhou Pomace
Equity Transfer Agreement with Andre Pectin (as vendor)
whereby Andre Pectin agreed to transfer to Xuzhou Andre
Juice, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, its 75%
equity interest in Xuzhou Pomace at a total consideration
of RMB3,018,784.46. The total consideration payable by
the Group to Andre Pectin is RMB9,308,789.33. Upon
completion of the above acquisitions on 31 December
2011, Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff, Baishui Bio-feedstuff
and Xuzhou Pomace all became wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company, and the financial results of which were
consolidated into the Group’s accounts.
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On 26 April 2011, (1) the Company and Andre BVI, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Yongji
Share Transfer Agreement with AGRANA for the purchase
by the Company and Andre BVI of an aggregate of 50%
equity interest held by AGRANA in Yongji Andre for a total
consideration of EUR6,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$67,653,835); and (2) the Company also entered into
the Xianyang Share Transfer Agreement with AGRANA for
the sale to AGRANA of the 50% equity interest held by the
Company in Xianyang Andre for the consideration of EUR
11,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$129,669,851).
Before the above transfers, the equity interest of each of
Yongji Andre and Xianyang Andre was held as to 50% by
AGRANA and as to 50% by the Company. Upon completion
of the share transfers on 30 June 2011 and 21 July 2011,
Yongji Andre is owned as to 100% by the Group and the
Group has no more interest in Xianyang Andre.

On 283 November 2011, the Company and Yantai Anlin Fruit
Industry Co., Ltd.* (YA & ZMREER A F]), an independent
third party, entered into a share transfer agreement
for the sale by the Company of 70% equity interest in
Qingdao Nannan, a subsidiary of the Company, for a total
consideration of USD2,200,000. After the completion of the
share transfer on 30 November 2011, the Company has no
more equity interest in Qingdao Nannan.

Significant Investments

The significant investments are set out in note 25 to the Financial

Statements.

* For identification purpose only
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Subsequent Event

0

)

Share Repurchase

In February 2012, the Company repurchased a total of
23,635,000 H Shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
at an aggregate consideration of HK$6,141,075. Al the
23,635,000 H Shares repurchased have not yet been
cancelled by the Company. Details of the shares repurchase
are as follows:

Number of

Date of H Shares
repurchase purchased Highest
L=z ARE H BB & w®E
HK$
(%7T)
20/02/2012 3,225,000 0.255
21/02/2012 18,915,000 0.26
24/02/2012 65,000 0.275
27/02/2012 85,000 0.28
28/02/2012 1,345,000 0.29

Total
aH# 23,635,000

The repurchases were made by the Directors, pursuant to
the general mandate granted by the shareholders at the
2010 Annual General Meeting, with a view to benefitting
the Company and the shareholders as a whole in terms of
enhancement of the net assets per share and earnings per
share.

ICC Arbitration brought by AGRANA against the
Company

By a request for arbitration dated 7 December 2011,
AGRANA brought ICC proceedings against the Company
in respect of a shareholders’ agreement in relation to
Xianyang Andre (“Xianyang SHA”) dated 9 June 2006 and
an Allocation Plan dated 14 January 2011 for an amount of
RMB64,551,079.

HKEER

1)

)

IRt EEE

RZBE—ZF A ARAIRER
Fir B8 [ £ 23,635,000 % HA% @ 42 X
& 26,141,075t 28 B B K
23,635,000 % HAZ AT AR 518 © A% 15 B
BB -

Price per share

EBREE

Aggregate

Lowest consideration
=®{E #wRE
HKS$ HKS$
(%7T) (%7T)
0.25 819,350
0.25 4,890,000
0.275 17,875
0.28 23,800
0.29 390,050
6,141,075

OBREERE_T-—TFRREF
RE BRI A Z — R REHETT -
FHERARRZERFEEALER
BA - SEINARF R IR

AGRANAB AR GREEEES
HE

EHHA-—ZT——F+-_AtB2F
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The Company served submission to object to the jurisdiction
of the Arbitration Tribunal on 20 January 2012.

The Company further served an answer to the request for
arbitration on 13 January 2012 and made a counterclaim for
damages in the amount of RMB899,697.40 for breach of the
Xianyang SHA by AGRANA.

The Company is currently waiting for AGRANA to submit its
reply and for the ICC to appoint a chairperson.

The Company published an announcement on 6 January
2012 on the arbitration brought by AGRANA against the
Company.

On 27 March 2012, the Company filed a separate request for
arbitration in Hong Kong against AGRANA for breach of the
Distribution and Agency Agreement dated 28 February 2008
for failure on the part of AGRANA to perform its obligations
as the distributor to purchase the minimum quantities of
apple juice concentrate specified in the agreement in an
amount of RMB40,128,693, being the gross margin of the
shortfall in the minimum commitments.

Employment and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had a total of 1,471
employees (2010: 1,415 employees). Staff costs including
directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2011
and 31 December 2010 were approximately RMB40,602,000
and approximately RMB34,431,000 respectively. Details of the
emoluments of the Directors and Supervisors and the top five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 12 and
13 to the Financial Statements. The Group’s employment and
remuneration policies remained unchanged from those described
in the prospectus of the Company dated 11 April 2003. The
salaries and benefits of employees of the Group are kept at a
competitive level and employees are rewarded on a performance
related basis within the general framework of the Group’s salary
and bonus system which is reviewed annually. A wide range of
benefits, including statutory compulsory welfare plans, are also
provided to the employees.

Retirement Fund Scheme

The retirement fund scheme is set out in note 7 to the Financial
Statements.
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Directors and Supervisors

During the year 2011 and up to the date of this report, the
Directors and Supervisors of the Company were as follows:
Executive Directors: Wang An and Zhang Hui

Non-executive Lin Wu-Chung, Liu Tsung-Yi and

Directors: Jiang Hong Qi
Independent Yu Shou Neng, Qu Wen, Xu Guang
non-executive Zhou (resigned on 18 January 2011),
Directors: Gong Fan (appointed on 18 January 2011)
and Chow Kam Hung (appointed on 18

January 2011)
Supervisors: Wang Chun Tang, Li Ye Sheng and Li Kun

Gui

Length of Term of Non-executive Directors

Except for the two existing independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Gong Fan and Mr. Chow Kam Hung, each of the
Directors and Supervisors (including the independent non-
executive Directors and Supervisors) has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years. Each of Mr.
Gong Fan and Mr. Chow Kam Hung has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term commencing from 18
January 2011 until the conclusion of the Company’s annual general
meeting to be held in the year of 2013.

None of the Directors or Supervisors had entered into any service
contract with the Company which is not terminable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Independence of Independent non-executive
Directors

The Company confirms that the Company has received written
independence status confirmation from all independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. All independent non-executive Directors are considered as
independent.
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Change of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management

Mr. Gong Fan and Mr. Chow Kam Hung were appointed as
independent non-executive Directors on 18 January 2011. Mr. Xu
Guang Zhou resigned as an independent non-executive Director on
18 January 2011. Save as disclosed herein, there was no material
change to the directors, supervisors and senior management of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Management Contracts

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the reporting period.

Connected Transactions

[ On 12 April 2011, Andre Pectin (as purchaser) entered
into the Longkou Share Transfer Agreement with Longkou
Andre Juice (as vendor) and Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff
whereby Andre Pectin agreed to purchase from Longkou
Andre Juice, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
75% equity interest in Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff at a cash
consideration of RMB3,201,873.19. Under the Listing Rules,
Andre Pectin is an associate of Shandong Andre Group Co.,
Ltd.* (LR ZEFEBERAR]) (“Andre Group”), which is a
substantial shareholder of the Company and controls 37.9%
interest in Andre Pectin; Andre Pectin is also an associate
of Mr. Wang An, who is a director of the Company and
indirectly controls 37.9% interest in Andre Pectin through his
90% interest in Andre Group. Therefore, Andre Pectin is a
connected person of the Company and the Longkou Share
Transfer Agreement constituted a connected transaction
of the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As the relevant percentage ratios in relation to the
Longkou Share Transfer Agreement were more than 0.1%
but less than 5% and the total consideration is more than
HK$1,000,000, the Longkou Share Transfer Agreement was
subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

* For identification purpose only
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The terms of the Longkou Share Transfer Agreement were
negotiated on an arm’s length basis with reference to the
appraised net assets value of Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff
as at 31 December 2010. The Directors considered that
the terms of the Longkou Share Transfer Agreement were
entered into on normal commercial terms and were fair
and reasonable and were in the interest of the Group and
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

On 7 December 2011, (1) Longkou Andre Juice (as
purchaser) entered into the Longkou Bio-feedstuff Equity
Transfer Agreement with Andre Pectin (as vendor) whereby
Andre Pectin agreed to transfer to Longkou Andre Juice
its 75% equity interest in Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff
at a total consideration of RMB2,864,016.19; (2) Baishui
Andre Juice (as purchaser) entered into the Baishui Bio-
feedstuff Equity Transfer Agreement with Andre Pectin (as
vendor) whereby Andre Pectin agreed to transfer to Baishui
Andre Juice, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
its 75% equity interest in Baishui Bio-feedstuff at a total
consideration of RMB3,425,988.68; and (3) Xuzhou Andre
Juice (as purchaser) entered into the Xuzhou Pomace
Equity Transfer Agreement with Andre Pectin (as vendor)
whereby Andre Pectin agreed to transfer to Xuzhou Andre
Juice, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, its 75%
equity interest in Xuzhou Pomace at a total consideration of
RMB3,018,784.46. The total consideration payable by the
Group to Andre Pectin was RMB9,308,789.33.

As Andre Pectin is a connected person of the Company and
the acquisitions in Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff, Baishui
Bio-feedstuff and Xuzhou Pomace constituted connected
transactions of the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. In order to calculate the relevant percentage
ratio (as defined under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules),
the Company aggregated the three acquisitions pursuant
to Rules 14A.25 and 14A.26 of the Listing Rules. As the
relevant aggregate percentage ratios were more than 0.1%
but less than 5%, the transactions contemplated under the
Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff Equity Transfer Agreement,
Baishui Bio-feedstuff Equity Transfer Agreement and Xuzhou
Pomace Equity Transfer Agreement were therefore subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, but were exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement.
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The Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
considered that the terms of the Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff
Equity Transfer Agreement, Baishui Bio-feedstuff Equity
Transfer Agreement and Xuzhou Pomace Equity Transfer
Agreement were entered into on normal commercial terms
and were fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Group
and shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Continuing Connected Transactions

On 27 May 2010, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Andre Pectin for the sale of pomace to Andre
Pectin and determined the annual caps for the sale of pomace
for the three years ended 31 December 2012. The framework
agreement took effect on 1 January 2010 and shall expire on 31
December 2012.

As of the date of signing the above framework agreement, the H
shares of the Company were listed on the GEM and the Company
was therefore subject to the GEM Listing Rules. Andre Pectin was
an associate of Andre Group, which was a substantial shareholder
of the Company and controlled 40% interest in Andre Pectin as
of the date of signing the agreement; Andre Pectin was also an
associate of Mr. Wang An, who was a Director and indirectly
controlled 40% interest in Andre Pectin through his 80% interest
in Andre Group. Therefore, Andre Pectin was a connected
person of the Company. The sale of pomace by the Company to
Andre Pectin as contemplated under the framework agreement
constituted continuing connected transactions under the GEM
Listing Rules. As each of the applicable percentage ratios was less
than 2.5%, the transactions under the framework agreement were
only subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
applicable disclosure requirements in accordance with the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Under the framework agreement, the pomace products shall
be sold to Andre Pectin in accordance with the following pricing
principles (and in the following order):

- price prescribed by the PRC government; or

- where there is no government-prescribed price, the guidance
price set by the PRC government; or

- where there is neither government-prescribed price nor
government guidance price, a price determined through
tender process or other available market price; or

- where none of the above is applicable or available, a price
to be agreed between the parties. The agreed price shall
be calculated based on the reasonable costs incurred in
providing the pomace products plus reasonable profits.
In setting the price, the parties may refer to the prices for
previous relevant transactions, if available.

The annual transaction cap was determined based on the historical
amounts of pomace sold by the Group to Andre Pectin for the two
financial years ended 31 December 2009. The cap for the year
ended 31 December 2011 was RMB5,000,000.

The actual sale of pomace by the Group to Andre Pectin for the
year ended 31 December 2011 was RMB2,381,980 and is subject
to annual review requirement under the Listing Rules.

All the independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions had been conducted on normal
commercial terms or on terms no less favourable than those
available to independent third parties under the prevailing local
market conditions and were entered into the Group’s ordinary and
usual course of business, and were fair and reasonable and in the
best interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Based on the work performed, the auditors of the Company
have confirmed in a letter to the Board to the following effect with
respect to the continuing connected transactions of the Company
that such transactions:

(i) have received approval from the Board;
(i)  were conducted in accordance to the pricing policy;

(i)  have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing such transactions; and

(iv) have not exceeded the cap amount for the financial
year ended 31 December 2011 disclosed in the relevant
announcement.

Related Party Transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group entered
into transactions with related parties as set out in note 37 to the
Financial Statements. Some of these related party transactions
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Supervisors’ Interest in Contracts

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors or the
Supervisors had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company was a party in 2011.

Directors’, Supervisors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)) which were (a) required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); and (b) required to be recorded in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO
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or as

otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the required standard of dealings by the directors of

the C

ompany as referred to in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

were as follows:

Name of Class of Number of
Directors Shares shares held Capacity
EEpE R FERGEE 51
Wang An Domestic 1,188,105,006 (L) Interest of controlled
(Note 1) Shares corporations (Note 2)
B WEK  1,188,105,006(K) R EERER
(P3E1) (KE2)
H Shares 17,085,000 (L) Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 3)
H& 17,085,000 (&) Rt EEER
(FizE3)
Liu Tsung-Yi H Shares 1,954,000 (L) Beneficial owner
2RE H& 1,954,000 (&) EREEA

Notes:

The letter “L” denotes a long position.

1

As at 31 December 2011, Mr. Wang An, a Director of the Company,
controlled (a) 90% interest in China Pingan Investment Holdings
Limited, which held 441,519,606 Domestic Shares and 17,085,000
H Shares, representing 10.35% and 0.40% interests in the total
issued share capital of the Company, respectively; and (b) 90%
interest in Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd.* (IR Z{EF|E @ AR A
A]), which held 746,585,400 Domestic Shares, representing 17.50%
interest in the total issued share capital of the Company.

Mr. Wang An was deemed to be interested in these Domestic
Shares through his interests in China Pingan Investment Holdings
Limited and Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd.* (IIER Z = F|E @B AR
RA]).

The long position in 17,085,000 H Shares was held by China
Pingan Investment Holdings Limited. Mr. Wang An was deemed to
be interested in these H Shares through his 90% interest in China
Pingan Investment Holdings Limited.

* For identification purpose only
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Substantial

Interests and Short Positions

Shareholders’ and Other Persons’
in the Shares,

Underlying Shares and Debentures of the

Company

As at 31 December 2011, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors and chief
executive of the Company) had interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which
were discloseable under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
and recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to

section 336 of the SFO:

Name of
shareholders

BRES

China Pingan Investment
Holdings Limited

Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd.*
(LRZENEEERAR)

Donghua Fruit Industry Co., Ltd.

Uni-President Enterprises Corp.

F-ERHERAT

Class of shares

RGEH

Domestic
Shares

WA

H Shares
Hix

Domestic
Shares

MAR

Domestic
Shares

MAR

Domestic
Shares

WA

* For identification purpose only
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Number of
shares held Capacity

FRRO#E at

441,519,606 ()  Beneficial owner

(Note 1) ERBEEA
441,519,606 (&)
(K1)

17,085,000 (L)  Beneficial owner
17,085,000 (&) EREAA
746,585,400 (L)  Bengficial owner

(Note 2) ERHAA
746,585,400(K)
(M2)
657,794,593 (L)  Beneficial owner
(Note 3) ERBEA
657,794,593 (&)
(H3x3)
637,460,401 (1) Interests of
(Note 4) controlled
637,460,401 (%) corporations
(MzE4) (Note 5)
RiEsEERER
(Fzks)
TRHOBRAR

ol

FERREHEMALTRELFE
7 - EERHREAEEPHERR

23

BEFMRA
B %Kﬁ?ﬁ%
EARRZBM

—F——FTZA=t—

ELEATIRAES
AR R EEE T

BARBERIEEIDETRES 2R
WM ZREMARKE - NERLARRAIR
B(EH LB IR )FE 36 IR REFEZ
Brftr z#am AR ZBRREMAL

LU

Type of
Interest

BLER

Corporate
A7

Corporate
A7

Corporate
NG

Corporate

R

Corporate
A7

Y ERES

Approximate
percentage of
Domestic Shares/
H Shares

RiEmER/
HRED L

17.62% (L) (&)

097% V(&)

29.80% () (%)

26.26% (L) (K)

25.44% () (&)

Approximate
percentage of
total share
capital
HEBRA
BAK

10.35% () (R)

040% (L) (£)

17.50% (U (&)

15.42% () (R)

14.94% () (R)



Name of
shareholders

RRES

Atlantis Capital Holdings Limited

Norges Bank

Mitsui & Co., Ltd.
SHMERS gt

JP Morgan Chase & Co.

HSBC Global Asset Management
(Hong Kong) Limited (Formerly
known as HSBC Investments

(Hong Kong) Limited)

HSBC Global Asset Management
(Hong Kong) Limited (&7 A

HSBC Investments
(Hong Kong) Limited)

Class of shares

ByEE

H Shares
Hix

H Shares
Hix

H Shares
Hi

H Shares

HIX

H Shares
Hix

Number of
shares held

FERGHE

320,000,000 (L)
(Note 6)
320,000,000(&)
(GED)

123,360,000 ()
123,360,000(&)

213,400,000 (L)
(Note 7)
213,400,000(&)
(Wi37)

123,360,000 (1
123,360,000(%)

123,360,000 (P)
(Note 8)
123,360,000 (&)
(R

102,250,000 (1)
102,250,000 (&)

Capacity
af

Beneficial owner

EaBAA

Beneficial owner

BRBEAA

Beneficial owner

ERfBBA

Custodian
corporation/
approved
lending agent
BRE/
RERLREA

Investment
manager

hEmE

Type of
Interest

REEE

Corporate
AL

Corporate
A7

Corporate
A7

Corporate

N

Corporate
A7)

Approximate
percentage of
Domestic Shares/
H Shares
HiERER/
HREZ L

18.18% (L) (&)

701% (1) (§)

12.12% (1) (&)

7.01% V(&)

7.01% (P)(f&)

5.80% (L) (&)

. e, il

Approximate
percentage of
total share
capital
HEBRA
BAl

7.50% (L) (&)

2.90% (1) (%)

5.00% (L)(&)

2.90% () (%)

2.90% (P) ()

240% (L)(&)
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Notes:

The letter “L” denotes a long position. The letter “P” denotes interests in a
lending pool.

(1) Mr. Wang An, a Director of the Company, was deemed to be
interested in these Domestic Shares through his 90% interest in
China Pingan Investment Holdings Limited.

2) Mr. Wang An, a Director of the Company, was deemed to be
interested in these Domestic Shares through his 90% interest in
Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd.* (1L ZEF|EBERAF]) .

(8)  The long position in 657,794,593 Domestic Shares was directly
held by Donghua Fruit Industry Co., Ltd.. Based on the information
provided by Donghua Fruit Industry Co., Ltd., Mr. Zhang Jiaming is
deemed to be interested in these 657,794,593 Domestic Shares.

(4)  The long position in 637,460,401 Domestic Shares was held by
Uni-President China Holdings Ltd., a non wholly-owned subsidiary
of Uni-President Enterprises Corp. (fi—1EBRMHARAAD),
through its two wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely, Chengdu
President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. (X#&—DEREREARA
7)), which held 424,183,601 Domestic Shares, and Guangzhou
President Enterprises Co., Ltd. (BN —1ZBFRAF]), which held
213,276,800 Domestic Shares.

5) Pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, Uni-President Enterprises Corp.
(Z—1ERMBRAR) was deemed to be interested in such
637,460,401 Domestic Shares. The 637,460,401 Domestic Shares
were held by a series of controlled corporations of Uni-President
Enterprises Corp. (#i— 1R HBRAF]), of which 424,183,601
Domestic Shares, representing approximately 9.94% of the total
issued share capital of the Company, were held directly by Chengdu
President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. (X #—tE2BmABRAE])
and 213,276,800 Domestic Shares, representing approximately 5%
of the total issued share capital of the Company, were held directly
by Guangzhou President Enterprises Co., Ltd. (BM&E—DEAREA
al).

6) According to the public information available on the website of the
Stock Exchange, Atlantis Capital Holdings Limited was a 100%
controlled corporation of Liu Yang; Liu Yang was deemed to be
interested in such 320,000,000 H Shares.

(7) After the capitalization issue of shares by the Company in 2007, the
number of H Shares held by Mitsui & Co., Ltd. was adjusted from
97,000,000 H shares to 213,400,000 H shares.

8) According to the public information available on the website of the
Stock Exchange, these H Shares were held directly by JP Morgan
Chase Bank N.A., a wholly-owned subsidiary of JP Morgan Chase &
Co..

*
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Competing Interests

Mr. Wang An, a Director, through his controlled corporation, Andre
Group, has 37.90% equity interests in Andre Pectin. The Company
currently has 18.95% equity interests in Andre Pectin.

Andre Pectin was incorporated on 25 September 2003. Upon
incorporation, Andre Pectin was owned as to 75% by the
Company and 25% by Yantai North Andre Juice Inc., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the United
States of America. Following the completion of the restructuring of
Andre Pectin in 2005, Andre Pectin ceased to be a subsidiary of
the Company, and was owned as to 40% by Andre BVI, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and as to 35% by Bytetron
Limited and 25% by Richride Investments Limited, both were
strategic investors. Further information about such restructuring
has been disclosed in the relevant announcement and circular of
the Company dated 16 March 2005 and 4 April 2005 respectively.

On 10 March and 15 May 2009, Bytetron Limited entered into two
separate share transfer agreements and transferred its 25% and
5% equity interests, respectively, in Andre Pectin to Andre Group.

On 11 November 2009, Andre BVI entered into several share
transfer agreements to transfer its 40% equity interests in Andre
Pectin, as to () 10% to Andre Group; (i) 20% to the Company;
and (i) 10% to Richride Investments Limited, respectively. Further
information about such agreements and transactions has been
disclosed in the relevant announcement of the Company dated 11
November 2009.

On 28 May 2010, Richride Investments Limited entered into a
share transfer agreement and transferred its 10% equity interests
in Andre Pectin to an independent third party, namely, Meng Yu
Corporation Pte. Ltd.. Upon the completion of the aforementioned
share transfers, Andre Pectin is owned as to 40% by Andre Group,
25% by Richride Investments Limited, 20% by the Company, 10%
by Meng Yu Corporation Pte. Ltd. and 5% by an independent third
party, namely, Yantai Anlin Fruit Industry Co., Ltd.* ( (& TR
BBR A 7)) (which was transferred to it by Bytetron Limited).

On 24 December 2010, Andre Pectin increased its registered share
capital, which was contributed entirely by a new investor. On the
same date, Richride Investments Limited transferred its 25% equity
interests in Andre Pectin to the new investor who contributed to
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the new capital increased and two other new investors. Upon
completion of the capital increase and transfers, Andre Pectin is
owned as to 37.90% by Andre Group, 18.95% by the Company,
4.74% by Yantai Anlin Fruit Industry Co., Ltd.* (A& ZHREERR
A7), 9.47% by Meng Yu Corporation Pte. Ltd., and the remaining
28.94% equity interests in Andre Pectin are held by the three new
investors, who are independent investors.

The Company currently has 18.95% equity interests in Andre
Pectin. The Company considers that pectin business is no longer
the principal business of the Company, and Mr. Wang An’s holding
37.90% equity interests in Andre Pectin through his controlled
corporation, Andre Group, does not constitute competing business
under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors, the
controlling shareholder of the Company and their respective
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) had any interest in
a business which competes or may compete with the businesses
of the Group or has or may have any other conflicts of the interest
with the Group.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2011.

Practices and Procedures of the Board of
Directors

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Required
Standard”) as the Company’s code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by its Directors. A copy of the Required Standard
was sent to each Director two months before the date of the
Board meeting to approve the Company’s 2011 annual results,
with a reminder that the Directors cannot deal in the securities
and derivatives of the Company until after such results have been
published.

Under the Required Standard, the Directors are required to
notify the Chairman of the Company and receive a dated
acknowledgement in writing before dealing in the securities and
derivatives of the Company and, in the case of the Chairman of
the Company himself, he must notify the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and receive a dated acknowledgement in writing before
any dealing.

* For identification purpose only
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All Directors, upon specific enquiries, have confirmed that they had
complied with the Required Standard during the reporting period.

Specific employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group are also
subject to compliance with the Required Standard. No incident of
non-compliance was noted by the Company for the year ended 31
December 2011.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference based on the guidelines recommended by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control of the Group,
ensuring compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.24 of the Listing Rules.
Currently the Audit Committee comprises four independent non-
executive Directors, namely Gong Fan, who is the chairman of the
Audit Committee, Qu Wen, Yu Shou Neng and Chow Kam Hung.

During the reporting period, the Audit Committee reviewed the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed the internal controls and financial reporting matters
with the Directors, including a review of the annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2011. The Audit Committee held
two meetings during the year with all the then existing members
present.

Auditor

KPMG shall retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

In the past three vyears, the Company’s auditor remained
unchanged.

By Order of the Board of Directors
Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*
Wang An

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2012
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To the Shareholders:

The Supervisory Committee (the “Supervisory Committee”) of
Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*, in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations and the Articles of Association of
the Company, has conducted its work in accordance with the
fiduciary principle, and has taken up an active role to work seriously
and with diligence to protect the interests of the Company and its
shareholders.

During the vyear, the Supervisory Committee had reviewed
cautiously the operation and development plans of the Company
and provided reasonable suggestions and opinions to the
Board. It also strictly and effectively monitored and supervised
the Company’s management in making significant policies and
decisions to ensure that they were in compliance with the laws
and regulations of the PRC and the Articles of Association of the
Company, and in the interests of its shareholders.

We have reviewed and agreed to the report of the Directors,
audited financial statements and the dividend to be proposed
by the Board for presentation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. We are of the opinion that the Directors, the chief
executive officer and other senior management of the Company
are able to strictly observe their fiduciary duty, to act diligently,
to exercise their authority faithfully in the best interests of
the Company and to work in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company. The operation is becoming more
regulated and the internal control is becoming more perfect. The
transactions between the Company and connected parties are
in the interests of the shareholders as a whole and under fair and
reasonable price.
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Up till now, none of the Directors, chief executive officer and senior
management staff had been found to have abused their authority,
damaged the interests of the Company or infringed upon the
interests of its shareholders and employees. None of them was
found to be in breach of any laws and regulations or the Articles of
Association of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee is satisfied with the achievement

and cost-effectiveness of the Company in 2011 and has great
confidence in the future prospect of the Company.

By Order of the Supervisory Committee
Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*
Li Ye Sheng

29 March 2012
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To the shareholders of
Yantai North Andre Juice Company Limited
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yantai
North Andre Juice Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 72 to 172,
which comprise the consolidated and company statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statement that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statement that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’'s preparation of
the consolidated financial statement that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2011 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

29 March 2012
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SfzEKRER

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(AARRZT)

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses

Profit from operations

Net finance costs

Investment income

Share of profit from associates

Profit before taxation
Income tax

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

for the year

Profit attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company
Minority interests

Profit for the year

BE-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFE

for the year ended 31 December 2011

LN
SHERA

=7
HA
HEER
EEER
Hibs e B H

#ERT
BTSN3 R
REWA

i E NIl

FRIRATAT
S

FEERT
Hit 2 mies

HMAZEbaeHE

RYBER :
AREBR
DEIR

FEERT
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Note

10
1

2011 2010
$—%  -T-I%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFT
1,375,705 1,098,701
(1,073,704) (948,208)
302,001 150,493
9,001 42,924
(80,647) (76,609)
(58,150) (29,299)
(2,682) (6,514)
169,523 80,995
(35,826) (38,384)
69,070 9,181
10,154 4,043
212,921 55,835
(4,830) (6,665)
208,091 49,170
208,091 49,170
207,168 49,215
923 (45)
208,091 49,170




Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company
Minority interests

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Basic and diluted
earnings per share

for the year ended 31 December 2011 _.
(Expressed in Renminbi Yua%. L
BE-T -+ A= S

(LN RHS) 7
2011 2010
—E2——% —T-ZF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HieE AR®TTT AREFT
REKSEEABER :
RAFIRE 207,168 49,215
DERER 923 (45)
HAZERE8E
208,091 49,170
ExR#EE
BEREF 16 RMBAE#0.0486 RVMB A R#0.0115

The notes on pages 81 to 172 form part of these financial F81EEF 72BN B AT BRERAN—
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of e BERAAFERNAARKREREZ
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in B FENMIEE15() °

note 15(a).
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B OF B B IR =

at 31 December 2011

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) L ]
RZZE——F+=-A=1+—H
(AABRBEZT)
2011 2010
—E—%F —T—TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MI5E AR®TT AREFIT
ASSETS o5&
Non-current assets EmENEE
Property, plant and equipment e N L] 17(a) 803,090 815,805
Lease prepayments FEN T EE 18 89,687 103,019
Interest in an associate KB R R E 22 60,560 52,470
Goodwil [EES 23 6,019 1,452
Deferred tax assets BEEEE 24(a) 2,329 2,810
Total non-current assets IEMBNEEAS T 961,685 975,556
Current assets MENEE
Short-term investments GHAR & 25 128,488 =
Inventories 7E 26 822,723 791,653
Trade receivables FEUER TR 27 113,886 289,668
Other receivables HAth U R
and prepayments MIERBRR 28 109,769 134,264
Restricted deposits AR BT 31 - 6,400
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRESEEY 32 96,641 142,906
Total current assets MEBEEAR 1,271,507 1,364,891
Total assets BESTT 2,233,192 2,340,447
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BERESRAR
Current liabilities mENEE
Bank borrowings IRITER 33 524,681 740,742
Trade and bills payable ERERERRENER 34 131,346 159,355
Other payables and EAth FET K
accrued expenses KB E F 35 48,224 73,863
Dividends payable FEAT A A 1,545 10,267
Current tax liabilities mENTIR B R 20,775 20,233
Total current liabilities mEBESET 726,571 1,004,460
Net current assets FmB A E 544,936 360,431

74 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. B&LH R EMNRTRDERAT



Total assets less current liabilities

BEEGRABAR

Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Bank borrowings IRITER
Other long-term liabilities HihREIBE
Total non-current liabilities ERBAGBEET
Total liabilities BEERT
Capital and reserves B AR K
Share capital %N
Reserves i
Total equity attributable to equity PN Sy o
shareholders of the Company
Minority interests DERR R
Total equity IR = A ET
Total equity and liabilities BRERREERT

at 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuaf’_:}.. _
KRB F e

(AARBST)
2011 2010
—s—% —T-TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
i ARMTE  ARETR
1,506,621 1,335,987
33 120,000 136,593
249 249
120,249 136,842
846,820 1,141,302

36

426,554 426,554
959,818 767,579
1,386,372 1,194,133
= 5,012
1,386,372 1,199,145
2,233,192 2,340,447

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 March 2012.

EEeRN T —_F=RA-ThBRETEEEL -

Wang An )

IR ) Directors
) BE

Zhang Hui )

RiE )

The notes on pages 81 to 172 form part of these financial
statements.
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LT E

at 31 December 2011

76 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

RE L HZEFNRTROBRAF

5
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) L ]
RZZE——F+=-A=1+—H
(UAREZT)

2011 2010
—E——% —E—TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE AR®TT ARET T
ASSETS B|E
Non-current assets JEmENEE
Property, plant and equipment W% - B NEAE 17(b) 130,054 132,297
Lease prepayments TN T EE 18 31,616 32,448
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR E 19 541,667 459,790
Interest in a jointly controlled entity REREHEERAIRE 21 25,000 129,102
Interest in an associate REEE N FIRRE 22 33,080 33,080
Deferred tax assets B EE 24(a) 2,329 2,810
Total non-current assets IERBEEST 763,746 789,527
Current assets MENEE
Short-term investments HRE 25 97,200 —
Inventories & 26 65,734 369,265
Trade receivables FEUBR 3R 27 63,015 160,111
Other receivables EAth EUGK
and prepayments SEEURE N 28 20,154 98,669
Dividends receivable FEUR AR B 29 195,136 279,315
Amounts due from subsidiaries e DY EENGIE e 30 451,101 294,771
Amounts due from a jointly JE U 2[R 422 )
controlled entity EEEFIR 30 72 43
Restricted deposits BRHIFR 31 - 6,400
Cash and cash equivalents He RReEEY 32 77,643 125,232
Total current assets MEEESRT 970,055 1,333,806

Total assets BEASET 1,733,801 2,123,333

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BRESRAR

Current liabilities mENEE

Bank borrowings IRITEK 33 382,965 527,742
Trade and bills payable EERRRENEE 34 56,454 79,186
Other payables and HA B

accrued expenses MIERE R 35 13,883 13,990
Dividends payable FERTRRF 1,545 10,267
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN EENGIE e 30 100,334 275,201
Amounts due to a jointly AT LR

controlled entity EEEFIR 30 - 51,024
Total current liabilities mBBESR 555,181 957,410




Net current assets

FRBEE

BEATRRBAE

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities JEmEAE
Bank borrowings RITER
Total liabilities BEAF
Capital and reserves AR R (4
Share capital &N
Reserves (G
Total equity AR A AT
Total equity and liabilities BREEERAESR

(AAEEZT)

2011 2010
2% —T-TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt E AR®TT AREETT
414,874 376,396
1,178,620 1,165,923
33 120,000 136,593
675,181 1,094,003

36
426,554 426,554
632,066 602,776
1,058,620 1,029,330
1,733,801 2,123,333

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 March 2012.

EEeRN T —F=A-ThBRETEERED -

Wang An )

IR ) Directors
) =

Zhang Hui )

R )

The notes on pages 81 to 172 form part of these financial
statements.
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U D110
SHBEERE
for the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
HE—Z——F+-A=1T—HILFE
(AAEBST)

78 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables

Decrease in other receivables
and prepayments

Decrease/(increase) in restricted deposits

(Increase)/decrease in trade

Cash flow from operating wEREHEEN
activities BaRE
Profit before taxation BRA AT 7
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation e
Amortisation of lease prepayments TE T b & 2
Interest expenses REEA
Interest income MEMA
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEME  BE MK
plant and equipment H b 5 AR E A Y
and land use right (Wzs), 1B
Gain from bargain purchase M ARl 2 B
of subsidiaries Wiz
Investment income WEWA
Share of profit from associates FE(GESE & R B A
Operating profit before changes MENE B EYA]
in working capital pd S=bi v

& GEm),w

U BRSO A, (450)

H At UK e TR R K
VG

BREIFETRD,(En)

e BRFR K B R 4B

and bills payable (3hn),/ m
Decrease in other payables H bR R TFETR
and accrued expenses =02 h
Cash generated from operations KEEA RS
Income tax paid SN IR
Interest paid ZTEFLE
Interest received WE B E
Net cash generated from BEITDZHREEE
operating activities BE

RE L HZEFNRTROBRAF

Note
b

20(b)

A o
2011 2010
—®—% —T-%%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
212,921 55,835
37,747 39,730
2,648 2,512
35,732 41,114
(1,067) (2,757)
(1,075) 14
(5) -
(69,070) 9,181)
(10,154) (4,043)
207,677 123,224
(25,514) 75,840
159,807 (191,952)
7,720 3,917
6,400 (2,106)
(28,206) 75,680
40,631 8,697
368,515 93,300
(4,589) (1,427)
(35,732) (41,114)
1,067 2,757
329,261 53,516



Cash flow from investing activities

Payments for the purchase of property,
plant and equipment
Acquisition of subsidiaries,
net of cash acquired
Payments for the purchase of short-term
investments
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment and land use right
Proceeds from disposal of
equity interests of subsidiaries,
net of cash disposed of
Proceeds from disposal of equity interests
of a jointly controlled entity,
net of cash disposed of
Proceeds from disposal of
short-term investments
Repayments of advances to third parties

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from new bank borrowings
Repayments of bank borrowings
Dividends paid

Net cash used in
financing activities

Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year

The notes on pages 81 to 172 form part

statements.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

for the year ended 31 December 2011

BE-2——F1-A=ft—BubE |

Note
bz
BRETHEEMTRLRE

BEVE  BEX
&

Y BB A A
(EMBRBE2RE)

BEEHKRE

20

HEYE - BB KR EE
T {E PR 1S FOR

HEMB QRIS
PSR (B R
HEZRE)

HE A FEEHI B B
FrSsR (BB E
ZHE)

HERRREMRS
IR

FE=TTEMN

RREBHZR AN PH

RATDHELNRERE
FIBIRITEK
BEBITER

EfAE

wRERHZ

B&i iR

BeRieSRMAD
BH

FNZHRER
Be®REY

FEXZHRER
Re®REY

of these financial

#Bin ©

EOEERER

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(UABEHEST)
2011 2010
—2—5F —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBFT
(44,114) (64,391)
(64,110) -
(1,638,930) (92,000)
17,581 12,984
17,043 4,991
104,553 -
1,498,756 93,921
- 4,900
(109,221) (39,595)
452,554 880,841
(695,208) (955,919)
(23,651) (14,647)
(266,305) (89,725)
(46,265) (75,804)
142,906 218,710
96,641 142,906

FS1BEEF172 BB AN BHREN—
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(AARRZT)

At1 January 2010

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Aopropriations

Dividends to equty shareholders
of the Company

At 31 December 2010

At1 January 2011

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Aopropritions

Dividends to equty shareholders
of the Company

Disposal of a subsidiary with
minorty interests

At 31 December 2011

Ho2-%5-4-8
BeEEee

L
HERETAAT
BR

HN-B-E12R
=1-H

e

L
PRRE FALA
BE
RE)URRER

i
=t

ERRERESH R

for the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
HE—Z——F+-A=1T—HILFE

Note
izt

3(c)

3(c)

Total equity

attributable

to equity

shareholders
Share Capital Share Statutory Retained of the Minority Total
capital surplus premium Teserves eamings  Company interests equity

FUFRR
IR BiEEE  JBRR BRER
Bs  EBOR  RBER  ERGG i@ it fig it
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB1000
AREFT  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR AREAR
426,554 10 143,53 129,082 80716 1159847 5067 1164904
= = = = 49215 49215 (45 49170
- - - AL (1174) - - -
- - - - (14929 (14929 - (14929
426,504 10 143,53 136,206 8788 1194183 5012 119914
426,554 10 143,53 136,206 8188 119413 5012 1,199,145
- - - - 207,168 27,168 923 208,091
- - - 18,699 (18,699) - - -
- - - - (14,929 (14.929) - (14.929)
- - - - - - (5,99 (5,99
426,554 10 143,53 154,905 061,368 1,366,372 - 1386972

The notes on pages 81 to 172 form part of these financial

statements.
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Organisation and principal activities

Yantai North Andre Juice Company Limited (the “Company”)
was established in the form of a Sino-foreign equity joint
venture in Yantai, Shandong province, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) on 30 March 1996.

With the approval from the Ministry of Commerce (formerly
the Ministry of Foreign Trade and Economic Cooperation) of
the PRC, the legal form of the Company was changed from
that of a Sino-foreign equity joint venture to a Sino-foreign
joint stock limited company on 26 June 2001.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in the production and
sale of condensed juice.

Significant accounting policies

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) promulgated by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”). IFRSs include all applicable
individual International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and related
interpretations. These financial statements also comply with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is set
out below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 3
provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current
and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

Bt %5 ¥R R MY

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

-
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HEMEERRE

BETLZEANRABRNDER QA
(ITARRADRR—ANRNEFE=ZA=1
BEPEARKMBE(HE]) LR
EREMEMKIZHNFIEELED
o,

“ETFRAZTRAKLHEAR
HEMBEEBH(RYINEZRBEEIE
B RATHBPINEGELED
XBERTINEEBRMARAT

ARBREMBAR (AT [ANEE])
TERNFLEEMHERERT

FREHBE

BRI RIRIBABRER ST ERZR
8 2 78 R B R B 7 i 15 22 1D 4R
o ZERNBEMEERANERNKE
By BmEER) (B &5 ER)D
RIARERERE - WM BHRRITNTEER
(RRIGHD B BREREARBTEH S
RZABRARC ETRADFER
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ATBERR TIIRE -
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2

PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a)

82 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements as at and for
the year ended 31 December 2011 comprise the
Company, its subsidiaries and the Group’s interests in
jointly controlled entities and associates.

The financial statements are prepared on the historical
cost basis, except where stated otherwise in the
accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance
with IFRSs requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgments about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgments made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of
material adjustment in the next year are disclosed in
Note 41.

RELHZEFNRTROBRAF

2
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AP (48)
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b) Basis of consolidation

(i)

Subsidiaries and minority interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
Control exists when the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases.

Minority interests represent the portion of the net
assets of subsidiaries attributable to interests that
are not owned by the Company, whether directly
or indirectly through subsidiaries, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which
would result in the Group as a whole having
a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. Minority interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Minority
interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as an allocation of the
total profit or loss for the year between minority
interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or jointly controlled
entity (Note 2(c)).

B 75 4R % Mt

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(UAREIT)

EFEEEHBR ()
(b) EHIEE
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HEERR - EHRIEAE
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84 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

NOTE 0 2
B A R R MY aE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b) Basis of consolidation (cont’d)
(i) Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or
the Company has significant influence, but not
control or joint control, over its management,
including participation in the financial and

operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under
the equity method, unless it is classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal group that
is classified as held for sale). Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s
share of the acquisition-date fair values of the
investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of
the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and
any impairment loss relating to the investment
(Note 2(e) and (K)(ii)). Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised
in profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.
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2

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(i)

()

Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which
operates under a contractual arrangement
between the Group or the Company and other
parties, where the contractual arrangement
establishes that the Group or the Company
and one or more of the other parties share joint
control over the economic activity of the entity.

Investments in jointly controlled entities are
accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements on a proportionate consolidation
basis. Under this method, the Group combines
its proportionate share of the jointly controlled
entities” turnover and expenses with each major
turnover and expense caption of the Group’s
statement of comprehensive income and
combines its proportionate share of the jointly
controlled entities” assets and liabilities with each
major asset and liability caption of the Group’s
statement of financial position, from the date that
joint control commences until the date that joint
control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and
any unrealised gains arising from intra-group
transactions, are elminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
gains arising from transactions with associates and
jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interest in the entities. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(c)

(d)

86 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled
entities and associates

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities
and associates in the Company’s statement of financial
position are stated at cost less impairment losses (Note
2 (K)).

Profits or losses on disposal of investments in
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
investments and are accounted for in profit or loss as
they arise.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses (Note 2(k)).

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and
any direct attributable costs of bringing the asset to
working condition and location for its intended use.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item. They are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost, less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
The estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are as follows:

Estimated Estimated rate
useful life of residual value
Buildings 40 years 10%
Machinery and equipment 20 years 10%
Motor vehicles 5 years 10%
Office equipment 5 years 10%

In respect of assets which are used for production of
goods for only part of the year, due to seasonal factors,
the full year’s depreciation charge is allocated on a
systematic basis to the periods during the year in which
the assets are used for production.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the
useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount
of the item if it is probable that the future economic
benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group
and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The
costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses (Note 2(k)).
construction as well as interest expense capitalised during

Cost comprises direct costs of

the periods of construction and installation. Capitalisation
of these costs ceases and the construction in progress
is transferred to property, plant and equipment when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the assets for their intended use are completed. No
depreciation is provided for in respect of construction in
progress until it is completed and ready for its intended
use.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

U]

88 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and
is tested annually for impairment (Note 2(k)).

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of a business combination is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in
the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group’s and the Company’s policies for
investments in debt and equity securities, other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially
stated at fair value, which is their transaction price
unless fair value can be more reliably estimated using
valuation techniques whose variables include only data
from observable markets. Cost includes attributable
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification:
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

U]

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(cont’d)

Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end
of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured,
with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss does not include any dividends or interest earned
on these investments as these are recognised in
accordance with the policies set out in note 2(0).

Dated debt securities that the group and/or the
Company have the positive ability and intention to hold
to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity securities.
Held-to-maturity securities are stated at amortised cost
less impairment losses (see note 2(k)).

Investments in equity securities that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured are recognised in the
statement of financial position at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(k)).
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(f)

(9)

90 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(cont’d)

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of
the above categories are classified as available-for-
sale securities. At the end of each reporting period
the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain
or loss being recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the
fair value reserve, except foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from changes in the amortised cost
of monetary items such as debt securities which are
recognised directly in profit or loss. Dividend income
from these investments is recognised in profit or loss
in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(0)
and, where these investments are interest-bearing,
interest calculated using the effective interest method
is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(0). When these investments
are derecognised or impaired (see note 2(k)), the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss.

Investments are recognised / derecognised on the date
the Group commits to purchase /sell the investments or
they expire.

Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent payments made to
acquire land use rights. Land use rights are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses (Note 2(k)). Amortisation is charged to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the respective periods
of the land use rights.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(h)

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based
on the weighted-average cost principle, and includes
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories,
production or conversion costs and other costs
incurred in bringing them to their existing location and
condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and
work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share
of production overheads based on normal operating
capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense of the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at
fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (Note 2(Kk)),
except where the receivables are interest-free loans
made to related parties without any fixed repayment
terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial.
In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

0

(k)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition.

Impairment of assets

(i)

92 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Impairment of investment in debt and equity
securities and trade and other receivables
Investment in debt and equity securities and
trade and other receivables that are stated at
cost or amortised cost or are clarified as available
for sale securities are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period to determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the Group about
one or more of the following loss events:

= significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

= it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

= significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

= a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(k)

Impairment of assets (cont’d)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

(i)

Impairment of investment in debt and equity
securities and trade and other receivables
(cont’d)

For investments in subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entities (including those
recognised using the equity method), the
impairment loss is measured by comparing the
recoverable amount of the investment with its
carrying amount in accordance with note 2(k)(ii).
The impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount in accordance

with note 2(k)(ii).

For trade and other receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the assets’ carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial assets’ original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition of these
assets), where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively
where financial assets carried at amortised
cost share similar risk characteristics, such
as similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash
flows for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.
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NOLC U C
B A R R MY aE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(k) Impairment of assets (cont’d)

() Impairment of investment in debt and equity
securities and trade and other receivables

(cont’d)

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be linked objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would
have been determined had no impairment loss

recognised in prior years.

For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative
loss that has been recognised in the fair value
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. The
amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised
in profit or loss is the difference between the
acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment
and amortisation) and current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that asset previously

recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss
in respect of available-for-sale equity securities
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value of such
assets is recognised in other comprehensive

income.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale
debt securities are reversed if the subsequent
increase in fair value can be objectively related
to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised. Reversals of impairment losses
in such circumstances are recognised in profit or

loss.
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2

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(k)

Impairment of assets (cont’d)

(i)

Impairment of investment in debt and equity
securities and trade and other receivables
(cont’d)

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly,
impairment losses recognised

except for
in respect of
trade debtors and bills receivable included within
trade and other receivables, whose recovery is
considered doubtful but not remote. In this case,
the impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When the
Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the
amount considered irrecoverable is written off
against trade debtors and bills receivable directly
and any amounts held in the allowance account
relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to
the allowance account are reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off directly are
recognised in profit or loss.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(k) Impairment of assets (cont’d)

(i)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;

- lease prepayments;

= intangible assets other than goodwill;

- investment in subsidiaries;

- interest in jointly controlled entities;

- interest in associates; and

- goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition,
for goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is
estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(k)

Impairment of assets (cont’d)
Impairment of other assets (cont’d)

(i)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its net selling price and
value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss whenever the carrying amount of an
asset, or the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwiil
alocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs to sell, or value in use, if determinable.
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PR R EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(k)

Impairment of assets (cont’d)

(i)

(i)

98 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Impairment of other assets (cont’d)

- Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwiill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised
Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the year in which the

in prior years.

reversals are recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

The Group is required to prepare an interim
financial report in compliance with IAS 34,
Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first
six months of the financial year. At the end of
the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year

(Notes 2(K)() and (i)

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill are not reversed in
a subsequent period. This is the case even if no
loss, or smaller loss, would have been recognised
had the impairment been assessed only at the
end of the financial year to which the interim
period relates.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

U]

(m)

(n)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised and

redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over

Subsequent to initial recognition,

the period of the borrowings, together with any interest
and fees payable, using the effective interest method.

Trade payables, bills payable and other payables

Trade payables, bills payable and other payables are
initially recognised at fair value and subsequently stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected

to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote.
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Notes to the Financial Statemgnts |

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
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B3 5 % B i

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(o)

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the

consideration received or receivable. Provided

it is

probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group, and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can

be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or

loss as follows:

(i)

(i)

(i)

Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the customers. No revenue is recognised
if there are significant uncertainties regarding
recovery of the consideration due, associated
costs, or the possible return of goods.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

Dividend

= Dividend income from unlisted investments
is recognised when the shareholder’s right
to receive payment is established.

= Dividend income from listed investments
is recognised when the share price of the
investment goes ex-dividend.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(p)

Expenses

(i)

(i)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.
Other borrowing costs are expensed in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part
of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended
or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives
received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payment
made.
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
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PR R EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(UARRZT)

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(q)

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term benefits
Salaries, wages, bonuses and other benefits and
the cost to the Group of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees of the
Group.

(i) Defined contribution retirement plans
Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans are accrued
in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees of the Group.
The contribution payables under the Group’s
retirement plans are recognised as expense in
profit or loss as incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for cost of an asset are recognised in profit
or loss as revenue on a systematic basis over the
useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expenses.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(s)

(t)

Income tax
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises
current and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability
method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided
is based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Foreign currency transactions

The Group’s functional and presentation currency
is Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign currency transactions
during the vyear are translated into RMB at the
applicable rates of exchange quoted by the People’s
Bank of China (“PBOC”) prevailing on the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated into RMB at the
applicable PBOC rates ruling at the end of reporting
period. Foreign exchange differences arising from
translation are recognised as income or expense in
profit or loss.

The overseas subsidiaries are considered to be an
integral part of the Company’s operations. Accordingly,
the related foreign exchange differences arising on
translation are also recognised in profit or loss.
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

2  Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 2 FESHEEGE)
(u) Related parties (u EABER
(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s @ FEUATHREZ—HATLT

family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b)
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same Group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which
the other entity is a member).
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(u)

Related parties (cont’d)

(i

v)

(V)

(vii)

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)() has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

Close family members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected to

influence, or be influenced by, that person in their

dealings with the entity.
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PR R EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

3 Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued a number of amendments to IFRSs and
one new Interpretation that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Of these,
the following developments are relevant to the Group’s
financial statements:

o IAS 24 (revised 2009), Related party disclosures

o Improvements to IFRSs (2010)

° Amendments to IFRIC 14, IAS 19 - The limit on a
defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements
and their interaction — Prepayments of a minimum
funding requirement

° IFRIC 19, Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity
instruments
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Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

The amendments to IFRIC 14 have had no material impact
on the Group’s financial statements as they were consistent
with policies already adopted by the Group. IFRIC 19 has not
yet had a material impact on the Group’s financial statements
as these changes will first be effective as and when the
Group enters a relevant transaction (for example, a debt for
equity swap).

The impacts of other developments are discussed below:

o IAS 24 (revised 2009) revises the definition of a related
party. As a result, the Group has re-assessed the
identification of related parties and concluded that the
revised definition does not have any material impact on
the Group’s related party disclosures in the current and
previous period. IAS 24 (revised 2009) also introduces
modified disclosure requirements for government
related entities. This does not impact the Group
because the Group is not a government-related entity.

° Improvements to IFRSs (2010) omnibus standard
introduces a number of amendments to the disclosure
requirements in IFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures. The disclosures about the Group’s
financial instruments in Note 38 have been conformed
to the amended disclosure requirements. These
amendments do not have any material impact on the
classification, recognition and measurements of the
amounts recognised in the financial statements in the
current and previous periods.
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PR R EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

Turnover and segment information

Turnover primarily represents income arising from the sales of
condensed juice net of value added tax.

No segment information is presented during the year as the
Group is principally engaged in one operating segment which
is the manufacture and sale of condensed juice and related
products. The Group operates in the PRC and its major
assets are located in the PRC.

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes two
customers with whom transactions have exceeded 10%
of the Group’s revenues. In 2011 revenues from sales of
condensed juice to these two customers amounted to
approximately RMB152 million (2010: RMB134 million) and
RMB145 million (2010: RMB130 million) respectively. Details
of concentrations of credit risk arising from these customers
are set out in note 38(a).

The following is an analysis of the Group’s turnover by
geographical market:

North America b3
Europe B
Asia M
Oceania AAEM
Others Efth
Total BE
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320,699 339,082
308,216 229,120
462,741 311,376
199,353 115,329
84,696 103,794
1,375,705 1,098,701




Other income

Sales of packaging materials HEREMR

Government grants BT 4 B
Compensation income fERA
Others Efth
Total Bt

() Compensation income
Compensation income for the year ended 31
December 2011 represents the land acquisition
compensation agreed with and received from the
government authority during the year.

Other operating expenses

Cost of packaging materials sold 247 §5 & B AR

Others HA
Total =X

6

Hfthlg A

2011 2010
—E—F —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFIT
890 6,819
2,981 23,483
(i 1,537 9,261
3,593 3,361
9,001 42,924

(i) FEEVRA

BE-2——4F+-A=t-
B A R BB 2P
PR 580 1 21 9 30 0 A

%}ll’\ o

Hftig 28 M
2011 2010
——% -T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARWTRE  ARETI
687 5,277
1,995 1,237
2,682 6,514
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

7 Personnel expenses

Salaries, wages and staff welfare #& « T& KRB TE7
Contributions to retirement RO RT3k
benefit schemes

Total A&t

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the Group
participates in various defined contribution retirement
plans organised by municipal governments for its staff. The
Group is required to make contributions to the retirement
plans at 20% (2010: 20%) of the salaries, bonuses and
certain allowances of its staff of last year. A member of the
plan is entitled to a pension, to be paid by the municipal
governments, equal to a fixed proportion of the salary
prevailing at his retirement date. The Group has no other
material obligation for the payment of pension benefits
associated with these plans beyond the annual contributions
described above.
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Net finance costs

Interest expenses on bank
borrowings repayable wholly
within five years

Interest income

Bank charges

Net exchange loss/(gain)

Less: interest expense capitalised

Total

Investment income

(Loss)/gain on disposal of equity
securities

Gain on disposal of equity
interest of subsidiaries

Gain on disposal of equity
interest of a jointly controlled
entity

Gain on the dilution
of equity interest in an associate

Remeasurement to fair value of
pre-existing interest in an
acquired subsidiary

Others

Total

8
RAFREHERE
ZRITER
FEER
FLBHA
RITER
P& 5 F8 8 (W)
B BAEFIEER
=X
9

REESEES (BKR),/
Yezs
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(i)
NG Fod
Bgias
WHEHFRAIRNAHATIRE
HABERAEE

Hitp

MR R

2011 2010
—e——%  —T-%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
35,732 41,114
(1,067) (2,757)
626 880
535 (853)
35,826 38,384
35,826 38,384
B’EWA
2011 2010
—e——%  —T-%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
(11,686) 1,021
129 713
69,302 -
- 6,360
11,325 -
- 187
69,070 9,181
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

Investment income (cont’d)

0

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
transferred 75% equity interest in Longkou Andre Bio-
feedstuff Co., Ltd. (“Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff’), a
subsidiary of the Company, to Yantai Andre Pectin Co.,
Ltd. (“Andre Pectin”), an associate of the Company, for
a total consideration of approximately RMB3,202,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
transferred 70% equity interest in Qingdao Nannan
Beverage Co., Ltd. (“Qindao Nannan”), a subsidiary of
the Company, to Yantai Anlin Fruit Processing Industry
Co., Ltd., for a total consideration of USD2,200,000
(equivalent to RMB13,900,000).

The investment income recognised for the year ended
31 December 2011 represented the difference between
the considerations received and the carrying amount of
the equity interest disposed of. After the completion of
these transfers, Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff became
an associate of the Company and the Company
ceased owning any equity interest in Qingdao Nannan.
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Investment income (cont’d)

(i) (cont’d)

The effect of the disposal of subsidiaries on the

financial position of the Group is analysed as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Lease prepayments
Other receivables and
prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade payables
Other payables and
accrued expenses

Amount of net assets attributable
to a holder of minority interests

Amount of net assets attributable
to the Group thereafter
accounted for as an associate

The Group’s share of net assets

Consideration received,
satisfied in cash
Less: cash and cash
equivalents disposed of

Net cash inflow

ZEN )T
A LR AR
Bt TR BT B

ReMREe
& BR3K
Hit MR R ERE R

FEY

BENDBERZFEESH

)i SE I

BENAREZFEE

W2 RE - UREHAZNT

B HEZREMRSEFEY

RERANFRE

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
transferred 50% equity interest in Xianyang Andre Juice

Co., Ltd.*

(“Xianyang Andre”), a jointly controlled entity

of the Company, to AGRANA Juice Holding GmbH, for
a total consideration of EUR11,500,000 (equivalent to

RMB105,814,000).

* For identification purpose only

RSB A
AN FEESRE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(AN RBFT)

RAWBA (8])

0 (&

RENBARESH AE®EE

BRRZFESWT ¢

2011
—T——%
RMB’000
AR®ETR

Note
B

17(a) 6,859
18 6,153

14,589
59
(258)

(3,452)

23,950

(5,935)

(1,042)

16,973

17,102

(59)

17,043

i)y BEZZT——F+-_A=+-—
BLEFE ASBELHESE
RAFGEEFNRETEAER
7~ A ([ R Rs = E F 1) 50% A%
#F AGRANA Juice Holding
GmbH - #2X{8/11,500,000&X
TL (SR AR 105,814,000
7T) e

Y ERES
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9

PR R EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(UARRZT)

Investment income (cont’d)

(i)

(cont’d)

9

The investment income recognised for the year ended

31 December 2011 represented the difference between

the consideration received and the carrying amount of

the equity interest disposed of. After the completion of

the transfer, the Company ceased owning any equity

interest in Xianyang Andre.

The effect of the disposal of the jointly controlled entity

on the financial position of the Group is analysed as

follows:

Property, plant and equipment

Lease prepayments

Inventories

Trade receivables

Other receivables and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Trade payables

Other payables and accrued expenses
Current tax liabilities

Consideration received,
satisfied in cash
Less: cash and cash
equivalents disposed of

Net cash inflow

Note
Firsk

0% - BERE 17(3)
BALHHES 18
&

FEIARSR

HftuEF R BAERR
BeRRSEEY

FERTARRR

HEt AR RBRER
mETIEARE

WEIZRE - UREFAZN

B MEZRELREEEY

114 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. #R&AdtH REFIRTRHERAF

RAWBA (8])

(i)

(#8)

RZZE——F+=A=+—H
BRI E W= AR EEKE
M EEEEREREMNRE
BEIZER REETHKE -
RAENEHEE KGR ENE
fal 4%

REAREHERERH AL
BP BN FEDIMT -

The Group’s effective interest of
assets and liabilities disposed of
FEENEERARH
FEEZENES

RMB’000

AR®FT

65,209
1,279
13,379
21,957
5,067
1,261
(1,903)
(69,625)
(112)

36,512

105,814

(1,261)

104,553



10 Profit before taxation

11

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

Depreciation of property, Yz - BB &

plant and equipment R e
Auditor’s remuneration 12 EREM BN <&

— audit services — EBAZ RIS

— other services — H A AR
Operating lease charge KEHEE A

— land use rights — T AR

— hire of plant —HEmE
Impairment loss VERIEEEES

— other receivables — H UK

Income tax in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

(@ Taxation in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income represents provision for
PRC income tax and deferred tax recognised from
origination or reversal of temporary differences.

Current tax B TR

Provision for PRC income tax PR EASHE R
Deferred tax RIEFI IR

Origination and reversal of TR0 ERMNED

temporary differences

10 FRIRATAT)
MBATEFIS B THER

RMB’000
AR®TT

37,747

1,480

2,648
2,021

4,232

2010
—TFF

RMB’000
ARBTT

39,730

1,480
350

2,512
1,120

11 SHEERRKRPHFRFER

@ AHEERSERTHOFEET
BE RSB EE L ERER
#= 5 5| 2 3k 88 [0l B AT e AR MR

SERIA ©
2011 2010
=% —TFF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT
4,349 4,500
481 2,165
4,830 6,665

—ZT——FFH Annual Report 2011
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (cont’d)

(@)

(cont’d)

According to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the
PRC (the “New Tax Law”) which took effect on 1
January 2008, the applicable tax rate of the Company,
all the subsidiaries and the jointly controlled entities
other than Baishui Andre Juice Co., Ltd. and Xianyang
Andre Juice Co., Ltd. (disposed during the vyear), is
25% from 1 January 2008. Baishui Andre Juice Co.,
Ltd. and Xianyang Andre Juice Co., Ltd. continued to
enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15% till the end of 2011.
In accordance with the relevant PRC tax rules and
regulations, certain subsidiaries and jointly controlled
entities of the Company are exempt from PRC income
tax for two consecutive years starting from their first
profit-making year, and are entitled to a 50% relief on
PRC income tax for the following three years (“Tax
Holidays”). Pursuant to the transitional arrangement
under the New Tax Law, certain subsidiaries and
jointly controlled entities will continue to enjoy the tax-
exemption or 50% relief on the applicable income tax
rate under the New Tax Law until the expiry of the Tax
Holidays previously granted, and thereafter they will be
subject to the unified rate of 25%. For those enterprises
whose preferential tax treatment had not commenced
due to lack of taxable profit, such preferential tax
treatment would have commenced from 1 January
2008.

116 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. #R&adtH REFIRTRHER AT

11

EHEZEBRRRPOMER

(%)

(@)

(#&)

BEZZZENEFE-—H Bk
TR ZE AR EMB S
R ([FB0ED) » NATI KRR
BKZEFRETHRA AR
FFEZ =R R BRAR (R
RERE)UINOFTENR B A
A RERZEREREANMS
MHEEg =TT N\F—H—H
HEEE A25% - AKLER
RET AR QA KRS L& F
ERAERAREE =T ——
FERNUBEZE15%ESR
BE o RIRP A @G H
AR RRRNETFHBA
A R EFESEEAFBRER
NEER F—FNE_F5
BEEMRBH  E=FZ%FA
TR ZERRER ([
BEA] - REFHEZBE
MZH - ETHBARRLR
EHERINAEEZH 2 A
F 2 RAEFIR B ¥ S
RMOBEEESEZHBKES
HERIE - RBEBHEE
F—EF 25 % KRS B
o AR LE B R A 7 T E
MARBZEBBERFEZ
o ZUBEESFEEN_
T NF—HA—HHEA -



11

Income tax in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (cont’d)

(@)

(cont’d)

According to the New Tax Law, income derived from
primary processing of agricultural produce is exempt
from the PRC income tax. During the year ended 31
December 2011, the production of juice concentrate of
the Company and certain of its subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities, including Baishui Andre Juice Co.,
Ltd., Xuzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd., Yantai Longkou
Andre Juice Co., Ltd., Dalian Andre Juice Co., Ltd.,
Binzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd., Xianyang Andre Juice
Co., Ltd. (disposed during the year) and Yongji Andre
Juice Co., Ltd., and the production of bio-stuff of
Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff Co., Ltd. and Baishui
Andre Bio-feedstuff Co., Ltd.,
Company as at 31 December 2011, are recognised as

subsidiaries of the

primary processing of agricultural produce under the
New Tax Law and therefore are exempt from the PRC
income tax.

The subsidiaries operating in the United States of
America are subject to income tax at the appropriate
current rates of taxation ruling in the United States of
America.

11

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(AARBFR)

EHEZEBRRRPOMER
(%)

(@)

(#&)

RBHFTE - 6 REMTI
TERBHOBAKER B DEPT
BH - ARAMETHBRA
EERZEHEREEDKZR
MREABRAA - FMZRE
MREATERQE - WEED
ZERMNRARBBRAA - K
BLEENREABRAA B
NZIERMRAKBERAF -
B ZE MR AR AR (R
AERE) RKEREBNRE
ABERARMBRBERTEESR
% ARBEAZEBANED L
BRAFRBAKRZEMNEYE
HERAR(RZZE——F+=
A=+—BREARRKBAR)
B A WD R R AR E RS AR E A
NEFBEPRERVIMITE
%5 AR RS -

ERBEZZENHEARERN

FEBBE AXEREARE T
BITBEE o
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B3 5 % Y i

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

11 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 11
comprehensive income (cont’d)

(b)

The following is a reconciliation between accounting
profit at the applicable tax rate and income tax

expense:

Profit before taxation

Expected PRC income tax
expense at a tax rate
of 25% (2010: 25%)

Tax effect of exemption
and relief granted

Tax effect of the difference
in tax rates among the
Company, the subsidiaries
and jointly controlled entities

Tax effect of tax loss of
tax-exempted business

Tax effect of unused tax losses
not recognised

Tax effect of previously
unrecognised tax loss utilised

Qver-provision in respect of
prior years

Others

Income tax expense

B At )

RERABE25%
BT 25%)FHH
2 B S

BB

RATE - HEHE
BRI R
ERHEZR

-2

MEBERZEE

5

fiE >

REERARN A
EBERTE

FIALARTFZ
RERRBBEZZE
AT FEZFHRZ
FsHER

Hit U

PriSHi & A

(i) Others primarily represent the net tax effect
of non-taxable income and non-deductible

expenses.

118 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. (R& LA ZEFIRTROERD

EHEZEBRRRPOMER

AT TERMREFE MG
HEFSIHE R Z A :

2011 2010
82— —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#®TT ARETTT
212,921 55,835
53,230 13,959
(49,541) (8,448)
(2,630) (1,473)
1,763 2,819
3,450 1,232
(1,637) (1,758)

195 334

4,830 6,665

) HEERIFETKRAR
TAMER B 0 5 H 6%

BB E -



12 Directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(AARBFR)

12 EERESHE

Details of directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments are as SENEEME ZFBWT ¢
follows:
Directors’ and Salaries, Retirement
supervisors’ allowances and scheme
fees benefits in kind contributions Total
EZREE Exfd
Name 2 fig R AR BRBAHER ait
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
%% 2% 2%—-§ _5-%£ B—-f “3-%F Z§—-fF _3-%f%
(RMB'000) (RVB'OOD) (RMB'000) (RMBOO0) (RMB'000) (RMBIOC) (RMB'000) (RMB000)
(AE®TR) (ARRTT) (ARWFR) (ARETT) (ARWTR) (ARETT) (A\BRFR) (ARETT)
Execttive Directors: HiES:
Wang An I% 50 50 105 87 8 8 163 145
Zhang Hui FiE 50 50 105 87 8 8 163 145
Jang Honggl ey 0 - 25 - 17 - - - 4
Non-executive Directors: HTES
Jang Honggl iz 0 50 2% - 18 - - 50 4
Lin Wu-Chung HRA - 12 - - - - - 12
Liu Tsung-Yi ARH - 12 - - - - - 12
Independent Non-executve  BAFEH{TES :
Directors:
Gong Fan Ef, (i 4 - - - - - 4% -
Yu Shouneng A1 50 50 - - - - 50 50
Qu Wen iE3 50 50 - - - - 50 50
Chow Kam Hung Bl (i 4% - - - - - 4% -
Xu Guangzhou EN (i 4 25 - - - - 4 2%
Wu Jianhui S (i) - 2% - - - - - %
Supenvisors; £
Li Kungui 3 ) 30 15 - - - - 30 15
Li Yesheng £ 4 ) 30 15 - - - - 30 15
Wang Chuntang TAE 30 30 - - - - 30 30
Mu Guisheng FEE (v - 15 - - - - - 15
Qu Weija e () - 15 - - - - - 15
436 414 210 209 16 16 662 639
0] Changed from Executive Director to Non-executive Directors 0] REZZE—ZFXA=THEHTE
on 30 June 2010 EWRAERFNTES
(i) Appointed on 18 January 2011 (ii) R-E——F— A+ N\BEEE
(i) Resigned on 18 January 2011 iy M=_ZT—F—A+/N\BEHIT
(v)  Retired on 30 June 2010 vy RZZT—ZF A=+HER
(v Appointed on 30 June 2010 (v) R-IE—EFNA=THEEE
(vii  Resigned on 30 June 2010 vy RZE—ZFA=THEHIT

—Z——FF3{ Annual Report 2011

119



12

13

PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments
(cont’d)

For the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010, no
emoluments were paid to the directors or supervisors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Company or as
compensation for loss of office. For the year ended 31
December 2011 and 2010, Mr. Lin Wu-Chong and Liu
Tsung-Yi, two non-executive Directors, have waived their
director’'s emoluments with effect from 1 April 2010.

Individuals with the highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
(2010: two) are executive directors whose emoluments
are disclosed in Note 12 above. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the other three (2010: three)
individuals are as follows:

e kHEMME
BIRBFIET IR

Salaries and other emoluments
Retirement scheme contributions

The emoluments of the three (2010: three) individuals with
the highest emoluments are within the following band:

HK$Nil - HK$1,000,000

120 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. #R&adtH REFIRTRHER AT

13

FBEEZ T — % 1,000,000 70

EFRETHS (W)

RBE-F——FR-F—FTF+=
A=t—BLFE  ARFRLKRAE
EREEZ MMM AERRSIH
POAR A RIH) SRR SRR (E - O
BE_T——H5K_F-TF+_A
=+ —BILFE  MEFRTEEMR
RBAERBRELECHELES
e BT TEMA-—HEAE
e

EETmAL

E_Z——FhfuikaHALh =
ACE-ZF: AN RBTES
HEMEEE 2 ERME129 FIAK
B-HH=A(CZE-ZF:=ZA)Z
FENEA T PR

2011 2010
—$—% —T-IF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARWTE  ARETI
298 311

3 27

301 338

=M RSFATOFHMEATEE

ZIA
2011 2010
—g——% -T-IZF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 A
3 3




14 Profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company

15

The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company includes a loss of RMB4,618,000 (2010: a
profit of RMB23,410,000) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company.

Dividends

(a)

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the year:

Final dividend proposed after REEERBEZED K
the balance sheet date of
RMB0.005 per share (—E—=4F : 5%
(2010: RMB0.0035 per share) AR¥0.00357T)

The final dividend proposed after the end of the
reporting period has not been recognised as a liability
at the end of the reporting period.

15

BERELTFRRZET

FBRARRBRE A MM eiE
BAARNRBHEHREREEBARE
4,618,000 T (ZF—ZF : FIEAR

#03,410,0007T) °

REREBA R 0.005 7T

BB
(@ ETFEIRKBREFELIIAR
B
2011 2010
—2—% —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER#®TT ARBFT
21,328 14,929
NEEERER Ik 2 R BA AR
BREARFEEIBAR R KA
RRBE-
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B3 5 % Y i

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

15 Dividends (cont’d) 15 BRR ()

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (b) BRE-—BBFEE IREF
Company attributable to the previous financial ERERXAFRABBREN
year, approved and paid during the year: BRE :

2011 2010
——% —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARKETT
Final dividend in respect of BRE—UBFE
the previous financial year, WA F E iz R AT
approved and paid during 2 REBIR B AR
the year, of RMB0.0035 ARK0.0035 L (ZE—FF :
per share (2010: RMBO0.0035 SR AR 0.0035 7T)
per share) 14,929 14,929
16 Basic and diluted earnings per share 16 EXRMEXERET

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is
based on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company of RMB207,168,000 (2010: RMB49,215,000) and
4,265,536,000 shares (2010: 4,265,536,000 shares) in issue
during the year.

There was no difference between basic and diluted
earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential shares
outstanding during the year.

122 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. (R& LA ZEFIRTROERD

REBREARBERFNGTEE
MAARARRREMGEFNARE
207,168,000 ( ZF —ZFF : AR
# 49,215,000 ) & AN F B 17k
19 4,265,536,000 8 ( = T — T F :
4,265,536,000 %) * & :

HR AR EEEET LA - Fit
BRERBN ETREERN L EE
Al e



(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEESGIR)

17 Property, plant and equipment 17 Y%  -BERRE
(@ The Group (a) ZE£E
Machinery
and Motor Office  Construction
Buildings  equipment vehicles  equipment in progress Total

BEM  BEREG RE WAOERE  ERIE ait
Note RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
it ARRTR ARWTR ARRTR ARRTR AEBTR ARWTR

Cost: B
At 1 January 2010 RZ-%&

-fA-B 435,870 729,250 14,745 20,879 ATA 1220471
Addtions e 12,757 20,021 520 816 47,637 81,751
Transfers ENAE 33415 31,99 - - (65,410) -
Disposal of subsidaries RETAH - (3,986) 21) - - (4,007)
Other disposals EhEE (12,882) (504) (123) 27) = (13,536)
At 31 December 2010 RZ5-%F

t-h=t-H 469,160 776,776 15,121 21,668 3954 1,286,679
At 1 January 2011 K=&

-A-R 469,160 716,776 16,121 21,668 3954 1286679
Addtions hE 275 9,605 2625 1,701 23674 40359
Transfers EHnE 18228 5127 - - (23,359) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAR 20 26,497 2,170 103 212 263 55,245
Other addtions EteEm 4,186 6,438 - = - 10624
Disposal of subsidlaries RETAT 9) (9471) (2,806) - (%) - (12,372)
Disposal of ajointy controled enty REA &2 ] (31,468) (54,174) 739) (1,501) - (87,881)
Other dlisposals EEE 9,139 (1,346) 4,380) (865) - (1,730)
At 31 December 2011 RZE——F

+-A=t-H 470,747 767,790 12,731 21,120 453% 1276924
Accumulated depreciation: ~ RHfE
At 1 January 2010 RZZ-%F

-A-B B7545)  (322177) (10,238) (14,062 - (43402)
Charge for the year TEEHE (11,806) (25,125) (1,261) (1,539) - (39,730)
Written back on: &
Disposal of subsidiaries RETAT - 2326 14 = = 2,340
Other disposals EhEE 380 39 110 9 - 538
At 31 December 2010 RZZ-5F

+-B=1+-H ©8971)  (344937) (11,375) (15,591) - (7081
At 1 January 2011 RZ5——%-A-A ©8971)  (344997) (11,375) (15,591) - {70874
Charge for the year TEEHE 0,867) (24.869) (1,432) (1,586) - (37,747)
Written back on; &M
Disposal of subsidlaries RETFAT 9) 4,199 1230 - 84 - 5513
Disposal of ajointly controled enty EEAZA 9 4,498 16,528 445 1,201 - 2672
Other disposals AtRE 1,701 285 3,901 715 - 6,602
At 31 December 2011 RZE—F

+-p=1-H (98.440)  (351,756) (8.461) (15,177) - (47383
Net book value: FEE:
At 31 December 2011 RIE—F&

+ZA=+-A 372,307 416,034 4270 5,043 4,53 803,000
At 31 December 2010 RZ5-TF

+-p=1-H 370,189 431839 3746 6,077 3954 815,805
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17 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

(a)

(b)

PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

The Group (cont’d)
No property, plant and equipment of the Group were
pledged as at 31 December 2010 and 2011.

The Company

Cost:

At1 January 2010
Additions
Transfers
Disposals

At 31 December 2010

At 1 January 2011
Additions
Disposals

At 31 December 2011

hE
ENNE
RE
RZE-%F

+=A=1t-8
e

17 9% - BEERE (&)

@ A% (@)
RoE-—BER-T——%
A= T—8 AEEHEE
EREFEROME - BE R

s
AX

(b) =
Machinery
and Motor Office Construction
Buildings  equipment  vehicles equipment in progress Total
BEYM BHERRG RE  MOERG 2 ERIE &t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ABRTR AR®TT ARBTR ARRTRT AERRTR AEWTX
111,392 96,604 6,861 7416 4,030 226,303
325 343 - 171 401 1,240
2,945 - - - (2,945) -
(11,599 - - - - (11,599
103,063 96,947 6,861 7,587 1,486 215,944
103,063 96,947 6,861 7,587 1,486 215,944
1,017 1,557 1,093 290 150 4,107
- - (2,861) - - (2,861)
104,080 98,504 5,093 7871 1,636 217,190
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17 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

(o) The Company (cont’d)
Accumulated depreciation: Rt :
At1 January 2010 R=Z-ZF-f-H
Charge for the year TEEHE
Written back on disposals REEM
At 31 December 2010 RZE-FFT-A=1-H
At 1 January 2011 RZE——5-H-H
Charge for the year REEHE
Wiitten back on disposals ~ REEM
At 31 December 2011 RZE—%+ZA=1—H
Net book value: IFEE:
At 31 December 2011 —E—%+-B=1+-A
At 31 December 2010 S e

No property, plant and equipment of the Company

17 % - BERRRE ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
LA
(UARBIT)

(b) AT (&)

Machinery

and Motor Office Construction
Buildings  equipment vehicles  equipment in progress Total
BEYM BHERRG RE  MOERG 2 ERIE &kt
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ABRTR ARWTT ARBTR ARRTRT AERTR AERTX
(22,324) (45,706) (4,80) (6,141) - (77,980)
(1,409) (3,200 (617) (611) - (6,731)
64 - - - - 64
(23,663) (48,906 (6,326) (6,752) - (83,647)
(23,663) (48,906) (5,326) (5,752) - (83,647)
(1,885) (3,185) (463) (492) - (6,025)
- - 5% - - 25%
(25,548) (52,091) (3,253) (6,244) - (87,136)
78,532 46,413 1,840 1,633 1,636 130,054
79,400 48,04 1,635 1,835 1,486 132,297
—E—FER T ——F

were pledged as at 31 December 2010 and 2011.

— B ARAHE
FEANYE - BE &

?«":PH-\\‘—F%
|
["U|2I334H{
[
FF\+4
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18 Lease prepayments

19

PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

18 WftLHEER

The Group The Company
*KE 3|

2011 2010 2011 2010

—2—5 —Z-ZF —2—5 —Z-ZF

Note RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

et AR®FT NS ARBTT ARBTT

At 1 January w—A—R 103,019 105,531 32,448 33,280

Acquisition of a subsidiary BB F A 20(a) 3,425 - - -

Other additions Hsg 701 - - -

Disposal of a subsidiary BETAR 9) (6,153) = - =
Disposal of a jointly REAEDT

controlled entity (i) (1,279) - - -

Other disposals HA i (7,378) = - =

Amortisation By (2,648) 2,512 (832) (832)

At 31 December W+=ZA=+—AH 89,687 103,019 31,616 32,448

Lease prepayments represent payments for land use rights in

the PRC.

Investments in subsidiaries — the Company

At 1 January R—HA—H

Transfer from interests in B ERZEFIE R E
jointly controlled entities #A

Other additions Hftn 318

Disposals BE

At 31 December R+=—A=+—H

126 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. R&1tH RERETRHERD T

BN LB E BT E L E A2
PSSO SROR

19 MRREBAFNHRE -FLF

Unlisted shares,

at cost

JELT - AR

2011 2010
—E——5 —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARMETTT

459,790 459,790
49,343 -
48,101 -
(15,567) -

541,667 459,790




19

Investments in subsidiaries — the Company

(cont’d)

Details of the Company’s interests in subsidiaries as at 31

December 2011 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation
and operation

Name of company BIR
NEER BRI

(a) Enterprises established outside the PRC

ERIP I LE
Andre Juice Co., Ltd. British Virgin Islands
ZEFRTERAR AERS
North Andre Juice (USA) Inc. The United States
EARERIRT (EH) of America
R AERAR X

Principal activities

IERE

Investment holding

RAER

Sale of juice

RTHE

(b) Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprises established in the PRC

ERRERBIMIMERELR
Baishui Andre Juice Co., Ltd. Shaanxi, PRC
BARERNRHTERAR FEpEE
Baishui Andre Bio-feedstuff Co., Ltd. Shaanxi, PRC
(‘Baishui Andre Bio-feedstuff’) HERRA S

AKREM AN ARAR]
(TRKEAEHEMETR)

Binzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
BNEEFRT BB AR

Shandong, PRC
PEILRE

Manufacture and
sale of juice

RHEERBE

Manufacture and
sale of bio-feedstuff
EYEREE
R#E

Manufacture and
sale of juice

RHEERBE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(AARBFR)

19 RIFBLRMHKRE -FLF

(%)

R-ZF——F+-A=+—0 &2
AHRATH B AR 2T -

Authorised/ Proportion of
Registered ownership interest
capital Paid-in PGB LRI
EE/ capital  Direct Indirect
gEx EhESs HE &
US$50,000 US$1 100% -
(50,000 shares e
0f US$1 each)
50,000%7T
(50,000 &R
1%71)
US$10,000 US$10,000 - 100%
10,0007 10,0007
US$17,000,000  US$17,000,000 75% 25%
17,000,005 17,000,000% 7T
US$500,000 US$500,000 - 100%
500,000 T 500,000% 7T
US$12,100,000  US$12,100,000 75% 25%

12,100,000%7C 12,100,005
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(UARRZT)

Investments in subsidiaries — the Company

(cont’d)

Name of company

LRER

Longkou Andre Bio-feedstuff
Co., Ltd. (‘Longkou Andre
Bio-feedstuff’)

ENRENENFHERAR
(EARERE L)

Xuzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
ENZEFHRETEB AR

Xuzhou Andre Pomace Products
Co., Ltd. ("Xuzhou Andre Pomace”)

SNZERNREHRERA]
([=EHRE])

Yantai Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
RazEFRt R ER AR

Yantai Longkou Andre Juice
Co., Ltd.

RaEORENRTHA
BRAA

Yongji Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
(“Yongji Andre”)

KERENRETERAF
(AR EN )

Place of
incorporation
and operation

BIR

BRI

Shandong, PRC
PEILRE

Jiangsu, PRC

METES

Jiangsu, PRC
FEIHE

Shandong, PRC
PEILRE

Shandong, PRC
EIRY

Shanxi, PRC
REWLRE

(c) Domestic company established in the PRC

EREERRINNELE
Dalian Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
AERENFERTERAT

Liaoning, PRC

Principal activities

IERE

Manufacture and
sale of bio-feedstuff
EEREE
K&

Manufacture and
sale of juice

RHEERBE

Manufacture and

sale of pomace products
RBRMEE

k&

Manufacture and
sale of fruit pulp

RELERHE

Manufacture and
sale of juice

RHEERHE

Production and
sale of juice

RHEERBE

Manufacture and
sale of juice

RHEERHE

128 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. #R&adtH REFIRTRHER AT

19 RIFBLRMHKRE -FLF
(%)

Authorised/
Registered
capital
EE/
iEfEs

US$500,000
500,000% 7T

US$10,000,000
10,000,000

US$500,000
500,000% 7

US$4,832,000
4,832,000

US$12,110,000
12,110,000%7T

US$12,960,000
12,960,000

RMB80,000,000
AR
80,000,000

Paid-in
capital

RbRE

US$500,000
500,000% 7T

US$10,000,000
10,000,000 7T

US$500,000
500,000% 7

US$4,832,000
4,832, 000% T

US$12,110,000
12,110,000%7T

US$12,960,000
12,960,000

RMB80,000,000
ARH
80,000,000

Proportion of
ownership interest
FrikBREL A
Direct Indirect
HE &

- 100%
75% 25%

- 100%
75% 25%
75% 25%
75% 25%
70% 30%



20 Acquisitions of subsidiaries

(a

Acquisition of Yongji Andre

20 WIRMELT

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
acquired 50% equity interest of Yongji Andre, a jointly
controlled entity of the Company before the acquisition,
from AGRANA Juice Holding GmbH, a company
incorporated in Austria, at a cash consideration of
EURB,000,000 (equivalent to RMB56,202,000). After
the acquisition, the Group held 100% equity interest of
Yongji Andre and Yongji Andre became a subsidiary of

the Group.

The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s
assets and liabilities on the acquisition date:

Property, plant and equipment

Lease prepayments

Inventories

Trade receivables

Other receivables and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Bank loans

Trade payables

Other payables and accrued expenses

The Group’s share of the net identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Goodwill arising on acquisition

Total purchase consideration

Purchase consideration, satisfied in cash
Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Net cash outflow

ER ) E

B twhES
7

FE RN
LN GV S
ReRATEEN
RITEH

FERIRSR
HiENHERER

R IR A E

FrE BB AKBREEH

REBELHNHE
BEERE

WERE : ARERR
YR ke EED

BERHFE

(a)

Wt B Kk 7 2 A

HE_FT——F+-A=+—
BILEEE AEBENEARE
6,000,000 % 7T (5 A A R #
56,202,0007C ) & B AGRANA
Juice Holding GmbH (—Z A B
Rz AR (RUEERT A
ARAF 2 HREHER) g
B H50% KB L EF| 2 BRAE o
RSB & - NEBEE A K
ERER 2 IER  KELE

AR BAEE 2 HBAT -

ZWERNKERHAEENE
EMERENFELT

The Group’s effective
interest in identifiable
assets acquired and
liabilities assumed
R AT REEER
AR R
FREZHNER
RMB’000

AREFT

52,176

3,425

13,450

85

2,219

749

(10,000)

(1,576)

(8,893)

51,635

51,635
4,567

56,202

56,202
(749)

55,453
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Notes to the Financial

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEEZT)

20 Acquisitions of subsidiaries (cont’d)

(a

(b)

Acquisition of Yongji Andre (cont’d)

Goodwill amounting to RMB4,567,000 was recognised
as a result of the acquisition of Yongji Andre during the
year.

The remeasurement to fair value of the Group’s
existing 50% interest in Yongji Andre resulted in a gain
of RMB11,325,000, which has been recognised in
investment income in the statement of comprehensive
income (see Note 9).

Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined
based on applicable IFRSs immediately before
the acquisition. The values of assets and liabilities
recognised on acquisition are their estimated fair
values.

The newly acquired subsidiary has incurred a loss
of RMB530,000 since the acquisition date. The
consolidated revenue and consolidated profit for the
year would not be significantly different if the acquisition
had occurred on 1 January 2011.

Acquisitions of Baishui Andre Bio-feedstuff,
Xuzhou Andre Pomace and Longkou Andre Bio-
feedstuff

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
acquired 75% equity interest in each of Baishui Andre
Bio-feedstuff, Xuzhou Andre Pomace and Longkou
Andre Bio-feedstuff, associates of the Company
before the transfers, from Andre Pectin, an associate
of the Company incorporated in the PRC, at an
aggregate cash consideration of RMB9,309,000. After
the acquisitions, the Group totally held 100% equity
interests of Baishui Andre Bio-feedstuff, Longkou Andre
Bio-feedstuff and Xuzhou Andre Pomace and they
became subsidiaries of the Group.

The acquisitions had the following effect on the Group’s
assets and liabilities on the acquisition date:

130 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. R&1tH ZERETRAERLD

20 WAEMEAT (1)

(a)

(b)

g KB R ER (48)
ARE NREE 4 567,000 7T 2 52
EHEEKELENIIBTER °

NEE A WX B L EF50%
BaRAEE A BEEE RS
AR #11,3250007C © % & 5
BEEZHEBRRPERRIRE
Wes o (B2RMIFEQ) ©

WENNEESREENEE
BRF AR 42 PS8 PR O BB B IS 3R
EQFFERFHR o WHEPTRER
MEERBENEERMGZ
AR

FUE AN B A B B UKAE B 8k
B AR# 530,000 JTEHE © fitt
WER_—T——F—F—B%
£ FRESEEBRGE R
FETEEEAER -

WiE Bk ZEEREMEE - 1R
MEERREAREOZEF
=X/ ok
BE_F——Ft-A=1—
BLEFE AEBEURSKE
R AR 9,309,000 LA AR
RV i NI
MRBEBERERANHZ AT
ZBKZENEYEE - RN
ZRAMRE  UREAZREH
EW RS B T75% 2 B - I
WEESER 1R - AEEEARK
ZIEFEMEE - HFINREH
REA KRB O RIENE YR
2D EMTRARNEHE
ZHIBAE -

U KRS B A e A
ERAEOFENT




20 Acquisitions of subsidiaries (cont’d)

(b)

Acquisitions of Baishui Andre Bio-feedstuff,
Xuzhou Andre Pomace and Longkou Andre Bio-

feedstuff (cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment
Inventories

Trade receivables

Other receivables and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Trade payables

Other payables and accrued expenses
Current tax liabilities

Net identifiable assets and liabilities

The Group’s 75% share of the
net identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed
Gain from bargain purchase of subsidiaries

Total purchase consideration

Purchase consideration, satisfied in cash
Cash and cash equivalent acquired

Net cash outflow

nx  BERE

3

FEMERR

Hit Y R B
RELASEEY
FE RN
HiENHRERER
mEBHARE

UHREERAR

FTUREE fO ] 25504 B R PR
BERAREEHEE 75% D

EEYNSIEAE T 26

REERE

WERE : URERE
WrENRE MRS EEY

b yntarp k|

Gain from bargain purchase of subsidiaries amounting

to RMB5,000 was recognised as a result of the
acquisitions of Baishui Andre Bio-feedstuff, Longkou
Andre Bio-feedstuff and Xuzhou Andre Pomace during

the year.

The newly acquired subsidiaries have not incurred profit

or loss since the acquisition date. The consolidated

revenue and consolidated profit for the year would not

be significantly different if the acquisition had occurred

on 1 January 2011.

20 WiRMELT (1|)

WiE Bk ZEAEMEER - 1R
MEERREAREOZEF
=7} b

2011
-2

RMB’000
ARRTR

3,069
5,485
5,897
3,516
652
(782)
(4,524)
(894)

12,419

9,314
()

9,309

9,309
(652)

8,657

RNEARKES,000 T2 B AT
AEWRBUREELEBAKRRE
MAEMEE - FMLZEFIRE
VAR BE O 22 18 7 A W) 57 14 9 UK
fERERA T ¢

R B A F B W A &
BARBZITEE - Wit W
R-FE——F—A—B%%E-
FRAGEEXRBREA BN
TeEEAZR -
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

21 Interest in a jointly controlled entity - the

Company

At 1 January Rn—H—H

Addition 80

Disposal BE

Transfer to investments in EEBAFIRE
subsidiaries

At 31 December Rt+—A=+—8

Details of the Company’s interests in the jointly controlled
entity as at 31 December 2011 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation
Name of company and operation Principal activities
NEER FRILHE TERE
Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise established in the PRC
ERERARINIERE LR
Yantai Tongli Beverage Industries Shandong, PRC Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. (‘Tongli") FERE sale of beverage
VRS HREERHE
AR (T5eA])
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21 REFZHARRARE

~F 4
Unlisted, at cost
JELT - AR
2011 2010
—2—5 —TFF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TFT AR¥ET T

129,102 123,670
= 5,432
(54,759) =
(49,343) =
25,000 129,102

W-—TE——F+-_A=+—8" ' K
NERERATHRZEHEE 2

AT -
Proportion of
ownership interest
Registered Paid-in Frit R LL B
capital capital Direct Indirect

ERRE Rhwx  EE g

Us$ Us$ 25% 25%
14,621,200 14,621,200
14,621,200 14,621,200% T



21

22

Interest in a jointly controlled entity - the

Company (cont’d)

Summary of financial information on the jointly controlled

entity/entities — the Group’s effective interests:

Non-current assets IERBEE
Current assets MENEEE
Current liabilities mEIEE
Net assets FEE
Income A
Expenses =90

Loss for the year REEIE

Interest in an associate

Unlisted, at costs JE LT - AR
Share of net assets IEFEE
Total A&t

21 REFZHARRARE

—F 407 (i)
HEAZEH BBV BERNERE —FA&H
2 B
2011 2010
—2—% —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETTT
44,847 159,723
14,944 101,450
(2,873) (119,590)
56,918 141,583
75,675 206,208
(83,737) (212,947)
(8,062) (6,739)
22 MERELATFNHKRE
The Group The Company
*TEE b /NG
2011 2010 2011 2010
—$—F _T-ITF Z$——F _"ITIZTF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBT T ARBTRT ARETTT
- - 33,080 33,080
60,560 52,470 = _
60,560 52,470 33,080 33,080
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NOLC U C
B A R R MY aE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

22 Interest in an associate (cont’d)

Details of the associate as at 31 December 2011 are as

follows:
Place of
incorporation
Name of company and operation Principal activities
ARER L8 TERE

Sino-foreign joint stock limited company established in the PRC

ERERAE LN EREAERAR

Yantai Andre Pectin Shandong, PRC Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. (“Andre Pectin’) 0) RERE sales of pectin

R ZENRBRHERAA KBEERHE
(IRENMRE])

(i) The Group exercised its significant influence over
Andre Pectin through its representation on the board of
directors of Andre Pectin and therefore accounted for
the equity interest in Andre Pectin as an associate.

Summary of financial information on the associate/
associates are as follows:

22 MEHELTRRE (W)

RZF——F+-A=+—A B%=

ARZFHENT
Proportion of
ownership interest
Registered Paid-in Frig B LL o
capital capital Direct Indirect
T {6t B ik

RMB175,000,000 RMB175,000,000  18.95% =

Assets Liabilities

BE

fif

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT  ARWTR

N
175,000,000

ARH
175,000,000 7T

AEEBEERRZENRBE
FEARNRREHEBEK
FE AUAKESHREN
RBOEDRESMERT

AT RE SRR Z M B RERER

&
Equity Turnover Profit
g2 KA il

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AE®TRT ARWTRT ARWTR

2011 —E——§
100 per cent 100% 590.777 271,153 319,624 214,437 53,512
the Group's effective interest  NEEARES 111,937 51,376 60,560 40,937 10,154
2010 —E-TF

100 per cent 100% 427,887 159,873 268,014 171,946 20,569
the Group’s effective interest K5 BIARHER 85,005 32,535 52,470 34,306 4,043
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23 Goodwill - the Group

Cost and carrying amount:

At 1 January
Additions

At 31 December

AFRIEEE :
H—A—A
210

Rt+=—A=+—8

Goodwill is allocated to the following groups of cash-

generating units:

Longkou Andre
Yongji Andre

BE M &= A
KB LB

Impairment test for the cash-generating unit

containing goodwill

The Group’s cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the
goodwill is allocated is Yantai Longkou Andre and Yongji

Andre.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow

projections based on actual operating results and financial

forecasts less than five years. Cash flows beyond the period

covered by the financial forecasts are kept constant which

management determined to be no higher than the long-term
growth rate of the industry. A pre-tax discount rate of 3.78 per
cent has been used in discounting the projected cash flows.

23 wE-FKH

2011 2010
—e—%  —2-ITF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFRE  ARETR
1,452 1,452
4,567 =
6,019 1,452

BAEIEEATSENRESELE

iz :

2011 2010

—E—%F —T T4

Note RMB’ 000 RMB ' 000
BaE AR®TT ARET T
1,452 1,452

20(a) 4,567 =
6,019 1,452

HEcHENREELETHRE

R
$$@“M7ﬁ§mﬁ%3ﬁ$ﬁ%
MR & BE O RABA A BoK

ZEH

ZREERETHAREERZER
BEAERETE - BLAERA TR

BERgE

FEROROFENTETER

REROBE S RIE - BHZFBE
AIFE IR SRR BB D A AR
EEEREZKFIERRITENEK

Hg R =

ERRBERERAN
RIFTIR R 53.78% °
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

24 Deferred tax assets
(@  Deferred tax assets recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and

24 REREE

(@

RHELEREE

ERER G MR MA 7]
MBARRKRZBELEREERAN

the Company’s statement of financial position, and the FE 2T ¢
movements during the year are as follows:
The Group and the Company EEERELT
Tax loss
carry-forwards Others Total
REGREE Hfth &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®WTR AR®TT AR®TT
Deferred tax assets REREERR :
arising from:
At 1 January 2010 M-ZE—TF
—H—H 4,933 42 4,975
Charged to EREB=E
profit or loss (2,123) 42) (2,165)
At 31 December 2010 RZZ—ZF
+=—A=+—H 2,810 = 2,810
At 1 January 2011 RZZT——F
—H—H 2,810 - 2,810
Charged to BREBm
profit or loss (2,810) 2,329 (481)
At 31 December 2011 RZT——%F
+=-A=+—H - 2,329 2,329
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24 Deferred tax assets (cont’d)

)

Deferred tax assets not recognised:

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has not
recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative
tax losses in the Group of RMB41,538,000 (2010:
RMB40,848,000) as it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised
will be available in the Group. As at 31 December 2011,
RMB7,402,000, RMB4,020,000, RMB11,390,000,
RMB4,928,000 and RMB13,798,000 of these tax
losses will expire in 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016
respectively.

24 SEIE

(b)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(LA RMFYT)

MEE (|

RZE——&F+=A=+—
H  BRAEBTAAEERS
A FI A A BB R B R 2R FE T
wA A AEBEREZS
—— &+ -_A=1+—HHAEH
A R #41538,0007T( =& —
=T F: AR ¥40,848,0007T )
WEAREBEEERAEAN
BERBEE R_T——%F
+-A=+—8 £ 5H5A
HARM7,402,0007C « AR
4,020,0007T * AK¥ 11,390,000
T AR #49280007T X AR
& 13,798,000 JTHY FH IE E5 18 Y 8
AR RE_ZS——F - =%
—=F ZFT—NmF -=F—h
FR =T NEFEEW

25 Short-term investments 25 FERIRE
The Group The Company
F%MH b 3/
2011 2010 2011 2010
2—F —T-TF IB——F —IT-ITF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFE ARETT AER®TRT AREBTT
Listed equity securities, iSRS -
at fair value NRREENE 24,883 - - -
Wealth management BHEM  EER
products, designated IAREBETE
as at fair value through B & &)t A% 5
profit or loss B 103,605 - 97,200 -
Total &5 128,488 - 97,200 -
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

26 Inventories 26 R
(@) Inventories in the statement of financial position @ BBRARZEERSRE :
comprise:
The Group The Company
*KE k- 3N

2011 2010 2011 2010
2—8K —ZT-ZTF TZB—%F —ZTIZF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR%®Tr AR®BTRT ARET=
Raw materials R A1 39,379 41,183 5,077 6,394
Finished goods EERX G 783,344 750,470 60,657 362,871
Total a5t 822,723 791,653 65,734 369,265

(b) As at 31 December 2011, the Group did not have
inventories carried at fair value less cost to sell
(2010: Nil). The amount of inventories recognised in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
amounting to RMB1,074,391,000 for the year ended
31 December 2011 (2010: RMB953,485,000).
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(b)

R—ZBE——&E+=A=+—
H XEBXRFERAABER
EHERARENTFE (ZF—
ZER) RZE——F+=
R=+—H TE®RREEH
EHRERFHNECEAARE
1,074,391,000 7L (=2 —F4F :
AR #953,485,0007T) °



27 MEUIRFR

27 Trade receivables

An ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows: FEMBR R 2 BRI AT AR T

The Group The Company
*T5RE b /NG
2011 2010 2011 2010
—B——K _—_T-ITF IB——F _"T-ITF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETET ARETT AER®BTRT AREBTT
Within 3 months =@AUR 100,459 259,922 54,838 133,549
Over 3 months but =EAMNE

less than 6 months BALRREA 13,325 24,535 8,075 23,051
Over 6 months NE A E 102 5,211 102 3,511
Total a5t 113,886 289,668 63,015 160,111

Customers are normally granted credit terms of one to six
months (2010: one to six months), depending on the credit
standing of individual customers.

Included in trade receivables, the Group’s balance with an
associate amounted to RMB1,899,000 (2010: RMB221,000).

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable.

BHERNEPZEEREE  BP—K
FAE—BAERNEARKRH(ZFT—
T —@AAEXEAR) -

REUER KA » N5 B ER B 2 R84
EAANRE1899,000(—E—F
& AR¥221,0007T) °

BT HRSRACER ) B P AERE o

B2 HE W EFHRR E B R A AR
REBRARER RIFEMARRENE
=ARP - ERNEENRKR - BEE
BiE  EREERPHNERERES
RE(CE 2 EEERN A WK ERRE -
FaHITRERR
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

28 Other receivables and prepayments

28 HAfthFEU R R AR

The Group The Company
F5%ME 3/
2011 2010 2011 2010
-5 T4 -5 —Z-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TT AREFT AE®TT ARETT
Prepayments in connection ER
with property, plant and RERfER
equipment purchases BT 9,531 3,688 - 818
Prepayments to suppliers BHEERR 6,259 54,572 2,908 49,202
Value added tax (‘VAT") A HE 2L ER
refundable for export sales RiE 0) 8,051 5,824 - 1,350
Recoverable input VAT AL ER 83,211 62,290 17,102 42,596
Others Hith 2,717 7,890 144 4,703
Total A5t 109,769 134,264 20,154 98,669

(i) The Group’s sales are subject to VAT at the rate of
17%, but the Group is entitled to VAT refunds of 15%

in respect of export sales since 1 June 2009.
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29

30

31

32

Dividends receivable — the Company

29

This represents the dividends receivable from the Company’s

subsidiaries.

Amounts due from and due to subsidiaries 30
and a jointly controlled entity — the Company

Amounts due from and due to subsidiaries and a jointly

controlled entity are unsecured, interest free and have no

fixed terms of repayment.

Restricted deposits

31

The restricted deposits were used to secure letters of credit

and bills payable.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash in hand He
Cash at bank IRITIEX
Total =)

FEUEE B —FE LT

ZRFERA R E ERMNB A RRERZ
BB e

FE LSz 5t BE 4 P B 22 B B St R §22
HEERA-FLF

FEN R FE A BB 2 Al R S R I B B
FOBMILIA - EFS - W AREE

EEHR -

BRFEFR

BRBIFRAEEREREMENR
E o

32 HeRBeERY
The Group The Company
FEH b 3N

2011 2010 2011 2010
—B—F _T-TF IB—F _T-IZTF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTT ARBTRE ARBTT
323 1,966 158 184
96,318 140,940 77,485 125,048
96,641 142,906 77,643 125,232
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33 Bank borrowings

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(@ At 31 December 2011, the bank borrowings are

repayable as follows:

Within 1 year
After 1 year but
within 2 years

Total

33 SITERK

@ RZEBE——F+_-_RF=+-—
B - RITERNERBRMOT

The Group The Company
*5E e SN
2011 2010 2011 2010
22— T4 —z—5 —Z-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT ARBTT ARETT
—ERRA 524,681 740,742 382,965 527,742
—FN

REAR 120,000 136,593 120,000 136,593
At 644,681 877,335 502,965 664,335

(b) At 31 December 2011, the bank borrowings are
secured and guaranteed as follows:

Secured or guaranteed
Unsecured

Total

) RZZE—F+=-A=+—H
BEBRERZBITETOT

The Group The Company
x5H r YN

2011 2010 2011 2010
—2—f —T-TfF —2——f% —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETTT AR®TT ARETTT
BEAREER () 363,505 466,500 341,505 383,500
EHA (i 281,176 410,835 161,460 280,835
A&t () 644,681 877,335 502,965 664,335

()  As at 31 December 2011, bank borrowings of
RMB311,505,000 (2010: RMB335,000,000) and
RMB30,000,000 (2010: RMB16,500,000) of the
Company were guaranteed by a related party and
an unrelated third party of the Group respectively.
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RZE——F+=H
=+—H8 ' ARARIFIRT
BERARE 311,505,000
T(ZE—ZTF: AR
335,000,0007T ) & A B
#30,000,000 70 (=& —
T4 AR¥ 16,500,000
TC) 9 Bl B AR & B 2 BE B
FRAEE 2 IEREEE =
FIRMEIER o



33 Bank borrowings (cont’d)

(b) At 31 December 2011,

the bank borrowings are

secured and guaranteed as follows: (cont’d)

(cont’d)

As at 31 December 2011, bank borrowings of
RMB Nil (2010: RMB32,000,000) of the Company
were secured by the Company’s deposits at
bank.

As at 31 December 2011, bank borrowings of
RMB20,000,000 of a subsidiary. Yongji Andre,
were guaranteed by an unrelated third party of
the group, AGRANA Beteiligungs-AG.

As at 31 December 2010, bank borrowings of
RMB20,000,000 of a jointly controlled entity,
Yongji Andre, in which the Group’s effective
interest amounted to RMB10,000,000, were
guaranteed by an unrelated third party of the
Group, AGRANA Beteiligungs-AG.

As at 31 December 2011, bank borrowings
of RMB4,000,000 (2010: RMB16,000,000)
of a jointly controlled entity, Tongli, in which
the Group’s effective interest amounted to
RMB2,000,000 (2010: RMB8,000,000), were
guaranteed by the Company.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(LA REFIR)

33 MITE™M(#])

(b)

R-F——%+t-A=+—H

BHEMRER 2R

(#8)

U)

TERAT :

(&)

R—ZZTE——F+ = A
:+ = $ jﬁﬁETT
BERARBZL(ZF—
T4« AR#¥ 32,000,000
JL) AR R ZRITIFER
YEHAR ©

%:%——¢+:H
?%ﬂﬁﬁﬂ TEF AEM
20,000,0007¢ © AANEE
2 FERAEL S5 = 77 AGRANA
Beteiligungs-AG A Alf2ft

—ET-FTF+-A
+ /N Paq i
%% BB RT
Jx A R # 20,000,000
RBEEFHRASEZ
;HE 8 B 28 = 75 AGRANA
Beteiligungs-AG A ml#E i
R EREAEBZER
25 A AR 10,000,000
=

R=ZZFE——F+=A
=+—H'AXRAFHERA
EHEERMNEGETE
= A R #4,000,0007T
(ZE—ZTF: AR¥
16,000,0007T ) * ZEHE
KRR FIREER - &
RAEE Y B 7%)\
R# 2,000,000 (=%

Z & : A R #8,000,000
JT) °
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

33 Bank borrowings (cont’d)

(b) At 31 December 2011, the bank borrowings are
secured and guaranteed as follows: (cont’d)

(cont’d)

As at 31 December 2010, bank borrowings of
RMB130,000,000 of a jointly controlled entity,
Xianyang Andre, in which the Group’s effective
interest amounted to RMB65,000,000, were
guaranteed by an unrelated third party of the
Group, AGRANA Beteiligungs-AG.

Included in the unsecured bank borrowings,
bank borrowings of USD20,625,000 (equivalent
to RMB129,956,000), which will be due within
one year, impose certain restricted requirements
on the Group’s financial conditions and specific
performance obligations on the major shareholder
Mr. Wang An of the Company, who is also the
director of the Company. Under the relevant
terms, the bank borrowings will become due
and payable immediately if the Group’s financial
conditions are not in compliance with the
requirements or when either:

° Mr. Wang An ceases to be entitled to
exercise management control over each of
the Company and the principal subsidiaries;
or

o The aggregate shareholding in the
Company that is beneficialy owned by
Mr. Wang An ceases to be larger than the
aggregate shareholding in the Company of
and/or held to the order of any other person
and/or persons acting in concert with such
other person.

144 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. #R&adtH REFIRTRHER AT

33 SRITER (&)

(b)

R-F——%+-A=+—H
BEMRERZBITETMT

(#&)

@

(&)

NRZZE—-—ZFF+ = A
=+—H ' KXRARHEE
I E B SZ BB RIT
B % A K ¥ 130,000,000
TTHASE 2 FFEE=
77 AGRANA Beteiligungs-
AGARIIEMHEER - HAp
REB 2 BRERBAR
# 65,000,000 7T ©

BRETEEEFRITERFR
EERBRITERET
20,625,000 (£ E AR
129,956,0007T) * #H—
FAREE - ZBRITERD
BZBERE RSB
BEREMNREE ERKRAR
RIZEERBRREREE
MEMEFE 2 BOEME - 1B
BZIRITE R - A
SENMBBERRTE

KIFE T lE R G S
ZEFENRSEIEEE -

e ILAAEVUTHH
THEETEHEER
RAMEEZHE
N EIRIEHIRE
%

s HMIRELEE=RE
BZARAZEFR
BBESFBSNE
AT R/ HRK
Hith A+ R, 8
ZEALT —HITH
ZANERAREFT
B R AER o



33 Bank borrowings (cont’d)

(b) At 31 December 2011, the bank borrowings are
secured and guaranteed as follows: (cont’d)

(i)

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s bank
borrowings of RMB483,220,000 (2010:
RMB619,878,000) bore fixed interest rates
ranging from 4.96% to 7.63% (2010: 4.29% to
6.38%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2011, the Company’s
bank borrowings of RMB341,504,000 (2010:
RMB406,878,000) bore fixed interest rates
ranging from 4.96% to 7.22% (2010: 4.29% to
5.32%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s
and the Company’s bank borrowings of
RMB129,956,000 (2010: RMB191,230,000)
bore floating interest rate of LIBOR+3.2% (2010:
LIBOR+3.2%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s and the
Company’s bank borrowings of RMB31,505,000
(2010: RMB66,227,000) bore floating interest
rate of the lender’s cost of fund plus 4% (2010:
floating interest rate of higher of SIBOR +1.3% or
USD best leading rate) per annum.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(LA REFIR)

33 MITE™M(#])

(b)

R-F——%+t-A=1+—H
BEMEERZBTEZNT

(&)

)

R=ZF——F+= A
=+—8 A&EBEIFET
B & A R # 483,220,000

T(ZE—FF: ARK
619,878,000t ) @ H
TEFFE A 4.96%-7.63%

ZE —FF:429%-
6.38%) °

R-_F—-——F%+=H
=+—H8 AQRET
B 3 A K % 341,504,000
T(ZE—FF: ARK
406,878,000t ) * H
TEFFEEAL.96%-7.22%

ZF T F 429%-
5.32%) °

RZZE—-——F+ = A
=+—H XEEEX
ARAIRITERARE
129,956,000 L (ZE—F
& AR ¥191,230,000
) HEBFMNEXRE
LIBOR+32%( — & — &
% : LIBOR+3.2%) °

RZTE——F+= A
=+—H AEBRAX
NRAElRITERARK
31,505,0007L(=ZZE—F
F: A R %66,227,000
L) A EBENERET
B e AN+4%( =T —
TFE: HEZHFENERE
SIBOR+1.3% M2 T
BRAEZERSH)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

34 Trade and bills payable

34 EfIERREMRE

The Group The Company
xEH F- 3/

2011 2010 2011 2010
22— —_TFTF IB—F _"T-ITF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE ARETT ARBTRE ARETT
Trade payables FE{FRRFX 131,346 134,355 56,454 54,186
Bills payable BN - 25,000 - 25,000
Total = 131,346 159,355 56,454 79,186

An ageing analysis of trade and bills payable is as follows:

FET BRI B AR 80 AR e D AT 10
T

The Group The Company
*TKE b /NG
2011 2010 2011 2010
—B—K _—_T-ITF IB——F _"T-ITF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETET ARETT AER®BTRT AREBTT
Within 6 months ANEA R 124,224 145,772 54,917 76,139
Over 6 months but NEA LA BB

less than 1 year DR—F 6,512 11,716 1,537 2,356
Over 1 year —F LA E 610 1,867 = 691
Total a5t 131,346 159,355 56,454 79,186

All the trade and bills payable are expected to be settled
within one year or are repayable on demand.
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35 Other payables and accrued expenses

Accrued staff cost
Amounts payable for
the acquisition of

property, plant and

equipment
Receipts in advance
Other taxes payable
Others

Total

ERTR B AR AR
BAME -
ZREf 3R

FHRR
ENEMBS
Hit

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

35 HtiEMHRRERRER

The Group The Company
F5%E FoF

2011 2010 2011 2010
—B——%F —ZT-TF —Z2—F —Z-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT AR®TT ARETTT
11,712 7,277 882 882
14,947 21,557 2,198 3,481
4,649 1,596 3,115 1,410
10,894 21,086 3,632 2,108
6,022 22,347 4,056 6,109
48,224 73,863 13,883 13,990
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

36 Capital and reserves

(@ The changes in equity of the Company for the years
ended 31 December 2010 and 2011 are as follows:

Share Capital

capital surplus

RA&  EALE

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
i3 ARETT  ARMTR

36 MRERGHR

(@ BE-_ZT—ZEZR_F——F

TZA=+—BILFE AR

Share Statutory Retained
premium reserves earnings  Total equity
RAEE tERE  AIRAE RRERSH
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE  ARETR ARETT ARBTR

169,779 84,611 308,772 989,726
= = 54,633 54,633
= 6,320 (6,325) =

B} - (1499 (499

169,779 90,936 342,051 1,029,330

169,779 90,936 342,051 1,029,330
- - 44,219 44,219
= 8,657 (8,657) =

- = (14,929) (14,029)

At 1 January RZZ-ZF

2010 —A-Hz&4 426,554 10
Profit for the year RER R = -
Appropriations Eitcd 36(c) - -
Dividends to equity PRRET

shareholders YN

of the Company e 15 - -
At 31 December RZZ-5F

2010 TZR=T-H & 426,554 10
At 1 January RZE—F

2011 —A—-Rz&4 426,554 10
Profit for the year RER R = =
Appropriations il 36(c) - -
Dividends to equity PRRETF

shareholders NG|

of the Company e 15 - -
At 31 December RZE—F

2011 TZR=T-H& 426,554 10

169,779 99,593 362,684 1,058,620
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36 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

Share capital

Registered:

2,505,360,000 (2010: 2,505,360,000)
Domestic shares of RMB0.10 each
(2010: RMBO0.10 each)

1,760,176,000 (2010: 1,760,176,000)
H shares of RMB0.10 each
(2010: RMBO0.10 each)

Issued and fully paid:

2,505,360,000 (2010: 2,505,360,000)
Domestic shares of RMB0.10 each
(2010: RMBO0.10 each)

1,760,176,000 (2010: 1,760,176,000)
H shares of RMB0.10 each
(2010: RMBO0.10 each)

36 MR&ER R ()

oEM :

2,505,360,000 % (=T —Z4 :
2,505,360,000 %) &k
ARE010TTHRNER
(ZZ—ZF : BRAR®0.107T)

1,760,176,000 % (ZE— 5%
1,760,176,000 %) &A%

AR¥O0AOTHHR (Z T4

BRAR®0.107T)

ERITREME :

2,505,360,000 % (=T —F4F :
2,505,360,000 %) A%
ARE0A0THIRE R
(Z2-ZF : 8RAR¥K0.10T)

1,760,176,000 % (ZE— 5
1,760,176,000 %) &A%

AR¥O0AOTHIHR (ZE—Z4F

BIRAR®0.107T)

All the shares issued by the Company rank pari passu.

(b)

IR
2011 2010
—2—F —2-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AREFT
250,536 250,536
176,018 176,018
426,554 426,554
250,536 250,536
176,018 176,018
426,554 426,554

RRARETZRERNEESR
R&EEE °

L
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) an
(UAEEZT)

36 MR&ER R ()

36 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

() EERE

(c) Statutory reserves

The Group
A2E

The Company Others Total
YN Hith it

Statutory Statutory Enterprise

surplus surplus Reserve expansion

reserve reserve fund fund

EE EE ¥

RS N § REES RRES

(i (i) (ii (i)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTE ARBTT AR®TRT AR%TR AR%TR
At 1 January 2010 RZE-T4—F—A 84,611 1,761 21,330 21,330 129,032
Appropriations EEbad 6,325 849 - - 7174
At 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZF+-A=1—H 90,936 2,610 21,330 21,330 136,206
At 1 January 2011 R-E——F—F—H 90,936 2,610 21,330 21,330 136,206
Appropriations EJ% 8,657 2,654 3,694 3,694 18,699
At31December 2011 AZE——&+ZA=1—8 99,593 5,264 25,024 25,024 154,905
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Pursuant to the Company’s and a subsidiary’s
Articles of Association, the Company and the
subsidiary are required to transfer 10% of their
profits for the year, as determined in accordance
with the China’s Accounting Standards, to
statutory surplus reserve. The transfer to this
reserve must be made before distributing
dividends to shareholders.

The statutory surplus reserve can be used to
make up for prior years’ losses, if any. It may
be converted into share capital by issuing new
shares to shareholders proportionate to their
existing shareholdings, provided that the balance
after such issue is not less than 25% of the
registered capital.

RELHZEFNRTROBRAF

ERARER—KMBA
RIERMBEE  ARFAIR
ERMBARAEZTEE
TR E B F A E 8
10% IREVEAE AER © 17
BUEE AR AL FARR
DA ERTETT

EEATES A AIERAE A
EFEBER(ME) X
Al FE AR RIZ IR B AT iR
RLBRITHRNERS
B - R EITRMDR
BHRIELONEMBEAZ
25% °



36 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(c)

Statutory reserves (cont’d)

(i

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, the
subsidiaries are required to transfer certain
percentages of their profits for the vyear, as
determined in accordance with the China’s
Accounting Standards to the reserve fund and
respectively. The
percentage of this appropriation was decided by

enterprise expansion fund

the directors of the subsidiaries.

The reserve fund can be used for the
subsidiaries’ working capital purposes and to
make up for previous years’ losses, if any. This
fund can also be used to increase the capital
of the subsidiaries, if approved. This fund is
non-distributable other than upon liquidation.
Transfers to this fund must be made before
distributing dividends to the Company.

The enterprise expansion fund can be used for the
subsidiaries’ business development purposes and
for working capital purposes. This fund can also
be used to increase the capital of the subsidiaries,
if approved. This fund is non-distributable other
than upon liquidation. Transfers to this fund must
be made before distributing dividends to the
Company.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(UAREAT)

36 MR&ER R ()
EERE ()

(c)

(i)

REBERNRBETEEAR
YZHMBARMERZR
- RENBARARR
BERBEETEANGFEN
EEFNBO—E L
RIFERESREEER
HEE o ZHABRLPIRAK
EMBARIZEZTERTE
H o

fEEEE A BIEZFHE
AR EBEEEET B
B SR AEEEE
B(WA) - WAES IR
R Iz EH B R R
BAE (MEHE) - BRI
TBRREFSN - UL IRE S A
RERE DK - AARIA
R IRES TRRBIEHE
PSR ERRES -

CEHRECTUREZE
MEBARRKERLMER
BEAT B - ILRE
& IR AT E 48 0 a% & Y
BRARzERS (MMEH
M) o BRIOIBBEESN - Ut
RBESTAIRERED
& o RRB AR D IKE
T IR AT B SRR 8
FEEBRES -
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

36 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(d)

Distributable reserves

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, the
Company’s retained earnings available for the purpose
of profit distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company will be the lesser of () the retained earnings
determined in accordance with the China’s Accounting
Standards; or (i) the retained earnings determined in
accordance with IFRSs.

Under the Company Law of the PRC and the
Company’s Articles of Association, net profit can be
distributed as dividends after allowance has been made
for:

(i) making up cumulative previous years’ losses, if
any;

(i)  allocations of 10% net profit for the year, as
determined in accordance with the China’s
Accounting Standards, to the Company’s statutory
surplus reserve; and

(i) allocations to the discretionary surplus reserve, if
approved by the shareholders.

At 31 December 2011, the Company’s distributable
reserve amounted to RMB362,684,000, being the
amount determined in accordance with IFRS.

At 31 December 2010, the Company’s distributable
reserve amounted to RMB327,345,000 being the
amount determined in accordance with the China’s
Accounting Standards.
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36 MR&ER R ()

(d)

A Dk fEE

REARFRANER A2
ARNES R ETA
REABRZADENER T
BEE () RRPESHERGFE
ZARD N ¢ (i)iZ IR EER A
B EEREE 2 RO BCHE o

REFEARDERARBIZE
B OFNBEAXN TS ERR
FAERKREDIK :

) BENAIFERAER
(mA) ;

(i) SERPEEEFTEN
JEFEZ 10% IRERA A
ZEEREE R

@iy (WESRKREREASHE - 12
BEEAEBAES -

R=F——F+=B=+-
B AARTHRT AR
BEZHAESBAARE
362,684,000 7T * k& ERTHIRER
R T HR R -

RZE-—ZTF+_A=+—
H' A"QFAAHIETARA
BRRzHEBHBEEAEARE
327,345,0007T - k&8I
B TS R 2R TE o



36 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(e)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can fund its production and
development,
shareholders by pricing products commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a

and continue to provide returns for

reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholder returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors
its capital structure on the basis of a gearing ratio, as
defined by the Group, being the total liabilities divided
by the total assets. At 31 December 2011, the gearing
ratio of the Group was 38% (2010: 48%).

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements at
31 December 2011.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(LA RMFYT)

36 MR&ER R ()

(e)

EXEHE
AEEEEEANTEANE
HEAEENSELERN
e 8 K RE 5035 B IR AKX F
RERETEENER KR
BEASENKAIRIGRE
AR HAEENEE R
& - WHBH#ESRIRRIZHE@E -

AEBREGRTHBEZNER
HEAEE UWERFEES
XFEEFAEE ENE SRR E
3R - B2 E] 5 A& A E L AT R
MEBRLZEZENFE I

BHAZEARSE %Mﬁﬂ%@

BRVEL o

HBITEMBEME B &
ERUAEEMAENEESR
BEhEERAREREEHEAARE
B-ZhXABAEEZEBER
BERUNEESEBE - R ——
F+ZA=+—H ' AEED
BEABHERAIBY(ZT—F
B 48%) °

R-ZB——F+-A=+—8H
AR B EAEIE R B E
HIREAIN SN E RN E
i o
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

37 Related party disclosures

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered
into the following material related party transactions.

(a) Transactions with the associates, the jointly
controlled entities and other related parties

Sales to the jointly SHE TR
controlled entities ) E RS
Purchases from the jointly HiEB H£R
controlled entities I ERE
Sales to the associates SHE TELE AR
Purchases from the associates HKEaH = AR
Construction service acquired ezl NG|
from a related company IR T2
Utilities acquired from a ezl NG
related company FREEE )T

(b) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
and supervisors as disclosed in Note 12 and the senior
management as disclosed in Note 13, is as follows:

Short-term employee benefits B % 72 Bk R EN
Retirement scheme contributions  3RKAE K&l 7k

Total &5t
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37

PR 7T R

BRI B 5 R H A B BB 2 R Z A
BES - ARBAUTERE X
R

(@) EBEAQTF - HEEZEFHEER

HinBAB L 225
2011 2010
2% —FFF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

2,637 7,815
306 220,084
3,645 3,089
43 277

13 407

- 262

(b) EEEEASEHMH
FEEBEABFM(BEZNT
Mz 12BB 2 ARRERTRE
EMRFI3HE,SRERE
ZEFE)NAT

2011 2010
2% —FFF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETIT

2,396 2,410
137 182
2,533 2,592




38 Financial risk management and fair values

At 31 December 2011, the Group’s financial assets included
cash and cash equivalents, short-term investment, restricted
deposits, trade receivables and other receivables. At the
same date, the Group’s financial liabilities included bank
borrowings, trade and bills payable, other payables and
accrued expenses, and dividends payable.

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.
The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(@) Creditrisk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customers’ past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customers as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customers operates. Trade receivables are
due within one to six months from the date of billing.
Debtors with balances past due are requested to settle
all outstanding balances before any further credit is
granted.

38 MERKBREERRAREE

R-FE——F+-A=1t—8 &%
BreREERRRELRSEFEY
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38 Financial risk management and fair values
(cont’d)

(@

(b)

156 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Credit risk (cont’d)
As at 31 December 2011, 88% of the total trade
receivables were due within three months (2010: 90%).

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to individual customers.
As at 31 December 2011, 32% (2010: 42%) and 53%
(2010: 54%) of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest two customers and the five largest
customers respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of trade receivables in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in Note 27.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the raising of borrowings to cover expected cash
demands, subject to approval by the Company’s
board of directors when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy
is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.
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38 Financial risk management and fair values
(cont’d)

(b)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

The following tables detail the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current
at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date
the Group and the Company can be required to pay.

38 MERBREERLAMREGE)

(b)

RBESRERE (H)

TR TAEBENAR AN
CREBEERAEERUABITOR
MRB SR (BREEBAON X
F(MBFBHR) EERNE
TR REF BB AR AL
B R ARE R R BN R &K
FHHRENTERS O BB
o

The Group x5E
2011
—2——f
More than More than Total Balance
Within 1 1 year 2years contractual sheet
year or on but less than but less than undiscounted carrying
demand 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
—¥ —F WE EHESES HER
mEE #18 #18 BHRAE REE
BB AER AFR ik ] ERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TRT AR®TT AR®TT ARBTR
Bank borrowings RITER 543,260 122,993 - 666,253 644,681
Trade and bills payable  JER IR R IER ik 131,346 - - 131,346 131,346
Other payables and HAERR

accrued expenses RIERER 48,224 = = 48,224 48,224
Dividends payable FE AR 1,545 - - 1,545 1,545
Total CEl 724,375 122,993 - 847,368 825,796
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)
Bank borrowings BITER
Trade and bills payable  JEfH IR R JE R 245
Other payables and HAERK
accrued expenses RERER
Dividends payable JERTERA
Total At
The Company
Bank borrowings RITER
Trade and bills payable  JERIRZ R IER ZiE
Other payables and Hh R
accrued expenses RERER
Dividends payable FERTERA
Amounts due to [ERI B AT
subsidiaries
Total At

38 Financial risk management and fair values
(cont’d)

38 MERBREERLAMREGE)

(b) REELRS(F)

2010
—FFF
More than More than Total Balance
Within 1 1 year 2years  contractual sheet
yearoron butlessthan  butless than undiscounted carrying
demand 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
—f —f F BETAIR BER
sk &E &1 HRRE BRER
Y-Sl MER 1FA Viksto HEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
765,356 138,169 - 903,525 877,335
159,355 - - 159,355 159,355
73,863 - - 73,863 73,863
10,267 - - 10,267 10,267
1,008,841 138,169 - 1,147,010 1,120,820
b /NG|
2011
25
More than ~ More than Total Balance
Within 1 1 year 2years contractual sheet
year or on but less than but less than undiscounted carrying
demand 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
—¥ —F WE EHESES BER
mEE #18 #18 LRSS REE
BB AER EFER ot ERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TT AR®TT AR®TT AR®TT AR®TRE
398,289 122,993 - 521,282 502,965
56,454 - - 56,454 56,454
13,883 - - 13,883 13,883
1,545 - - 1,545 1,545
100,334 - - 100,334 100,334
570,505 122,993 - 693,498 675,181
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38 Financial risk management and fair values 38 HMERRERERLAMEGE)
(cont’d)
(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d) (b) REBEEEMR (&)
2010
—Z-ZF
More than More than Total Balance
Within 1 1 year 2years  contractual sheet
yearoron butlessthan  butless than undiscounted carrying
demand 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
—f —& ME REFOFS BESR
Nk &E &R BERSE xR
R MR RER ikt HEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Bank borrowings SRITEN 548,291 138,169 - 686,460 664,335
Trade and bills payable  FERTIR TR &R 25 79,186 = = 79,186 79,186
Other payables and Ht IR
accrued expenses LERER 13,990 - - 13,990 13,990
Dividends payable FE AR 10,267 = = 10,267 10,267
Amounts due to B AT
subsidiaries 275,201 - - 275,201 275,201
Amounts due to jointly &S R
controlled entities EHEE 51,024 - - 51,024 51,024
Total At 977,959 138,169 - 1,116,128 1,094,003
(c) Interest rate risk () F=mEB&

Bank balances, restricted deposits and bank
borrowings are the major types of the Group’s financial
instruments subject to interest rate risk. The Group
does not anticipate significant impact to bank balances
and the restricted deposits because the interest
rates of bank deposits are not expected to change

significantly.

RITHEH - ARHFHRMRIT
B KR A 5 B T R A R L A9
TESRTAER - ANED
RITERNETGHABAE
B WAKEBRAMNERER S
BHRITERA LB R BIFR
BEREATE -
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38 Financial risk management and fair values
(cont’d)

(c)

160 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank
borrowings. Bank borrowings at variable rates and at
fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively. The
interest rate and terms of repayment of the Group’s
and the Company’s borrowings are disclosed in Note
33.

As at 31 December 2011, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 50 basis points in bank
borrowing interest rates for bank borrowings, with all
other variables held constant, would have decreased/
increased the Group’s profit for the year and equity by
approximately RMB605,000 (2010: RMB965,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for
non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that
date. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2010.

interest rates had

RELHZEFNRTROBRAF
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38 Financial risk management and fair values

(cont’d)

(d)

Foreign currency risk

(i)

Forecast transactions

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign
currencies. All foreign exchange transactions
involving RMB must take place through PBOC
or other institutions authorised to buy and sell
foreign exchange. The exchange rate adopted for
the foreign exchange transactions are the rates
of exchange quoted by the PBOC that would be
subject to a managed float against an unspecified
basket of currencies.

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through borrowings and sales which give
rise to bank borrowings, trade receivables
and cash balances that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currency giving rise to
this risk is primarily United State dollars (‘US$”).

The Group did not hedge its foreign currency
exposure other than by retaining its foreign
currency denominated earnings and receipts to
the extent permitted by the State Administration
of Foreign Exchange.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(LA REFIR)
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38 Financial risk management and fair values
(cont’d)

(d) Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

(i) Exposure to foreign currency risk
The following table details the Group’s and the

Company’s exposure at the end of the reporting
period to significant currency risk:

Trade receivables
Other receivables and
prepayments
Cash and
cash equivalents
Bank borrowings
Trade payables
Other payable and
accrued expenses

Overall net exposure
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38 MERBREERLAMREGE)

(d) S ()

(i)

SMNERBR A
TR T AREEMAR
AIREE APASNER

B R A
The Group The Company

*EE .3/
2011 2010 2011 2010
~B2—5 —E-TE —EB——f —E—TF
US$’000 US$'000 US$°000 US$'000
RLFT EnTFr LT EnTr
13,811 29,266 8,002 21,006
- 21 - 20
2,173 14,482 1,806 13,548
(30,625) (42,405) (30,625) (42,405)
- (169) - -
- (223) - -
(14,641) 972 (20,817) (7,831)




38 Financial risk management and fair values

(cont’d)

(@

Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

A 5% strengthening/weakening of RMB against

US$ as at the end of the respective reporting

period would increase/(decrease) profit for the

year and equity by the amount shown below.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in

particular interest rates, remain constant.

Profit for the year
and equity:

5% strengthening
in RMB

5% weakening
in RMB

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(LA RBFYT)
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EREEREER - MR
ARBHETIE i

E5% » Bl 7N 2 )4 A M
BRggm )T
R o KOMAE
REOBERRAAEHMES
(FFRIRFIE) REFTE -

The Group The Company
F5KE b 3/
2011 2010 2011 2010
—B——F "T-TF ZP—F "T-ITF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETFET ARETT AE®FTRT ARETT
RNEFE A
Mg
AREE
FE5% 3,459 (241) 4,919 1,945
AR
BB 5% (3,459) 241 (4,919) (1,945)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change

in the exchange rate had been applied to re-

measure those financial instruments held by

the Group which expose the Group to foreign

currency risk at the end of the reporting period.

The analysis is performed on the same basis for

2010.
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38 Financial risk management and fair values
(cont’d)

(e)

Fair value

(@  Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value

of financial instruments measured at fair value at
the end of the reporting period across the three
levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in IFRS

7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair

value

of each financial instrument categorised in

its entirety based on the lowest level of input that

is significant to that fair value measurement. The

levels are defined as follows:

164 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured
using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical financial instruments

Level 2: fair values measured using quoted
prices in active markets for similar financial
instruments, or using valuation techniques
in which all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly based on observable market data

Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured
using valuation techniques in which any
significant input is not based on observable
market data
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38 Financial risk management and fair values

(cont’d)

(e) Fair value (cont’d)
Financial instruments carried at fair value (cont’d)

@)

2011

Assets

Listed equity securities

Wealth management
products

Total

During the years ended 31 December 2011 and
2010, there were no significant transfers between

HE
S
RS

At

instruments in Level 1 and Level 2.

The carrying amounts of significant financial
assets and liabilities approximate their respective

fair values as at 31 December 2011 and 2010.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents,
deposits, trade and other receivables, trade
and bills payable, other payables (current
portion), accrued expenses and dividends

payable

The carrying amounts approximate their fair
values because of the short maturities of

these items.

restricted

(Expressed in F?enminbilwa#n)‘ _.
R)

(UARBIT)

The Group The Company

X5EE b /N
Level 1 Level 1
E1R E1R
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFIT
24,883 -
103,605 97,200
128,488 97,200
RE ZE2010%F K 20114

12A31HILEFR @ WET
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38 Financial risk management and fair values
(cont’d)

(e) Fair value (cont’d)
(b)  (cont’d)
(i) Short term investments
Fair value is based on quoted market prices
at the end of the reporting period without
any deduction for transaction costs.

(i) Bank borrowings
The carrying amounts of bank borrowings
approximate their fair values based on
the borrowing rates currently available for
pbank borrowings with similar terms and
maturities.

39 Commitments

As at 31 December 2011, the Group and the Company
had capital commitments in respect of property, plant and
equipment not provided for in the financial statements as

38 MERBREERLAMREGE)

(e) 2AREME(E)
) (&)

(i)  FEIRE
ARBEDIBELE
BAMMISHRE (K
BT B A )
ETE -

(i)  ERITE
UIRITHE B RIE
HREHA ZRT
B AR BAKIE
RITERZEES
HMAHEAREE-

39 i

NZEBE——F+-A=+—8 K&
ENARRSBEDE  BEER
M 2R 7 B 7% =R 3% B 4 A0 & AN A R a0

follows: N
The Group The Company
&M b 3/
2011 2010 2011 2010
—B—KF _T-TF IB—F _T-IZTF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTrT ARBTRE ARBTT
Contracted for BELY 5,821 20,620 849 1,053
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40 Contingent liabilities

(a)

(b)

As at 31 December 2011, the Company has issued
guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities
granted to certain subsidiaries and a jointly controlled
entity. The directors do not consider it probable that a
claim will be made against the Company under any of
the guarantees. The maximum liability of the Company
at the end of reporting period under the guarantees
issued is the facilities drawn down by the subsidiaries
and the jointly controlled entity of RMB158,000,000.

As at 31 December 2010, the Company has issued
guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities
granted to certain subsidiaries and a jointly controlled
entity. The directors do not consider it probable that a
claim will be made against the Company under any of
the guarantees. The maximum liability of the Company
as at 31 December 2010 under the guarantees issued
is the facilities drawn down by the subsidiaries and the
jointly controlled entity of RMB146,000,000.

In December 2011, the Company received a notice
of arbitration issued by the International Court of
Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce.
According to the notice of arbitration, AGRANA Juice
Holding GmbH (“AGRANA”) submitted an arbitration
application to request a damage of USD9,785,656
(equivalent to RMB64,551,000) from the Company in
respect of a dispute arising from an agreement relating
to the purchase of the apple juice concentrate. The
Company considers that it has reasonable defense
to the arbitration, and the directors do not believe it
probable that the court of arbitration will find against
the Company. No provision has therefore been made in
respect of this arbitration.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
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41

168 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Accounting estimates and judgements

The Group’s financial condition and results of operations
are sensitive to accounting methods, assumptions and
estimates that underlie the preparation of the financial
statements. Management bases the assumptions and
estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that it believes to be reasonable and which form
the basis for making judgements about matters that are not
readily apparent from other sources. On an ongoing basis,
management evaluates its estimates. Actual results may differ
from those estimates as facts, circumstances and conditions
change.

The selection of critical accounting policies, the judgements
and other uncertainties affecting application of those
policies and the sensitivity of reported results to changes in
conditions and assumptions are factors to be considered
when reviewing the financial statements. Management
believes the following critical accounting policies involve
the most significant judgements and estimates used in the

preparation of the financial statements.

(@) Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, after taking into account the estimated residual
value. Management reviews the estimated useful lives
of the assets regularly in order to determine the amount
of depreciation expense to be recorded during any
reporting period. The useful lives are based on the
Group’s historical experience with similar assets and
take into account anticipated technological changes.
The depreciation expense for future periods is adjusted
if there are significant changes from previous estimates.

RE B ZEFNRTROBRAF

41

Wit R 2

AEBENMBIRAMEERERHE
FEERA B REEBNEF A
REREFTATE - ZEFHRR M
RNEEERREENBERLRNE
T REZERER - MiEL &R
A= BERENEMIRIREENE
HH B EE - ERESREY
B LA RHE - R ERBR -
RIBMAR RS - B EREE T8
BRI E L AR o

HHEMHHREE  BEENEERER
RS BRNER REELERR
& R B9 T N B A TN HETE RIH 3R
FHEEMBRRESOG R - KE
R NI RR SR BORS RA B HwE
ARELR M A BB A AL o

(@ #E

ME - BEERBHOEEEE
BERER - RNEFAEAF
RARERATRITE - 812
EERNEMEENHRTAIER
FR - WREBTAZ ]S
BT EEREE - BAAE
REREAKEREHFEE
ERAELRIT EaRBHNRK
M E) 2 S HERE © 20 2R DA AT RO i
AREAEBAEME AEERK
MRS EERETRHE -



Notes to the Financial Statements

41

Accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)

(b)

()

(d)

Impairment for bad and doubtful debts

The Group estimated impairment losses for bad
and doubtful debts resulting from the inability of the
customers to make the required payments. The Group
bases the estimates on the ageing of the accounts
receivable balance, customer credit-worthiness, and
historical write-off experience. If the financial condition
of the customers were to deteriorate, actual write-offs
would be higher than estimated.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
transactions during the ordinary course of business,
for which calculation of the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the year in which such determination is made.

Recognition of deferred tax assets, which principally
related to tax losses, depends on the management’s
expectation of future taxable profit that will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised. The
outcome of their actual utilisation may be different.

Write-down of inventories

If the costs of inventories fall below their net realisable
values, a write-down loss of inventories is recognised.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sales. The Group based
the estimates on all available information, including
the current market prices of the finished goods and
raw materials, and historical operating costs. If the
actual selling prices were to be lower or the costs of
completion and other distribution costs were to be
higher than estimated, the actual write-down loss of
inventories could be higher than estimated.

4

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
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Notes to the Financial

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEEZT)

Accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)

(e)

(f)
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Impairment for non-current assets

If circumstances indicate that the net book value of a
non-current asset may not be recoverable, the asset
may be considered “impaired”, and an impairment
loss may be recognised in accordance with IAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”. The carrying amounts of non-
current assets are reviewed periodically in order to
assess whether the recoverable amounts have declined
below the carrying amounts. These assets are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their recorded carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. When such a decline has occurred, the
carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the greater of the net selling price
and the value in use. It is difficult to precisely estimate
seling price because quoted market prices for the
Group’s assets are not readily available. In determining
the value in use, expected cash flows generated by the
asset are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of sales volume,
selling price and amount of operating costs. The Group
uses all readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of sale volume,
selling price and amount of operating costs.

Provision and contingent liabilities

The Group considers each claim individually to assess the
probability of any outflow of resources. If in the opinion
of the directors, an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the litigation
or arbitration, a provision will be made to the extent of the
probable outflow. In other cases, unless the possibility of
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is
remote, a contingent liability will be disclosed.
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42 Possible impacts of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issue but not
yet effective for the annual accounting period
ended 31 December 2011

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
IASB has issued the following amendments and five new
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2011 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These include the following which may
be relevant to the Group.

Amendment to IFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures — Transfers of financial assets

BIFR B s S 2ERZE 7 SRR IEE (e T A ¢
JH— e MEENER)

Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes — Deferred tax:
Recovery of underlying assets

B e s ERIE 12 RERICPRISH — IBRIERT
"W - ENEENIRE)

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements
— Presentation of items of other comprehensive income

BIFR & SR 1 SRAVE K I R K A0 513k
— Hih#r e W5y

IFRS 9, Financial instruments

BRI R R S ERIE O 2 M I A)

IFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements

REF SRS R 10 (A BT RER)

IFRS 11, Joint arrangements

PR B s 5 22 RISE 11 SR a S HE)

IFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities

BB B 75 5 AR B 28 12 SR L B B i e 4R BR )

IFRS 13, Fair value measurement

RS REEAFB 1SR AR EBENE)

IAS 27, Separate financial statements (2011)

RS RERISE 27 7K 9 BREA SR (2011))

IAS 28, Investments in associates and joint ventures

BIRR & 5T R 28 SR(H S P E M S E R EIRE)

Revised IAS 19, Employee benefits

BIFR & a RIS 1957 (E B R A (BETR))
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Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after
B TRz #

B A B R RAR &£

1 July 2011

20117 A1H

1 January 2012

20121 A1 H

1 July 2012

20127 A1 H
1 January 2013
20181 A 1H
1 January 2013
201831 A1 H
1 January 2013
20131 H1H
1 January 2013
201831 A 1H
1 January 2013
201831 A1 H
1 January 2013
20131 A1 H
1 January 2013
20181 A 1H
1 January 2013
20131 A1 H
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

42 Possible impacts of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issue but not
yet effective for the annual accounting period
ended 31 December 2011 (cont’d)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards in
the period of initial application and has so far concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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